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Forward-Looking Statements

        This report includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act") and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "1934 Act"). All statements other than statements of historical fact are "forward-looking statements" for purposes of this
annual report, including any projections of earnings, revenues or other financial items, any statements of the plans and objectives of management for future operations, any
statements concerning proposed new products or services, any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance and any statement of assumptions underlying
any of the foregoing. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as "may," "will," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "estimates,"
"potential," or "continue," or the negative thereof or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements
contained herein are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations or any of the forward-looking statements will prove to be correct and actual results could differ
materially from those projected or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Our future financial condition and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking
statements, are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the risk factors set forth below and for the reasons described elsewhere in this annual
report. All forward-looking statements and reasons why results may differ included in this report are made as of the date hereof and we do not intend to update any forward-
looking statements except as required by law or applicable regulations.

PART I 

Item 1. Business 

Overview

        On January 15, 2003 we changed our name from Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc. to Nektar Therapeutics ("Nektar"). We believe our new name better reflects our
broadened capabilities and approach to drug delivery. Our new corporate identity represents the integration of our three proprietary technology platforms developed through our
internal research and development efforts as well as our acquisitions of Shearwater Corporation and Bradford Particle Design, Ltd. We are using this new corporate identity to
act as a better symbol for our collective capabilities to enable improved drug products.

        Although we have developed three distinct technology platforms, our business is uniformly focused on producing differentiated therapeutics that may provide better and
more convenient therapies for patients. Each of our technology platforms has the ability to create transformed therapeutics with differentiating properties based on the
technology and the particular application of the technology.

        We are working to become one of the world's leading drug delivery products based companies by providing a portfolio of technologies and expertise that will enable us and
our pharmaceutical and biotechnology partners to improve drug performance throughout the drug development process. Historically, drug delivery has been focused on life
cycle management of older products facing patent expiration, or on seeking product line extensions. The advent of newer technologies, including high-throughput screening,
combinatorial chemistry, genomics and proteomics, has led to an increase in the number of molecular leads for new drugs. This has led pharmaceutical companies to focus
earlier in development on molecular characteristics such as toxicity, solubility and immunogenicity to improve clinical safety and efficacy of drugs. We believe it is now
recognized that drug delivery spans the entire development process, with an emphasis on applying technologies that can optimize drug candidates, and places a premium on
faster and more efficient drug development.

        Our mission is to provide drug delivery technologies that enable superior therapeutics that make a difference in patients' lives. Primarily, we want to partner with
pharmaceutical and biotechnology
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companies seeking to improve and differentiate the products in their pipelines. In addition to our partner-funded programs, we have started applying our technology
independently through internal early-stage proprietary product development efforts.

        We have three areas of technological focus:

• Nektar Molecule Engineering—using advanced PEGylation and PEG-based delivery systems to enable drug performance, 

• Nektar Particle Engineering—using our expertise in pulmonary particle technology and supercritical fluids technology to design and manufacture optimal drug
particles, and 

• Nektar Delivery Solutions—using advanced systems for pulmonary administration to improve therapeutic outcomes.

        Our technologies are designed to improve either the performance of a drug molecule (e.g., bioavailability, safety, efficacy, stability, targeting, etc.) or how the drug is
delivered (e.g., enabling new dosage form or delivery profile that improves how the therapeutic can treat patients).



        Our late stage technology, Nektar Molecule Engineering, has been approved for use in five products in the U.S. and another product only approved in Europe. Nektar
Molecule Engineering is intended to enhance the efficacy and performance of most major drug classes, including macromolecules such as peptides and proteins, smaller sized
molecular compounds and other drugs.

        Nektar Particle Engineering uses proprietary particle engineering methods designed to develop drug formulations to: obtain precision and consistency in particle
formulation; improve dissolution for poorly soluble compounds; and increase bioavailability through high-surface area particles. We believe these technologies have the
potential to create better performing drugs, achieve shorter product development times and reduce the risk of product instability or inconsistency.

        Nektar Delivery Solutions are focused on the formulation of molecules for multiple delivery platforms. Through this technology we are working to improve or enable drug
delivery, enhance drug performance and improve therapeutic outcomes for large and small molecules utilizing pulmonary delivery systems.

        Our strategy is to enable our partners' drugs through partner funded programs and to selectively fund internal early-stage proprietary products with a view to partner after
early stage clinical development. Our goal is to leverage our technology investments over a large pipeline that allows us to realize value by advancing our partners' and our
proprietary products. As we identify the platforms and markets in which we see opportunities to establish leadership positions, we intend to continue to develop or acquire
broadly applicable technologies to capitalize on such opportunities.

Opportunities for Improved Drug Delivery and Performance

        We currently have collaborations ongoing with more than 25 biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, of which 22 have been announced. Our product pipeline
includes 5 products approved in the United States, 4 products in Phase III trials and 10 products in Phase I and Phase II trials.

        The effectiveness of a drug is often dependent on various factors including the amount of time it takes for an active molecule to be cleared through the bloodstream (i.e. its
rate of circulation), the rate at which the protein or other molecule degrades and the ability of the body to produce an immune response.

        Unmodified proteins may be less effective if they are quickly cleared from the bloodstream or degraded by other enzymes in the body. In addition, the human body has a
natural immune response to proteins that cause them to lose potency over time. Any one of these variables can cause a particular protein to be less effective or necessitate
frequent dosing, thereby increasing the cost of the therapy and decreasing patient compliance. We believe there is a significant market opportunity to apply technology to
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the modification of therapeutic proteins to address these variables and improve the overall therapeutic effect of these drugs. Likewise, other molecular compounds such as small
molecules may be limited by poor solubility and rapid clearance from the body that could be improved by drug delivery.

        We believe that the application of Nektar Molecule Engineering to link polyethylene glycol ("PEG") chains of higher molecular weight to active drug compounds
represents a significant commercial opportunity. Such a system could enhance the efficacy of current therapeutic proteins and other molecular compounds while increasing
patient acceptance of drug therapies and compliance with prescribed regimens through reduced dosing. Additionally, advanced PEGylation technology may result in the
development of new therapeutic protein compounds that in unmodified forms are ineffective due to high toxicity, low solubility or significant immunogenicity.

        We also believe there is an opportunity for improving the efficacy and patient acceptance of protein therapeutics and macromolecule drugs by improving the method by
which many of these drugs are introduced into the body. Drugs typically enter the body through one of five routes of delivery. The four natural routes are through the digestive
tract (oral), the skin (transdermal), the mucosal surfaces (for example, nasal and sublingual), and the lung (inhalation). Drugs are also commonly delivered by injection
(subcutaneous, intramuscular or intravenous), bypassing the natural barrier to entry provided by the skin.

        The principal route of administration of macromolecule drugs, particularly proteins, has been injections. Drug injections administered in hospitals or doctors' offices can be
expensive and inconvenient to patients. Many patients find self-injectable therapies unpleasant. As a result, injected drugs for many chronic and subchronic diseases meet with
varying degrees of patient acceptance and compliance with the prescribed regimens, which can lead to increased incidence of medical complications and potentially higher
disease management costs. In addition, some elderly, infirm or pediatric patients cannot administer their own injections and require assistance, thereby increasing both the
inconvenience to these patients and the cost of therapy.

        We believe that the application of Nektar Delivery Solutions to develop an efficient and reproducible deep lung delivery system for systemic macromolecule drugs used in
the treatment of chronic and subchronic diseases represents a significant commercial opportunity. Such a system could improve patient acceptance of systemic macromolecule
drug therapy and compliance with prescribed regimens, thereby improving therapeutic outcomes and reducing the costs of administration and treatment of disease. Additionally,
pulmonary delivery may enable new therapeutic uses of certain macromolecule drugs.

        In addition to developing a deep lung delivery system for macromolecules, we are investigating opportunities for the delivery of small molecules in the lung where there is
a clear, demonstrable need for an alternative drug delivery system, and where our existing technology can be applied without significant modification. Examples include
molecules that require rapid systemic absorption for efficacy (such as analgesics and antiemetics), molecules that undergo massive first pass metabolism when delivered orally
or molecules used for local lung delivery for diseases such as asthma that are currently delivered by sub-optimal aerosol systems.

        We also believe a nascent commercial opportunity exists for the application of technology to the engineering and formulation of drug particles to address particular
development and manufacturing challenges. We believe the use of Nektar Particle Engineering, through our supercritical fluids technology, to produce drug particles of uniform
size, regular shape and smooth crystalline surfaces can improve drug efficacy as these properties can be critical in controlling absorption and dissolution of the active drug
compound into and within the bloodstream. Additionally, we believe a nascent opportunity exists to apply our supercritical fluids technology to the improved development of
therapeutic drugs as it permits the production of multiple crystal forms of drugs in a reproducible manner and may simplify the reproducible co-formulation of drugs with
polymers to improve the solubility of drug compounds. Lastly, we believe that the use of our supercritical fluids technology may benefit the manufacturing process by
potentially providing greater control over particle size.
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Our Strategy

        Our goal is to become the pre-eminent provider of drug delivery solutions. Our strategy is to enable our partners to improve drug performance throughout the drug
development process. In addition to our partner-funded programs, we have started applying our technology independently through internal early-stage proprietary product
development efforts. We believe this leverages our technology investments over a larger pipeline and allows us to realize value by advancing both our partners' and our own
proprietary products.

        Our strategy incorporates the following principal elements:



• Develop Broadly Applicable Drug Delivery Systems. We are developing our Nektar Molecule Engineering, Particle Engineering and Delivery Solutions systems.
Particularly, we are working with our proprietary advanced PEGylation and supercritical fluids technology to improve the formulation of drug compounds so as
to make them more effective through multiple delivery applications. We intend to focus our drug formulation technologies on drug compounds where we can
substantially improve the performance of the active drug compound or improve the drug development or manufacturing process and to seek out additional
formulation technology platforms that are consistent with this focus. We are developing our Nektar Delivery Solutions, particularly for the administration of
therapeutics through our pulmonary delivery systems, to be applicable to a wide range of peptides, proteins and other molecules currently delivered by injection
or poorly delivered by inhalation or other routes. We believe that through this platform we can: (1) expand market penetration for existing therapeutics currently
delivered by injection, infusion or other routes; (2) commercialize new indications by using deep lung delivery as a new route of administration; and (3) extend
existing patents or seek new patents to gain important competitive advantages for ourselves and our partners. In addition, we are expanding the use of our
pulmonary delivery systems to apply to small molecules and for local lung disease applications. 

• Partner with Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Companies. Our strategy is to market our proposed products through collaborative partners. We currently have
collaborations with several large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. In a typical collaboration, our partner will provide the active pharmaceutical
ingredient, fund clinical and formulation development, obtain regulatory approvals and market the resulting commercial product. We may manufacture and
supply the drug delivery approach or drug formulation, and may receive revenues from drug manufacturing, as well as royalties from sales of most commercial
products. In addition, for products using our pulmonary delivery systems, we may receive revenues from the supply of our device for the product along with
revenues for any applicable drug processing or filling. Prior to commercialization, we receive revenues from our partners for partial or full funding of research
and development activities and progress payments upon achievement of certain developmental milestones. More than 70% of our clinical pipeline involves
molecules that are already approved by the FDA in another delivery form. In addition to the 19 therapeutic drugs and one compound used as a diagnostic agent
incorporating our technologies that are in, or have completed, human trials, we have more than 70 drug projects using our technologies that are in various stages
of research, feasibility, and preclinical work, many of these in conjunction with partners. We believe this partnering strategy enables us to develop a large and
diversified potential product portfolio. 

• Build Competitive Advantage Through Expertise in Multiple Disciplines. In developing our Nektar Molecule Engineering, Nektar Particle Engineering, and
Nektar Delivery Solutions, we have used and expanded our expertise in molecule engineering, chemistry, pulmonary physiology, aerosol science, powder
science, aerosol engineering, chemical engineering, mechanical engineering and product design, protein formulation, fine powder processing and filling. We
believe this expertise creates multiple barriers to entry and multiple opportunities in certain disciplines, such as drug formulation or powder science, and enables
us to develop additional drug delivery applications.

6

• Utilize Our Technology to Develop Proprietary Products with an Eye Toward Partnering. In addition to our partner-funded programs, we have started applying
our technology independently through our internal early-stage proprietary product development efforts. We believe that there may be several off-patent or near-
term patent expiration compounds that would benefit from the application of our technology to improve their performance and delivery. For these programs, we
may perform initial feasibility screening work, formulations development and early stage clinical trials before entering into a partner relationship for further
development and commercialization. It is our belief that we will be able to gain a greater share of product sales as a result of undertaking greater product
development efforts.

Nektar Technology Platforms

        Our suite of drug delivery technologies encompasses Nektar Molecule Engineering, Nektar Particle Engineering and Nektar Delivery Solutions, for both small molecules
and macromolecules, with applications to create pulmonary, injection and oral therapeutics.

NEKTAR MOLECULE ENGINEERING

        Nektar Molecule Engineering uses advanced PEGylation and PEG-based delivery systems to enable improved drug performance.

        Advanced PEGylation is designed to enhance the efficacy and performance of most drug classes including macromolecules such as peptides and proteins along with small
molecules and other drugs. PEGylation is a method for improving drug formulations through the modification of proteins and other molecular compounds accomplished through
the attachment of PEG to the active therapeutic molecule. The chemical attachment of PEG chains to a broad range of drug substances results in effectively increasing the drug's
molecular weight. The advantages of PEGylation include the potential to improve drug solubility and stability, reduce immune responses, and in certain instances improve the
efficacy and/or safety of a molecule.

        PEG is a neutral, water soluble, non-toxic polymer that is one of the few synthetic polymers approved for internal use by the FDA in a variety of foods, cosmetics, personal
care products and pharmaceuticals. When dissolved in water, the long chain-like PEG molecule is heavily "hydrated" (meaning water molecules are bound to it) and is put in a
state of rapid motion. This rapid motion leads to the PEG molecule preventing the approach of other molecules. Although PEG is largely invisible to biological systems, due to
its unique properties it can improve stability and solubility of the drug compound, reduce the natural immune response to proteins and degradation by other enzymes, and
increase concentration and circulation of the active drug compound throughout the system. As a result, the effectiveness of the active drug compound may be increased and the
dosing frequency of the drug may be decreased.

        First generation PEG chemistry has been generally restricted to the use of PEG chains with low molecular weight because of the poor solubility characteristics traditionally
observed with PEG chains of higher molecular weight. The attachment of low molecular weight PEG chains to proteins has been limited by the inherently unstable linkages of
PEG chains to the molecular compound. Attachment of low molecular weight PEG chains can cause the modified compound to quickly degrade in a manner which may trigger
an immune response to the active drug compound or otherwise hinder its effectiveness. The effectiveness of such PEG derivatives has also been limited by the ability of the
relatively small PEG to penetrate poorly accessible regions on the surface of a protein resulting in degradation of the active drug compound or undesired side effects.

7

Characteristics of our Advanced PEGylation Technology

        Our advanced PEGylation technologies are designed to overcome the shortcomings of first generation technology of pharmaceutical products. The attachment of our
activated PEG derivatives is designed to yield one or more of the following benefits:

• Improved solubility and stability of the active drug compound; 

• Reduced immunogenicity and degradation of the drug compound; 

•



Slower clearance from the body; and 

• Improved efficacy and/or safety.

        As a result of these benefits, less frequent dosing may be possible due to increased circulation time, more of the administered dose may be available to reach its intended
target, and the efficacy of a particular dose may be improved due to increased concentration of the drug and longer dwell time at the site of action by the active drug compound.

        Our advanced PEGylation technology is also designed to optimize the efficacy of the attached drug compounds and is characterized by the following features:

• Activated high-molecular weight PEGs that can be linked stably and site specifically to drugs, allowing prolonged performance of the drug in its PEGylated
form; 

• Stable linkage chemistry of the PEG to the drug compound to avoid problems associated with rapid degradation or clearance of the active drug compound; 

• The availability of site-specific PEGylation in which the PEG is linked with the drug compound at a specific site on the compound to produce desired effects; 

• Controlled release of the drug from the PEG-drug conjugated compound; and 

• The availability of bi-functional PEG to facilitate targeting of the active drug compound.

Advanced PEGylation Applications

        We believe our advanced PEGylation technology can be of critical importance in facilitating a substantial number of emerging biopharmaceutical technologies, including
the following:

• PEG-Proteins for Pharmaceutical Use. Our principal market strategy for our advanced PEGylation technology is to demonstrate and assist in developing drug
compounds, particularly proteins that substantially enhance the therapeutic value of the active drug over unmodified forms. It has been demonstrated that the
proteins with PEG attached remain active and have a greatly diminished or negligible immune response. As a result these PEG-proteins have substantially
increased plasma lifetimes. In addition, active drugs attached to PEG result in making proteins or other compounds much larger and thus reduces their rate of
clearance through the kidney, thereby allowing the active drug to remain active in the system for longer periods of time. 

• PEG-Surfaces. In addition to molecular modifications, PEG can also be attached to surfaces to form protective, biocompatible coatings. A variety of applications
may result, including PEG-coatings for arterial replacements, diagnostic apparatus and blood contacting devices. Similarly, capillary zone electrophoresis has
emerged as an analytical technique in biochemistry, and PEG coatings on capillaries have been demonstrated to prevent absorption and provide critical control of
electro-osmosis. 

• PEG-Liposomes. Recent research has shown that incorporation of PEG into the outer coating of liposomes, which are particular membranes the
biopharmaceutical industry is investigating as a
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means to provide controlled and specific delivery of drugs, can greatly increase serum lifetime, thereby potentially facilitating the use of liposomes for these
purposes.

• Molecule-Molecule and Molecule-Surface Coupling. The nature of PEGs and their well-defined chemistry make them attractive for coupling or tethering
molecules to molecules or molecules to surfaces. We believe this attribute could be critical to the next generation of drugs and biomaterials as developers seek to
take advantage of unique properties resulting from binding particular molecules to other molecules or surfaces. 

• Biological Purification. As biotechnology has continued to succeed in producing a variety of physiologically active proteins, we believe a need has been created
for improved methods for isolation of the proteins produced. We believe that PEG may provide a useful approach in this area by using its binding qualities to
extract the desired protein in a method of purification that partitions in an aqueous two-phase system. 

• Solubilization of Insoluble Materials. PEG is soluble in both water and many organic solvents and through PEG attachment water-insoluble materials may
become water-soluble. This characteristic of PEGs may be critical to the effectiveness of pharmaceuticals as well as to include in various other products such as
dyes, flavors, substrates for enzymes and cofactors.

        As with our Particle Engineering and Delivery Solutions, we typically develop new products using our advanced PEGylation technology through collaborations with
corporate partners. We also maintain a catalog of PEG reagents which can be purchased by our customers for coupling to drug compounds. More typically, however, our
research personnel will work closely with our partners to choose the proper PEG derivative for a particular application and to optimize the PEG attachment. In a typical
collaboration, we derive revenue from milestone payments during research and development and receive royalties on sales of approved products or other PEG applications. We
may also receive additional revenue from manufacturing the PEG reagent.

        We have also initiated internal development of a few proprietary drugs utilizing our advanced PEGylation technology with the expectation that we will fund this activity
through the early stages of clinical trials before establishing a partnership to market the final product. We believe that, in certain circumstances, this process may result in higher
royalty payments for marketed products than collaborations initiated at earlier stages of development.

        Although a limited number of products using our Nektar Molecule Engineering are approved for use, there can be no assurance that Nektar Molecule Engineering will
develop into a successful or commercially viable technology.

NEKTAR PARTICLE ENGINEERING

        Particles are the fundamental building blocks of most solid dosage forms. Lack of control at the particle level has been shown to lead to product inconsistency and
instability, introducing risks associated with poor product performance.

        Nektar Particle Engineering includes both our expertise in pulmonary particle engineering and our supercritical fluids technology, each of which is designed to assist in the
optimization of drug particles. By adjusting bulk powder properties, such as particle size and distribution, morphology, surface roughness and surface energy we believe we can
potentially control the dosage form at the fundamental particle level.

        Nektar Particle Engineering strives to:

•



Obtain better formulation stability, including room temperature stability for macromolecules. 

• Obtain precision and consistency in particle formation. 

• Improve dissolution for poorly soluble compounds.
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• Increase bioavailability through high-surface area particles.

Components of the Nektar Particle Engineering for Pulmonary Delivery

        For pulmonary delivery, we believe Nektar Particle Engineering can potentially enable the efficient and reproducible deep lung delivery of particles and greater lung
deposition in a single breath. Specifically, our development of spray-dried formulations of fine, aerodynamic drug particles potentially enables efficient dispersibility and
reproducible delivery of both large and small molecules to the deep lung for systemic and local lung indications.

        Nektar Particle Engineering for pulmonary delivery integrates several technologies including customized formulation of drug compounds, dry powder processing, filling
and packaging along with proprietary inhalation devices to enable efficient and consistent delivery of both macromolecule and small molecule drugs for systemic and local lung
diseases. For specific drug products, we normally formulate and process bulk active pharmaceutical ingredients supplied by collaborative partners into dry powders, which are
packaged into individual dosing units.

        Dry Powder Formulations for Pulmonary Delivery.    Each macromolecule drug poses different formulation challenges due to differing chemical and physical
characteristics and dosing requirements. This requires significant optimization work for each specific drug. We have assembled a team with expertise in protein formulation, life
science, powder science and aerosol science, and we are applying this expertise to develop proprietary techniques and methods that we believe will produce stable, fillable,
shippable and dispersible dry powder drug formulations. We have developed several protein powders, which remain stable at room temperature in excess of one year. Through
our work with numerous macromolecules, we are developing an extensive body of knowledge on aerosol dry powder formulations, including knowledge relating to the
physiochemical properties of particles that make up powders and the resulting characteristics such as flowability, dispersability and solubility within the lung, as well as the
related properties and influences of various excipients. We have filed and expect to continue to file patent applications on several of our formulations and, through strategic
acquisitions, have acquired rights to certain U.S. and foreign patents and patent applications relating to stabilization of macromolecule drugs in dry powder formulations.

        Powder Processing.    We are modifying standard powder processing equipment and developing custom techniques to enable us to produce fine dry powders with particle
aerosol diameters of between one and five microns without significant drug degradation or significant loss. We have scaled up powder processing to levels sufficient for
producing candidate powders for late stage clinical trials. It is expected that production at these levels will be more than sufficient to satisfy the needs of small volume
commercial products. We are also in the process of further scaling up our powder processing systems in order to produce quantities sufficient for commercial production of
products we believe we will need to supply in high volumes, such as insulin.

        Powder Filling And Packaging.    Powders made up of fine particles intended for inhalation typically require handling that is technically more challenging than for powders
comprised of larger particles. Common practice in the pharmaceutical industry is to increase the powder's effective particle size by various agglomerative techniques such as
pelletization, spheronization, or blending with an excipient of significantly larger particle size, in order to yield materials that handle more favorably in existing processing
equipment such as tablet presses and capsule fillers. Thus, currently available commercial filling and packaging systems are generally designed for filling powders of larger
particle size and mass, and are most commonly applied to oral dosage forms. Although applications of these capsule-filling approaches to aerosol products do exist, they
typically can only deliver accurate and precise fills for much higher dose masses than required for deep lung delivery. Further still, by their method of operation they may
overcompress or even damage the morphology of fine, low density powders, and may make them much more difficult to disperse than when in their uncompressed state. We
have developed and internally
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qualified a proprietary automated blister filling system suitable for use in production of clinical trial supplies and, for certain products, commercial quantities. The system has
been tested across a wide variety of powders encountered to date and its performance yields accurate and precise fills across a wide range of dose masses, down to the order of a
single milligram. The underlying technology is intended to allow its application to a broad variety of powder types, characteristics, and a wide range of target fill masses.

        To date there are no products using Nektar Particle Engineering for pulmonary delivery that have been approved for use and there can be no assurance that Nektar Particle
Engineering for pulmonary delivery will be a successful or commercially viable technology or will work for any or all of its intended uses. Specifically, there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in further scaling up our powder processing, powder filling and packaging operations on a timely basis or at a reasonable cost, or that our
powder processing, powder filling or packaging systems will be applicable for every drug.

Nektar Particle Engineering: Supercritical Fluids Technology

        A majority of pharmaceutical products contain powder particles, either in the final form or at some point during the manufacturing process. It is generally believed that
specific particle characteristics are fundamental to the effectiveness of drug delivery but precision and consistency in particle formation are difficult to achieve using
conventional multi-stage methods of production.

        Our supercritical fluids technology uses substances such as carbon dioxide at elevated temperatures and pressures as alternative solvents and non-solvents to control the
formation of powder particles for a wide variety of chemical substances. This technique is designed to reduce to a single step the current multi-stage powder manufacturing
process for drug powders, while at the same time possibly improving product purity and consistency. It offers an alternative to typical crystallization processes for many small
molecules with the potential benefits of better control over particle size, form, structure and surface characteristics resulting in the potential for improved drug absorption, easier
and more efficient formulation of drug compounds and lower manufacturing costs. We believe this technology may also be useful in connection with technologies designed for
taste masking and controlled release of drug compounds.

        In the supercritical fluids technology process, the supercritical fluid disperses and mixes a stream of drug solution while simultaneously extracting the organic solvent and
rapidly forming dry particles. This is achieved by metering the solution and the supercritical fluid into a particle formation vessel held under controlled conditions of
temperature and pressure above the critical point of the supercritical fluid-solvent mixture. Dry, solvent free particles are then recovered from the particle formation vessel.

        As a single-stage manufacturing process, we believe our supercritical fluids technology may provide greater control over batch to batch consistency, particle size, particle
shape, powder flow, dissolution rate and residual solvent levels than traditional manufacturing methods.

        We believe our supercritical fluids technology can serve as a platform technology for a diverse range of therapeutic areas, including the following:

•



Polymorph Separation. The process is designed to offer the ability to prepare separate polymorphic forms of drugs in a manner that is easily reproducible. 

• Water Solubility. The process is designed to help provide enhanced dissolution of sparingly water-soluble drugs, by producing sub-micron sized particles and/or
particles with high surface areas and/or through co-formulation with water-soluble polymers. 

• Controlled Release. The process is designed to support the application of a wide range of polymers and other materials to modify drug dissolution and release
profiles. 

• Improved Powders for Inhaleable Drugs. We believe that particles designed with appropriate size and low cohesion may deliver more drug to the deep lung from
a range of dry powder inhalation
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devices. By allowing greater control over the formation of particles during manufacture, we believe we can assist in the development of dry powders with these
preferred characteristics.

• Taste Masking. We believe that the supercritical fluids technology process can be used to mask the taste of many oral drugs, particularly small organic molecules.

• Biologicals. The typical method for particle formation of peptides, proteins, nucleic acids and other biologicals involves freeze-drying and spray-drying, which
may lead to significant batch variation and problems in downstream processing and manufacture. We believe that that supercritical fluids technology may offer a
potential alternative to this method of particle formation for biologicals.

        We typically develop new products using Nektar Particle Engineering through collaborations with corporate partners. As with our other technologies, our collaborative
research personnel will work closely with our partners in designing the preferred characteristics of the particle to be formulated and in applying the technology to achieve these
characteristics consistently.

        To date there are no products using supercritical fluids technology that have been approved for use and all of our collaborations utilizing this technology are in very early
stages of development. There can be no assurance that our supercritical fluids technology will be a successful or commercially viable technology.

NEKTAR DELIVERY SOLUTIONS

        We believe using drug delivery technology to enable new routes of administration has the potential to broaden the use of drugs, including extending their use to new
populations or indications where the original administration route would not be cost-effective or acceptable to patients.

Pulmonary Delivery System

        Historically, we have focused on the non-injectable delivery of peptides and proteins to the body through the lungs. We approach pulmonary drug delivery with the
objective of maximizing overall delivery system efficiency while addressing commercial requirements for reproducibility, particle engineering, safety and convenience. To
achieve this goal we are developing a family of inhalers as part of our pulmonary delivery system to efficiently and reproducibly deliver both large and small molecules to the
deep lung for both systemic and local lung drug administration. Our inhalers are being designed to disperse fine, dry, respirable powders, which are produced using our Nektar
Particle Engineering for pulmonary delivery, in a reproducible fashion for optimal systemic or local lung delivery, creating an integrated pulmonary delivery system.

        Our proprietary pulmonary inhaler is being designed to achieve the following:

• Effectively Disperse Fine Particles into an Aerosol Cloud. Fine powders have different dispersion requirements or characteristics than large powders. Most
current dry powder inhalers use larger powders and are not efficient in dispersing powders with aerosol diameters of one to five microns. We have developed and
are refining the dispersion system for our pulmonary inhaler specifically for fine powders. Our inhaler is being designed to efficiently remove powders from the
packaging, effectively disperse the powder particles and create an aerosol cloud while maintaining the integrity of the drug. 

• Efficiently and Reproducibly Deliver the Aerosol Cloud to the Deep Lung. We are developing a proprietary aerosol cloud handling system in our inhaler that is
intended to facilitate deep lung powder deposition and reproducible patient dosing. The handling system design is intended to enable the aerosolized particles to
be transported from the inhaler to the deep lung during a patient's breath, reducing losses in the throat and upper airways. In addition, the aerosol cloud handling
system, in conjunction with the dispersion mechanism and materials used in the inhaler, is designed to reduce powder loss in the inhaler itself.
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• Eliminate the Use of Propellants to Avoid Associated Environmental Concerns and Formulation Difficulties. Our inhaler does not use propellants. The oily
surfactants required to stabilize propellant formulations used in many metered dose inhaler ("MDI") formulations can cause aggregation of macromolecules. In
addition, current chlorofluorocarbon propellants are being phased out in many countries due to environmental concerns.

Nektar Small Dry Powder Inhaler ("DPI")

        We are developing a palm-sized, easy to use dry powder inhaler device. It is being developed to be appropriate for the delivery of either large or small molecules for short-
term use.

Nektar Metered Dose Inhaler

        We are also working to develop drugs for use in MDIs. We believe our expertise in pulmonary drug formulations and inhalers allows for stable formulations with new
hydrofluoroalkane propellants and the delivery of many molecules more efficiently to the deep lung compared with traditional MDIs.

        To date there are no products using Nektar Delivery Solutions that have been approved for use and there can be no assurance that any of our Nektar Delivery Solutions,
including our pulmonary delivery system or any of its components such as pulmonary inhaler devices, will be a successful or commercially viable technology.
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Nektar Product Pipeline and Partner Development Programs

        The following table summarizes our partner development programs for products approved for use or in clinical trials, including the indication for the particular drug or
product, its present stage of clinical development or approval and, with respect to our announced partner development programs, the identity of the corporate partner for such



program.

Molecule

 

Primary Indications

 

Partner

 

Status(1)

PEG-INTRON® (PEG-a-interferon)  Hepatitis-C  Schering-Plough  Approved

Definity® (PEG)  Cardiac imaging  Bristol-Myers Squibb  Approved

Neulasta™ (PEG-filgrastim)  Neutropenia  Amgen  Approved

PEGASYS® (PEG-a-interferon)  Hepatitis-C  Roche  Approved as monotherapy 
combination therapy

Somavert® (PEG-hGHra)  Acromegaly  Pharmacia  Approved

Exubera® (inhaled insulin)  Diabetes  Pfizer  Phase III

Macugen™ (PEGylated aptamer)  Age-related macular degeneration  Eyetech  Phase II/III
  Diabetic macular edema    Phase II

SprayGel™ adhesion barrier system (PEG)  Prevention of post-surgical adhesions  Confluent  Phase II/III
Approved in Europe

CDP 870 (PEGylated antibody fragment)  Rheumatoid arthritis
Crohn's disease

 Pharmacia
Celltech

 Phase III
Phase II

CDP 860  Cancer tumors  Celltech  Phase II

Undisclosed (PEG)  Undisclosed  Undisclosed  Phase II

Undisclosed (PEG)  Undisclosed  Undisclosed  Phase II

Undisclosed (PEG)  Undisclosed  Undisclosed  Phase II

Alpha 1 Proteinase Inhibitor  Genetic emphysema  Aventis Behring  Phase I

Inhaled tobramycin  Lung infection  Chiron  Phase I

Inhaled leuprolide  Prostate cancer, endometriosis  Enzon  Phase I

PEGylated interferon beta  Undisclosed  Serono  Phase I

PEG-Alfacon (PEGylated interferon alfacon-
1)

 Hepatitis-C  InterMune, Inc.  Phase I
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PEG-AXOKINE  Obesity  Regeneron  Phase I

(1) Status means:

Approved—regulatory approval to market and sell product obtained.

New Drug Application ("NDA") filed—clinical trials completed and new drug application filed with the FDA.

Phase III—large-scale clinical trials conducted to obtain regulatory approval to market and sell a drug; initiated following encouraging Phase II trial results.

Phase II—clinical trials to establish dosing and efficacy in patients.

Phase I—clinical trials typically in healthy subjects to test safety. (Phase 1 trials for inhaled tobramycin and inhaled leuprolide were conducted by us prior to our
collaborations with Chiron and Enzon, respectively. We believe our partners will conduct additional Phase I trials in the future with these products).

Selected Partner Development Programs

FDA Approved Products

PEG-INTRON™ Program (PEG Interferon Alpha)

        We are a party to a manufacturing agreement with Schering-Plough Corporation originally executed in February 2000 in connection with the PEG reagent used in PEG-
INTRON (PEG-interferon alpha) for use in the treatment of the hepatitis C virus. Under the terms of this agreement, we manufacture the PEG reagent and Schering-Plough
holds an exclusive worldwide license to PEG-INTRON, the first and only PEGylated interferon product approved for marketing in the United States and worldwide.

        Chronic hepatitis C is estimated to affect some 10 million people in the major world markets. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ("CDC") estimate that
between 2.7 and 4 million people living in the United States are chronically infected with the hepatitis C virus with 70 percent of infected patients going on to develop chronic
liver disease. Hepatitis C infection contributes to the deaths of an estimated 8,000 to 10,000 Americans each year and this toll is expected to triple by the year 2010, according to
the CDC.

Definity® Program (PEG)



        We are a party to an agreement with Dupont Pharmaceuticals, now part of Bristol Myers-Squibb, originally executed in 1996. Bristol Myers-Squibb is using our advanced
PEGylation technology in its Definity ultrasound system for diagnostically visualizing the heart.

        Definity is the first ultrasound contrast agent in the United States that is non-blood derived. It is comprised of gas-filled microspheres that are injected or infused into the
body. When exposed to ultrasound waves, the microspheres resonate and echo strong signals back to the ultrasound machine.

Neulasta™ Program (PEG-G-CSF)

        We are a party to a license, manufacturing and supply agreement with Amgen Inc. originally executed in July 1995, to supply its proprietary 20kDa PEG derivative, which
is utilized in the manufacture of pegfilgrastim for Amgen's Neulasta product. Neulasta was approved for marketing in the United States by the FDA in late January 2002.
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        Neulasta is indicated for decreasing the incidence of infection, as manifested by febrile neutropenia (fever associated with a severe drop in infection-fighting white blood
cells) in patients with non-myeloid malignancies receiving myelosuppressive anti-cancer drugs. Febrile neutropenia is a serious and common complication of many cancer
chemotherapies. Up to half of cancer chemotherapy patients develop severe neutropenia, potentially placing them at risk for life-threatening infections. On average, less than
10% of these patients receive proactive protection from neutropenia and studies have shown that 30% to 40% of patients receiving certain types of chemotherapy who do not get
a white blood cell booster will experience neutropenia with fever. Thousands of patients are hospitalized for neutropenia and its complications each year, in an age when most
chemotherapy patients are treated in the outpatient setting.

PEGASYS™ Program (PEG Interferon Alpha)

        We are a party to a license, manufacturing and supply agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. originally executed in November 1998, whereby we licensed to Roche
the PEG reagent used in Roche's Pegasys product for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. This agreement provides us with milestone payments, royalty payments, and
manufacturing revenues related to the PEG reagent. In connection with a patent infringement litigation settlement, we share a portion of the profits on this product with Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We are also a party to a subsequent agreement with Roche executed in April 1999, related to further collaborative work on Pegasys, a PEGylated
interferon alpha-2a product.

        Roche announced in December 2002, that the FDA has approved combination therapy with Pegasys (peginterferon alfa-2a), which uses our technology to create a
PEGylated interferon, and Copegus™ (ribavirin) for the treatment of adults with chronic hepatitis C who have compensated liver disease and have not previously been treated
with interferon alpha. Pegasys and Copegus combination therapy was granted priority review designation by the FDA. Pegasys was approved as monotherapy for the treatment
of adults with chronic Hepatitis C in October 2002. Currently, between 2.7 and 4 million people living in the United States are chronically infected with hepatitis C.

Somavert® Program (PEG-hGHRa)

        We are a party to a license, manufacturing and supply agreement with Sensus Drug Development Corporation originally executed in April 2000, for the PEGylation of
Somavert (pegvisomant for injection), a human growth hormone receptor antagonist. This agreement provides us with milestone payments, and manufacturing revenues related
to the PEG reagent. In March 2001, Sensus was acquired by Pharmacia Corp. Pharmacia announced on July 15, 2002 that they signed a definitive agreement with Pfizer Inc.
providing for Pfizer to acquire Pharmacia.

        Somavert has been approved for marketing in the U.S. and Europe for the treatment of certain patients with acromegaly. Pricing approval in Europe is pending. Patients
with acromegaly often suffer from headache, excessive sweating, soft-tissue swelling, joint disorders and a progressive coarsening of facial features and enlargement of the
hands, feet and jaw. In acromegaly, excess production of growth hormone is usually caused by a pituitary tumor, which is a condition affecting an estimated 40,000 patients in
the U.S., Europe and Japan.

        Relating to the above five FDA approved products, our revenue is based solely on the manufacture and supply of the PEG reagents. This revenue amounts to less than 1%
of our partners' product sales.

Non FDA Approved Products

Exubera® Program (inhaleable insulin)

        Insulin is a protein hormone naturally secreted by the pancreas to induce the removal of glucose from the blood into cells. Diabetes, the inability of the body to properly
regulate blood glucose levels, is caused by insufficient production of insulin by the pancreas or resistance to the insulin produced. Over time, high blood glucose levels can lead
to failure of the microvascular system, which may lead to blindness, loss of
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circulation, kidney failure, heart disease or stroke. Insulin, in its injectable form, is supplied by various manufacturers, including Lilly, Novo-Nordisk A/S and Aventis Pharma.

        According to the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, approximately 16 million people in the United States have diabetes, 10.3 million of which are
diagnosed with diabetes and another 5.4 million of which have undiagnosed diabetes. There are approximately 798,000 new cases of diabetes diagnosed each year. All Type 1
diabetics, estimated at between 5% and 15% of all diabetics, require insulin therapy. Type 1 diabetics require both basal insulin in the form of long-acting insulin and multiple
treatments of regular, or short acting, insulin throughout the day. Type 2 diabetics, depending on the severity of their disease, may or may not require insulin therapy. Because of
the inconvenience and unpleasantness of injections, many Type 2 patients who do not require insulin to survive, despite the fact that they would benefit from it, are reluctant to
start insulin treatment.

        Insulin therapy in Type 2 patients is generally given twice daily and is a combination of a short and long acting insulin. A ten-year study by the National Institutes of
Health ("NIH"), however, demonstrated that the side effects of diabetes could be significantly reduced by dosing more frequently. The NIH study recommended dosing regular
insulin three to four times per day, a regimen that would more closely mirror the action of naturally produced insulin in non-diabetics. Because of the risk of severe
hypoglycemia, this course of treatment is not recommended for children, older adults, people with heart disease or with a history of frequent severe hypoglycemia. In addition,
many patients are reluctant to increase their number of daily doses because they find injections unpleasant and inconvenient. Similar results were demonstrated in Type 2
patients in a UK trial.

        Per the terms of a collaborative agreement originally entered into in January 1995, we are developing with Pfizer an inhaleable version of regular human insulin (Exubera)
that can be typically administered in one to three blisters per dose using our pulmonary delivery system. We believe that our delivery system could provide increased user
convenience and result in greater patient compliance by eliminating some injections for Type 1 and Type 2 patients and all injections for some Type 2 patients. In addition, we
believe that because inhaleable insulin has a more rapid onset of action than injectable insulin, it offers simpler pre-meal dosing than the slower acting regular insulin.



        Phase I and Phase IIa clinical trials indicated that inhaleable insulin was absorbed systemically, reduced blood glucose levels and provided the same control of diabetes as
injected insulin. In October 1996, Pfizer initiated a multi-site Phase IIb outpatient trial to include up to 240 diabetes patients, the results of which were announced in June 1998.
In 70 Type 1 diabetics treated with either inhaleable or conventional injected insulin therapy for three months, blood levels of hemoglobin Alc, or ("HbAlc"), the best index of
blood glucose control, were statistically equivalent. Virtually identical results were obtained in a group of Type 2 diabetics. In September 1998, Pfizer released additional Phase
II data from a study of diabetics whose blood glucose was poorly controlled by oral agents alone. In that study, patients who were given inhaleable insulin in addition to their
oral medications showed marked improvement in their blood glucose control.

        In November 1998, Pfizer and Aventis Pharma announced that they entered into a worldwide agreement to manufacture insulin and to co-develop and co-promote
inhaleable insulin. Under the terms of the agreement, Pfizer and Aventis Pharma have constructed a jointly owned insulin manufacturing plant in Frankfurt, Germany. If
Exubera is approved for use, we will continue to have responsibility for manufacturing at least 50% of the inhaleable insulin drug powders, and for supplying inhalers. In
addition to receiving revenues for the manufacture and supply of drug powders and inhalers, we will receive a royalty on inhaleable insulin products marketed jointly by Pfizer
and Aventis Pharma.

        In June 1999, Pfizer began dosing in Phase III clinical trials. In June 2000, Pfizer reported new data on patients using inhaleable insulin therapy from a Phase II
continuation, or extension, study being conducted by Pfizer and Aventis Pharma. The goal of the extension study was to determine if safety and efficacy results from previously
reported short-term Phase II clinical trials could be maintained in the long term.
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These data showed that HbAlc, the long-term measurement of blood glucose control, remained stable in patients for up to 30 months of therapy. At the time that this data was
compiled, 83 patients had completed 24 months of inhaleable insulin therapy. Further data presented indicated similar results for patients who completed 30 months of therapy.

        In June 2001, Pfizer reported on data released from Phase III studies showing that more patients with Type 2 diabetes who were treated with inhaleable insulin achieved the
recommended blood glucose levels than patients who received only insulin injections. In addition the frequency and nature of adverse events were comparable between groups.
Patients who used inhaleable insulin developed increased insulin antibody serum binding, but there did not appear to be any related clinical significance. Additional data
released from these Phase III studies suggested that patients with Type 1 diabetes using inhaleable insulin multiple times a day with one bedtime long acting insulin injection
achieved comparable control of blood glucose to that seen in patients receiving multiple daily insulin injections. An additional Phase III study indicated that Type 2 diabetic
patients who were poorly controlled on a combination of two oral diabetes therapies demonstrated improved glycemic control and greater overall satisfaction and acceptance of
therapy when inhaleable insulin was added to their treatment regimen or when it replaced oral therapies. Any eventual label claims for Exubera will be subject to regulatory
approval of the product and its labeling.

        In December 2001, Pfizer announced that it had decided to include an increased level of controlled, long-term safety data in its proposed NDA with respect to inhaleable
insulin. In May and June 2002, Pfizer Inc. and Aventis Pharma released data from Phase III studies conducted with the Exubera inhaleable insulin product. The data showed that
patients with Type 2 diabetes, who had failed to meet recommended blood glucose levels with combination oral therapy, achieved better glycemic control with Exubera than
patients who received oral agents. In addition, the study results showed that Exubera provides glycemic control equal to insulin injections in patients with Type 1 diabetes.
However, the data also indicated a small relative decrease in one of the pulmonary function tests in the Exubera treatment group. In October 2002, Pfizer and Aventis announced
that they would complete additional long-term studies already underway for Exubera to determine whether there is clinical significance to the pulmonary function data, and that
they were continuing their discussions with regulatory agencies regarding the timing of an NDA submission for the product. In January 2003, during Pfizer's quarterly financial
results conference call, Pfizer commented that it would not file an NDA for approval of Exubera in 2003.

        In January 1995 and October 1996, Pfizer made two $5.0 million equity investments in our company.

        There can be no assurance that Pfizer will file for an NDA approval of Exubera and, if such filing is made, there can be no assurance that Pfizer will obtain FDA approval
to market Exubera. The failure to file for or obtain regulatory approval of Exubera would significantly harm our business.

Macugen™ Program

        In February 2002, we announced a long-term commercial supply agreement with Eyetech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a privately held biopharmaceutical company. Eyetech is
currently conducting a Phase II/III pivotal clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of Macugen, a PEGylated anti-Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor aptamer, for the
treatment of age-related macular degeneration ("AMD"), which is the leading cause of blindness among Americans over the age of 55.

        Macugen is also in Phase II testing for the treatment of diabetic macular edema ("DME"). The FDA has granted Macugen "fast-track" status for the treatment of exudative
or "wet" form of AMD as well as for DME because of the product's expected potential to fulfill a significant unmet medical need.

        Under the agreement, we will provide Eyetech with advanced PEGylation technology for use in the development of Macugen and we will receive milestone payments,
royalties on sales of commercialized products and revenues from exclusive manufacturing of the PEG derivative.
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SprayGel™ Program (PEG-hydrogel)

        We are a party to a license, supply and manufacturing agreement with Confluent Surgical, Inc. originally executed in August 1999, for use of our PEG-hydrogel in
Confluent's SprayGel adhesion barrier system. Under the terms of this arrangement, we manufacture and supply PEG components used in the SprayGel system and receive
royalty payments on sales of commercialized products, and manufacturing and supply revenues from Confluent. SprayGel was approved for commercial distribution in Europe,
receiving product certification by European regulatory authorities in November 2001. In June 2002, Confluent initiated Phase II/III pivotal trials in the US of SprayGel.

        SprayGel is a biodegradable, water-based, coating material designed to prevent postoperative adhesions formation. Adhesions can be responsible for severe pain and
discomfort as well as small bowel obstructions and are the leading cause of infertility in women following gynecological surgery. Approximately 500,000 surgical procedures
are performed annually to remove adhesions.

PEG CDP 870 Program

        We are a party to a license, manufacturing and supply agreement for PEG CDP 870 with Celltech Group plc executed in 2000, which was subsequently assigned to
Pharmacia for the rheumatoid arthritis indication. In October 2002, Pharmacia Corporation initiated Phase III clinical trials with CDP 870. Pharmacia announced in July 2002,
that they signed a definitive agreement with Pfizer Inc. providing for Pfizer to acquire Pharmacia.

        Under the agreement, we receive milestone payments, royalties on product sales and PEG manufacturing revenues if the product is commercialized, which are partially
shared with Enzon. Celltech is also assessing CDP 870 in Phase II studies as a treatment for Crohn's disease.

        Rheumatoid arthritis affects an estimated 2.1 million Americans. This systemic autoimmune disease is characterized by inflammation of the lining of the joint. Current
therapies are directed at treating the symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis or at modifying the disease, or a combination of the two, requiring daily or weekly administration.



PEG CDP 860 Program

        In October 2002, we announced a licensing, manufacturing and supply agreement for three products with Celltech Group, plc, including CPD 860, a PEGylated antibody
fragment drug in Phase II clinical testing for the treatment of cancer tumors. CDP 860 is being assessed in a Phase II study to determine whether it is able to increase the blood
flow into a solid tumor.

        We are also currently collaborating on PEGylated antibody fragment products CDP 791 and CDP 484 for cancer and rheumatoid arthritis respectively with Celltech. Both
programs are currently in pre-clinical development.

        Under the terms of the agreement, we will provide exclusive development and manufacturing for each activated PEG for all three products. In exchange, we will receive
milestone payments, manufacturing revenues and royalties on sales of commercialized products.

Alpha-1 Proteinase Inhibitor Program

        In January 1997, we entered into a collaborative agreement with Aventis Behring to develop a pulmonary formulation of alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor to treat patients with
alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency, or genetic emphysema. Alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor is approved in the United States and several European countries for augmentation treatment
of alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency. Current treatment is given by systemic intravenous infusion on a weekly basis. This "replacement therapy" consists of a concentrated form of
alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor derived from human plasma. Under the terms of the collaboration, Aventis Behring will receive commercialization rights worldwide excluding
Japan and we
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will receive royalties on product sales, an up-front signing fee and research and development funding and milestone payments. Inhaled alpha-1 has received orphan drug status
in the U.S. and Europe.

        We and Aventis Behring have completed preclinical work, and Phase I clinical trials indicate our dry powder formulation of Aventis Behring's alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor
has the potential to improve significantly the efficiency of delivery compared with current infusion therapy. We believe our pulmonary delivery system could significantly
reduce the amount of drug needed for genetic emphysema therapy since alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor could be delivered directly to the lung where it acts. Aventis Behring is
currently negotiating to secure rights under patents that have been granted in Europe directed to aerosol formulations for the treatment of the lung containing serine protease
inhibitors, including alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor. Aventis Behring has not yet indicated when and if they plan to conduct clinical trials beyond Phase I.

Inhaled Tobramycin Program

        In December 2001, we entered into a collaboration with Chiron Corporation to develop a next-generation inhaleable formulation of tobramycin for the treatment of
pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis patients and to explore the development of other inhaled antibiotics using our pulmonary delivery system. Cystic fibrosis is a
hereditary disease that primarily affects people of caucasian origin. About 30,000 people in the United States and about 70,000 people worldwide have cystic fibrosis. Patients
with cystic fibrosis typically suffer from chronic respiratory infections, digestive disorders, reduced male fertility and other problems. Chiron's existing tobramycin product,
TOBI™, was introduced in 1998 as the first inhaled antibiotic approved for treating pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infections in cystic fibrosis patients.

        Under the terms of the tobramycin collaboration, we will be responsible for the development of the next generation formulation of inhaleable tobramycin as well as clinical
and commercial manufacturing of the drug formulation and delivery device combination. Chiron will be responsible for the clinical development and worldwide
commercialization of the combination. We will receive research and development funding, milestone payments as the program progresses through further clinical testing, and
royalty payments and manufacturing revenues once the product is commercialized. It is expected that the additional drug formulations to be investigated under the agreement
will also relate to antibiotic products for the treatment of lung infections.

Strategic Alliance—Enzon

        In January 2002, we announced a strategic alliance with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. that includes an agreement making us solely responsible for licensing Enzon's
PEGylation patents, an option for Enzon to license our PEGylation patents, an agreement to explore the development of non-invasive delivery of single-chain antibody products
via the pulmonary route and settlement of a patent infringement litigation originally initiated by Enzon. We will have the option to license Enzon's PEGylation patents for use in
our proprietary products. Enzon will receive a royalty or a share of profits on final product sales of any products that use Enzon's patented PEG technology, including branched
PEG. As part of this broad alliance, we entered into a collaboration to develop three products using our pulmonary delivery system and/or supercritical fluids technology. The
first potential product under this collaboration may be an inhaleable formulation of leuprolide acetate, a peptide analog used to treat prostate cancer and endometriosis. Under
the terms of this collaboration, we will be responsible for the development of drug formulations for the agreed upon pharmaceutical agents as well as clinical and commercial
manufacturing of the drug formulation and device combination. Enzon will be responsible for the clinical development and worldwide commercialization of such combination.
We may receive research and development funding and milestone payments as the program progresses through further clinical testing, and will receive royalty payments if the
product is commercialized. As part of this alliance, Enzon made a $40.0 million equity
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investment in our convertible preferred stock. On February 20, 2003, Enzon announced it has entered into an agreement to merge with NPS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Dental Regeneration Products

        In January 2003, we announced an agreement with the Straumann Group to license, manufacture and supply Nektar's PEG-based hydrogel technology for dental
regeneration products. The proposed PEG-based hydrogel product will be designed for use by dentists to support tissue regeneration in dental surgery.

        Under the agreement, Straumann will license and source our PEG-based hydrogel technology and material exclusively for a proprietary formulation. We will receive
milestone and manufacturing payments as well as royalties on commercialized products.

PA 2794 Inhaleable Antibiotic Program

        In July 2002, we announced that we are collaborating with Chiron Corporation to develop an antibiotic product using our pulmonary delivery system.

        Based on feasibility work completed by us, the product developed under this collaboration will be an inhaleable powder version of PA 2794, a proprietary Chiron antibiotic
from a class commonly used to treat pulmonary infections. We will use our pulmonary delivery system to develop an inhaleable version of the antibiotic that can treat lung
infections directly. We believe that such a powder formulation may enable easier delivery to the site of infection, with potentially more rapid resolution of symptoms and
reduced gastrointestinal side effects.

        Under the terms of the collaboration, we will develop the formulation and be responsible for clinical and commercial manufacturing of the drug powder and delivery
device combination. Chiron will be responsible for the clinical development and worldwide commercialization of the combination. We will receive research and development



funding and milestone payments as the program progresses through clinical testing, and royalty payments on product sales and manufacturing revenues if the product is
commercialized.

Johnson and Johnson Collaboration

        In October 2001, we entered into a collaboration with the R.W. Johnson Pharmaceutical Research Institute and the Janssen Research Foundation, subsidiaries of Johnson &
Johnson, for the development of multiple small molecule compounds using our pulmonary delivery system. Feasibility work has been completed and we are reviewing the
future of this program.

Marinol® Program

        In February 2002, we entered into a collaboration with Unimed Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Solvay Pharmaceuticals, Inc., to develop an MDI
formulation of dronabinol (synthetic delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol) to be used for multiple indications. Dronabinol is the active ingredient in Unimed's MARINOL capsules.
MARINOL capsules are approved in the U.S. for the treatment of anorexia associated with weight loss in patients with AIDS and for the treatment of refractory nausea and
vomiting associated with cancer chemotherapy.

        Under the terms of the collaboration, we will be responsible for development of the formulation, as well as clinical and commercial manufacturing of the drug formulation
and device combination. Unimed will be responsible for the clinical development and worldwide commercialization of the combination. We will receive research and
development funding, milestone payments as the program progresses through further clinical testing, and royalty payments on product sales and manufacturing revenues if the
product is commercialized.

21

Supplemental Agreement with Alliance Pharmaceutical Corp.

        In March 2002, we announced the expansion of our agreement with Alliance Pharmaceutical Corp. ("Alliance") regarding the PulmoSphere® particle and particle
processing technology, aspects of which we initially acquired from Alliance in November 1999. The PulmoSphere technology is a particle engineering method designed to
enhance the performance of drugs delivered via the lung in propellant-based metered-dose inhalers and dry powder inhalers. As a result of the supplemental agreement, we paid
Alliance $5.25 million in exchange for rights beyond inhaleable applications and other considerations. Under the terms of the supplemental agreement, we have the right to use
the PulmoSphere technology for alternative methods of delivery in addition to inhaleable applications. Further, Alliance assigned five new patent applications covering methods
of producing microparticles to us. Alliance retains the rights to use the technology on products to be instilled directly into the lung, and obtains the rights to commercialize up to
four products administered with inhalers, two of which will be royalty-free. We will pay Alliance future milestone or royalty payments on a reduced number of products
developed by us or our licensees utilizing the technology.

Fortéo™ Program

        In January 1997, we entered into a collaborative agreement with Eli Lilly and Company ("Lilly") to develop an inhaleable formulation of Fortéo, a version of parathyroid
hormone, PTH 1-34, used in the treatment of osteoporosis. Under the terms of the agreement we were to receive research, development and milestone payments, and royalties
on sales of marketed products.

        In October 2002, we announced that the two companies had mutually agreed to terminate the program. We intend to seek a new partner to carry forward this program.

        There is no assurance that any of our partner programs will be successful or result in commercially viable products.

Feasibility Studies

        In addition to the partner collaborations mentioned above and other development programs, we have conducted and continue to conduct feasibility studies of additional
drug formulations both on our own account and in cooperation with potential collaboration partners. We will continue to pursue these and other feasibility programs to
determine the potential for collaborative development programs with respect to these drugs. There can be no assurance that any of our feasibility studies will be successful or
result in collaborative development programs.

Manufacturing

        Our goal in manufacturing is to achieve the following:

• Provide economies of scale by utilizing manufacturing capacity for multiple products;
• Improve our ability to retain any manufacturing know-how; and
• Allow our customers to bring products to market faster.

        With respect to products based on our pulmonary delivery system, we generally plan to formulate, manufacture and package the powders for our pulmonary delivery
products and to subcontract the manufacture of our proprietary pulmonary delivery devices. Our device for use with Exubera, the pulmonary inhaler, is still in clinical testing
and production scale-up work is ongoing. Further work is underway to enable large scale commercial manufacturing and additional work may be required to optimize the device
for regulatory approval, field reliability or other issues that may be important to its commercial success. Additional design and development work may lead to a delay in
regulatory approval, efforts to seek regulatory approval for any product that incorporates the device or the time the device could be ready for commercial launch. Under our
collaborative agreement with Pfizer to develop Exubera,
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we will manufacture inhaleable insulin powders and Pfizer will be primarily responsible for filling and packaging blisters. The terms of the supply agreement with Pfizer
provide that prior to the commercialization of Exubera, we must build and have validated a powder processing facility and a device manufacturer or manufacturers. We will be
the commercial powder manufacturer at launch, if any. Pfizer has the right to manufacture a portion of the powder requirement post-launch.

        We have built a powder manufacturing and packaging facility in San Carlos, California capable of producing powders in quantities we believe are sufficient for clinical
trials of products based on our pulmonary delivery system. This facility has been inspected and licensed by the State of California and is used to manufacture and package
powders under current Good Manufacturing Practices. We have completed construction of a commercial facility to meet our future manufacturing commitments. We believe that
scale-up and validation will be completed in time for commercial operations should a product using our pulmonary delivery system be approved for use.

        We are working to further scale-up our powder processing to a larger production scale system and to further develop the necessary powder packaging technologies. Fine
particle powders and small quantity packaging (such as those to be used in our delivery system) require special handling. Current commercial packaging systems are designed
for filling larger quantities of larger particle powders and therefore must be modified to dispense finer particles in the small quantities we require for our pulmonary delivery



system. We have developed and internally qualified a proprietary prototype automated filling system, which we believe is capable of supporting our partners' requirements
through Phase III trials and into commercial production for some products.

        We have developed a high capacity automated filling unit capable of filling blisters on a production scale for moderate and large volume products using our pulmonary
delivery system. The technology has been transferred to Pfizer who will have the responsibility of commercial packaging and filling the bulk drug powders for Exubera.

        One of our proprietary pulmonary inhaler devices is being developed for commercial use and is being used in the Phase III Exubera and other trials. We have identified and
have established formal supply agreements with contract manufacturers that we believe have the technical capabilities and production capacity to manufacture our pulmonary
delivery devices. It is believed that these contract manufacturers can successfully receive the device technology and know-how transferred from our device development group,
scale up the manufacturing process, and meet the requirements of current Good Manufacturing Practices. The contract manufacturers have completed construction of their
facilities. Manufacturing scale-up and qualification efforts are underway. We are examining scale-up and validation plans to support their commercial operations.

        With respect to Nektar Molecule Engineering products using advanced PEGylation technology, we have one facility in Huntsville, Alabama for the manufacture of PEG-
derivatives. We forecast increasing capacity to handle current and future demand based on our current pipeline.

        With respect to products using our Nektar Particle Engineering using our supercritical fluids technology, we currently have one facility in Bradford, England for the
production of dry powder material. We believe this capacity is sufficient for the production of materials necessary to complete a substantial portion of early-stage clinical trials
undertaken by our collaborative partners. We forecast expanding our manufacturing capabilities to demonstrate pilot plant scale-up to meet latent customer demands.

        There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully process drug powders, or manufacture products on our autofiller system in a timely manner or at
commercially reasonable cost. Any failure or delay in further developing this technology would delay product development or inhibit commercialization of our products and
would have a materially adverse effect on us. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully transfer our filling and packaging technology to Pfizer for the
commercial manufacture of the Exubera product, if approved. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully scale-up and validate our contract
manufacturers, or that we will be able to maintain
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satisfactory contract manufacturing on commercially acceptable terms. Our dependence upon third parties for the manufacture of our pulmonary inhaler device and its supply
chain may adversely affect our cost of goods and our ability to develop and commercialize products on a timely and competitive basis.

Government Regulation

        The research and development, clinical testing, manufacture and marketing of products using our technologies are subject to regulation by the FDA and by comparable
regulatory agencies in other countries. These national agencies and other federal, state and local entities regulate, among other things, research and development activities and
the testing (in vitro and in animals and in human clinical trials), manufacture, safety, effectiveness, labeling, storage, record keeping, approval, advertising and promotion of our
products.

        The process required by the FDA before a product using our technologies may be marketed in the United States depends on whether the compound has existing approval
for use in other dosage forms. If the drug is a new chemical entity that has not been previously approved, the process includes the following:

• Extensive preclinical laboratory and animal testing;
• Submission of an Investigational New Drug application, or IND;
• Adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the drug for the intended indication; and
• Submission to the FDA for approval of a New Drug Application, or NDA, for drugs or a Biological License Application, or BLA, for biological products.

        If the drug has been previously approved, the approval process is similar, except that certain preclinical tests relating to systemic toxicity normally required for the IND and
NDA/BLA application may not be necessary.

        Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and animal studies to assess the potential safety and efficacy of the product and its chosen formulation.
Drug products must be formulated according to current Good Manufacturing Practices, and preclinical safety tests must be conducted by laboratories that comply with FDA
Good Laboratory Practices regulations. The results of the preclinical tests are submitted to the FDA as part of the IND application and are reviewed by the FDA before clinical
trials can begin. Clinical trials may begin 30 days after receipt of the IND by the FDA, unless the FDA raises objections or requires clarification within that period.

        Clinical trials involve the administration of the drug to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of a qualified, identified medical investigator according to an
approved protocol. Clinical trials are conducted in accordance with protocols that detail the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used to monitor participant safety and
efficacy or other criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol is submitted to the FDA as part of the original IND. Each clinical study is conducted after written approval is obtained
from an independent Institutional Review Board, or IRB. The IRB considers, among other things, ethical factors, the potential risks to subjects participating in the trial and the
possible liability to the institution where the trial(s) is/are being conducted. The IRB also approves the consent form signed by the trial participants.

        Clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap. In Phase I, the initial introduction of the drug into healthy human subjects, the
product generally is tested for tolerability, pharmacokinetics, absorption, metabolism and excretion. Phase II involves studies in a limited patient population to:

• Determine the efficacy of the product for specific targeted indications;
• Determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage and regimen of administration; and
• Identify possible adverse effects and safety risks.
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        After Phase II trials demonstrate that a product is effective and has an acceptable safety profile, Phase III trials are undertaken to evaluate the further clinical efficacy and
safety of the drug/formulation within an expanded patient population at geographically dispersed clinical study sites, and in large enough trials to provide statistical proof of
efficacy/tolerability. The FDA, the clinical trial sponsor, the investigators or the IRB may suspend clinical trials at any time if any one of them believes that study participants
are being subjected to an unacceptable health risk.

        The results of product development, preclinical studies and clinical studies are submitted to the FDA as an NDA/BLA for approval of the marketing and commercial
shipment of the drug product. The FDA may deny an NDA/BLA if applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied or may require additional clinical testing. Even if such data are
submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDA/ BLA does not satisfy all of the criteria for approval (e.g. consistency of manufacture of the drug/formulation). Product
approvals, once obtained, may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory standards are not maintained or if safety concerns arise after the product reaches the market. The
FDA may require post-marketing testing and surveillance programs to monitor the effect of drug products that have been commercialized and has the power to prevent or limit
future marketing of the product based on the results of such programs.



        Each domestic drug product manufacturing establishment must be registered with, and approved by, the FDA. Establishments handling controlled substances must in
addition, be licensed by the United States Drug Enforcement Administration. Domestic manufacturing establishments are subject to biennial inspections by the FDA for
compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices. Facilities and drug products manufactured in the UK are also subject to UK regulatory review. They are also subject to
U.S., and U.K. federal, state and local regulations regarding workplace safety, environmental protection and hazardous and controlled substance controls, among others.

        Many of the drugs we are developing are already approved for marketing by the FDA in another form and delivered by another route. We believe that when working with
approved drugs, the approval process for products using our alternative drug delivery or formulation technologies may require less time and fewer tests than for new chemical
entities. However, we expect that our formulations for use with any of our technologies may use excipients not currently approved for use (e.g. pulmonary delivery). Use of
these excipients will require additional toxicological testing that may increase the costs of or length of time to gain regulatory approval. In addition, regulatory procedures as
they relate to our products may change as regulators gain experience, and any such changes may delay or increase the cost of regulatory approvals.

        For products currently under development based on our pulmonary delivery systems, our inhaler devices are considered to be part of a drug/device combination for deep
lung delivery of each specific molecule. Prior to submission of an IND, the FDA Center and division within the FDA Center responsible for the review of the IND and
NDA/BLA will be identified. In the case of our products, either the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research or the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, in
consultation with the Center for Devices and Radiological Health, could be involved in the review. However, currently one center is designated as having the lead responsibility
for regulating the product. The jurisdiction within the FDA is based on the primary mode of action of the drug or the location of the specific expertise in one of the Centers as
identified in the FDA's intercenter agreement.

        To date, our partners have generally been responsible for clinical and regulatory approval procedures, but we may participate in this process by submitting to the FDA a
drug master file developed and maintained by us which contains data concerning the manufacturing processes for the inhaler device or drug product. Through our internal
proprietary products development efforts, we have prepared and submitted an IND application and are performing initial clinical studies before licensing certain products to
corporate partners. The clinical and manufacturing development and regulatory review and approval process generally takes a number of years and requires the expenditure of
substantial resources. Our ability to manufacture and sell products developed under collaboration agreements depends upon the partner's completion of satisfactory clinical trials
and success in obtaining marketing approvals from FDA and equivalent foreign authorities.
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        Sales of our products outside the United States are subject to local regulatory requirements governing clinical trials and marketing approvals for drugs, pulmonary and
other delivery systems and routes of delivery. Such requirements vary widely from country to country.

        In developing the device component for our pulmonary delivery system, we have sought to develop our quality systems and design engineering function in adherence to the
principles of design control for medical devices as set forth in the applicable regulatory guidance. Although hybrid drug/device products are typically reviewed as a drug, we
have sought to adhere to the design control approach both as a good business practice, and because it appears that the drug and biologic centers of the FDA and other worldwide
agencies are adopting this policy. In Europe, this has already taken place and delivery devices are viewed as separate entities subject to review as such under the Medical Device
Directive. In the U.S., although not yet formally required, it is our intention to comply with the FDA regulations for devices and develop our device technology in compliance
with design control principles.

        There can be no assurance that products that we develop, including devices designed by us and built by our contract manufacturers, will be approved, or will meet approval
requirements, on a timely basis, which would have a materially adverse effect on us.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

        We routinely apply for patents for our innovations and for improvements to our technologies. We also rely on our trade secrets and know-how to protect our technologies
and our competitive position. We plan to aggressively defend our proprietary technologies from infringement, misappropriation, duplication and discovery through our issued
patents and our proprietary know-how.

        Our patent portfolio contains patents and patent applications that encompass each of our technologies including Nektar Molecule Engineering, Particle Engineering and
Delivery Solutions. Our Molecule Engineering patents and patent applications cover reactive PEG derivatives, PEG-drug conjugates, PEG-based prodrugs and PEG-drug
delivery vehicles. Our Particle Engineering patents and patent applications cover compositions and apparatuses for preparing particles using our supercritical fluids technology
and spray drying processes. Our Delivery Solutions patents and patent applications cover our integrated systems for pulmonary delivery of both large and small molecule drugs.
Although our early Molecule Engineering patent applications were filed in the United States only, we routinely file patent applications on innovations and improvements in each
of these areas on a worldwide basis.

        With regard to our Molecule Engineering patent portfolio, we have filed patent applications directed to activated PEG reagents having a variety of structures (branched or
multi-armed PEGs, forked PEGs, linear PEGs, etc.) and reactive groups, methods of producing highly pure polymer reagents, PEG prodrugs having hydrolysable linkages,
PEG-based hydrogels and alternative gel systems and PEG conjugates of certain molecules. Patents or patent applications have issued or have been published in many of these
areas.

        Our Particle Engineering patent portfolio relates to our proprietary supercritical fluid and spray drying technologies. One of our Particle Engineering techniques involves
contacting an active agent solution or suspension with a supercritical fluid to precipitate active agent particles from the solution or suspension. The patents and patent
applications cover both the method of forming the particles and apparatuses for carrying out the method and are not limited by the particular product made. A further Particle
Engineering technique involves spray drying solutions and suspensions to prepare particles of various morphologies.

        Our Drug Delivery Solutions portfolio relates to pharmaceutical compositions and reagents, medical devices and equipment and methods for preparation, packaging and
delivery of our pharmaceutical compositions. Patents that have issued in these areas cover our pulmonary inhaler devices, formulations for pulmonary delivery and methods for
preparing, packaging and using these formulations and particular active agent formulations for delivery via the respiratory tract.
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        As a result of our acquisition of Shearwater Corporation in June 2001, we became a party to litigation with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. whereby Enzon alleged
infringement of its patents related to branched polymers and their conjugates. In a complaint originally filed in December 1998 and amended in December 2000, Enzon asserted
infringement of certain Enzon patents by certain of our PEG-2 reagents and certain other advanced PEGylation products. In January 2002, we announced a strategic alliance
with Enzon that includes a collaboration to develop three products using our pulmonary delivery system and/or supercritical fluids technology, an agreement making us solely
responsible for licensing Enzon's PEGylation patents, an option for Enzon to license our PEGylation patents, and an agreement to explore the development of non-invasive
delivery of single-chain antibody products via the pulmonary route. In connection with this agreement, the patent infringement litigation was settled. We made a one-time
payment of $3.0 million to Enzon in connection with the settlement of the litigation. Also, as part of this transaction, Enzon made a $40.0 million investment in our convertible
preferred stock. On February 20, 2003, Enzon announced it had entered into an agreement to merge with NPS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

        In November 1999, we acquired Alliance Pharmaceutical Corp.'s PulmoSphere technology and other related assets for particle formulation and powder processing, subject
to the terms and conditions of an asset purchase agreement. The PulmoSphere technology utilizes an emulsification process to produce a powder having characteristics that we
believe may improve efficiency and reproducibility for drugs delivered to the lung through alternative technologies such as MDIs as well as potentially improve drug delivery



through our proprietary deep lung drug delivery system. The assets acquired included Alliance's intellectual property portfolio for the PulmoSphere technology consisting of,
among other things, several patent applications. We concluded a further agreement with Alliance in March 2002 for further rights to the technology including rights outside the
respiratory field. We have licensed the technology back to Alliance for liquid dose instillation applications. While Alliance has made several representations in its agreement
with us regarding its ownership rights of the PulmoSphere technology, it is possible that third parties might assert claims challenging Alliance's rights, and thus our rights. Even
if we can defend our rights successfully, the uncertainty regarding the status of our rights during the time any such litigation is pending may prevent us from using the
underlying technology.

        In June 1997, we acquired the intellectual property portfolio of the BioPreservation Division of Pafra. This portfolio includes issued U.S. and foreign Letters Patent and
pending applications relating to the stabilization of macromolecule drugs in dry formulations. One of the original U.S. patents included in this portfolio (U.S. Patent
No. 5,089,893) was reissued as RE 37872 in October 8, 2002. A second U.S. patent from this portfolio issued to us on July 27, 1999. A granted European patent included in this
portfolio was the subject of an opposition proceeding before the European Patent office. The opposition hearing was held on December 16, 1999. We successfully defended the
patent and our method claims relating to glass stabilization technology against four opposing parties. In addition, in late 1999, based on claims of this granted European patent,
we filed an infringement action in the courts of the United Kingdom against Quadrant Healthcare plc. Quadrant challenged the validity of this patent as part of its defense of the
infringement suit and in June 2001, the English High Court of Justice ruled the patent invalid in the United Kingdom and in February 2003, the Board of Appeals of the
European patent office revoked the European patent. Although this decision has no impact on the U.S. patent or on any of our other patents and patent applications that cover
our glass stabilization technology or on our ability to use our glass stabilization technology, there can be no assurance that any of the other Pafra patents or patent applications
will be held to be valid and enforceable. The inability to obtain or defend further Pafra patents could have a material adverse effect on us.

        The patent positions of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and drug delivery companies, including ours, are uncertain and involve complex legal and factual issues. There can
be no assurance that patents that we apply for will issue, or that patents that issue will be valid and enforceable. Even if such patents are enforceable, we anticipate that any
attempt to enforce our patents could be time consuming and costly. Additionally, the coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly reduced before the patent is
issued. As a consequence, we do not know whether any of our pending patent applications will be granted
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with broad coverage or whether the claims that eventually issue or that have issued will be circumvented. Since publication of discoveries in scientific or patent literature often
lag behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain that we were the first inventor of inventions covered by our issued patents or pending patent applications or that we were the
first to file patent applications for such inventions. Moreover, we may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the PTO to determine priority of invention,
which could result in substantial cost to us, even if the eventual outcome is favorable. An adverse outcome could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties, require
disputed rights to be licensed from or to third parties or require us to cease using the technology in dispute.

        We are aware of numerous pending and issued U.S. and foreign patent rights and other proprietary rights owned by third parties that relate to pharmaceutical compositions
and reagents, medical devices, and equipment and methods for preparation, packaging and delivery of our pharmaceutical compositions. We cannot predict with any certainty
which, if any, patent references will be considered relevant to our technology by authorities in the various jurisdictions where such rights exist, nor can we predict with certainty
which, if any, of these rights will or may be asserted against us by third parties. There can be no assurance that we can obtain a license to any technology that we determine we
need on reasonable terms, if at all, or that we could develop or otherwise obtain alternate technology. The failure to obtain licenses if needed would have a material adverse
effect on us.

        We also rely upon trade secret protection for our confidential and proprietary information. No assurance can be given that others will not independently develop
substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or disclose such technology, or that we can meaningfully protect our
trade secrets.

        Third parties from time to time have asserted or may assert that we are infringing their proprietary rights based upon issued patents, trade secrets or know-how that they
believe cover our technology. In addition, future patents may issue to third parties that our technology may infringe. We could incur substantial costs in defending ourselves and
our partners against any such claims. Furthermore, parties making such claims may be able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our
ability to further develop or commercialize some or all of our products in the United States and abroad, and could result in the award of substantial damages. In the event of a
claim of infringement, we and our partners may be required to obtain one or more licenses from third parties. There can be no assurance that our partners and we will be able to
obtain such licenses at a reasonable cost, if at all. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any such required license could have a material adverse effect on us.

        Our ability to develop and commercialize our technologies will be affected by our or our partners' access to the drugs that are to be formulated. Many biopharmaceutical
drugs, including some of those that are presently under development by us, are subject to issued and pending United States and foreign patent rights which may be owned by
competing entities. There can be no assurance, that we or our partners will be able to provide access to drug candidates for formulation or that, if such access is provided, we or
our partners will not be accused of, or determined to be, infringing a third party's rights and will not be prohibited from working with the drug or be found liable for damages
that may not be subject to indemnification. Any such restriction on access or liability for damages would have a material adverse effect on us.

        It is our policy to require our employees and consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored researchers and other advisors who receive confidential information
from us to execute confidentiality agreements upon the commencement of employment or consulting relationships with us. These agreements provide that all confidential
information developed or made known to the individual during the course of the individual's relationship with us is to be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties
except in specific circumstances. The agreements provide that all inventions conceived by an employee shall be our property. There can be no assurance, however, that these
agreements will provide
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meaningful protection or adequate remedies for our trade secrets in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of such information.

Competition

        We believe that products developed using our technologies will compete on the basis of one or more of the following parameters: efficacy, safety, reproducibility, patient
convenience and cost. There is intense competition in each of our technology platforms including non-invasive delivery of proteins and peptides, less invasive delivery of
peptides and proteins and improved formulation and delivery of small molecules by the most common routes of delivery including pulmonary, oral and injectable. In addition, a
number of the products being developed using our technology have direct and indirect competition from other companies including both drug delivery companies and
pharmaceutical companies many of which are much larger and have more resources than we do.

        With respect to Nektar Molecule Engineering, there are a number of companies developing alternative PEGylation technology including PEGShop, Mountain View
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., NOF, Valentis and a number of pharmaceutical companies. Indirect competitors to PEGylation for less invasive delivery of peptides and proteins include
injectable controlled release technologies such as liposomes, polymers and other molecule engineering approaches.

        With respect to Nektar Particle Engineering using our supercritical fluids technology, there are a number of direct competitors developing competitive technology including
Crititech, Lavipharm, Ferro Corp, Ethypharm and others. Indirect competition for this technology comes from companies developing other ways of creating particles and
improved dosage forms of small molecules for the most common routes of delivery including oral, injectable and pulmonary.



        With respect to Nektar Delivery Solutions using our pulmonary delivery systems, there are a number of companies developing dry powder inhalers, metered dose inhalers
and liquid inhalers including nebulizers that could compete with us. Companies such as Aradigm, Aerogen, Alkermes, Batelle, 3M, Elan, Skyepharma and Vectura are all
developing technologies that could compete with our pulmonary delivery systems.

        In the non-invasive delivery of insulin, we have direct competition from companies such as Aradigm and Alkermes both of which are working on pulmonary products with
pharmaceutical partners and indirect competition from companies such as Nobex, Emisphere and Generex, which are believed to be working on oral or buccal products.

        For each of our technology platforms, we believe we have competitive advantages for certain applications and molecules. We monitor the competitive situation across our
technology applications and products and may attempt to develop in-house, in-license or acquire technologies that improve or expand our technology platforms in order to
remain competitive.

        We are in competition with other drug delivery companies, drug discovery companies including molecule engineering companies, biopharmaceutical companies as well as
other organizations and individual inventors many of whom have resources much greater than ours including financial, development and commercialization capabilities.
Acquisition of competing companies including drug delivery companies by larger pharmaceutical companies could also enhance our competitors' position. Accordingly, our
competitors could succeed in developing competing technologies and products and gain regulatory approval faster than us. Development of newer technologies and products
could also render our technology and products less or noncompetitive or obsolete.

Employees and Consultants

        On December 11, 2002, we announced a reduction in force and informed 73 employees their employment would be terminated as of December 31, 2002. This lowered the
total headcount to 680, of which 553 were engaged in research and development, including manufacturing and quality activities, and
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127 were engaged in general administration and business development. We have 249 employees who hold advanced degrees, of which 114 are Ph.D.s. None of our employees is
covered by a collective bargaining agreement and we have experienced no work stoppages. We believe that we maintain good relations with our employees.

        To complement our own expertise, we utilize specialists in regulatory affairs, pulmonary toxicology, process engineering, manufacturing, quality assurance, device design,
clinical trial design and business development. These individuals include certain of our scientific advisors as well as independent consultants. See Item 10 "Directors and
Executive Officers of the Registrant".

General Information

        We were incorporated in California in 1990 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1998. We maintain our executive offices at 150 Industrial Road, San Carlos, California
94070. Our main telephone number is (650) 631-3100.

        All Nektar brand and product names are trademarks or registered trademarks of Nektar Therapeutics, in the United States and other countries. This Form 10-K contains
additional trade names, trademarks and service marks of other companies. We do not intend our use or display of other parties' trade names, or trademarks or service marks to
imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of, us by these other parties.

Available Information

        We file electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on
Form 8-K pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 1934 Act. The public may read or copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth
Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC
maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC. The address of that site is www.sec.gov.

        You may obtain a free copy of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports on the
day of filing with the SEC on our website at http://www.nektar.com, by contacting the Investor Relations Department at our corporate offices by calling (650) 631-3100 or by
sending an e-mail message to investors@nektar.com.

        In 2003, we intend to a adopt a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar functions. We intend to post the text of our code of ethics on our website at http://www.nektar.com in connection with "Investor Relations" materials. In
addition, we intend to promptly disclose (1) the nature of any amendment to our code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions and (2) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a provision of our code of ethics
that is granted to one of these specified officers, the name of such person who is granted the waiver and the date of the waiver on our website in the future.
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RISK FACTORS 

        The following risk factors should be read carefully in connection with evaluating our business. Any of the following risks could materially and adversely affect our
business, operating results or financial condition.

If our collaborative partners that we depend on to obtain regulatory approvals and commercialization of our products are not successful, or if such collaboration fails,
then our product development or commercialization of our products may be delayed or unsuccessful.

        Because we are in the business of developing technology for improving drug formulations and methods for drug delivery, and licensing these technologies to companies
that make and sell drugs, we do not have the people and other resources to do the following things:

• synthesize active pharmaceutical ingredients to be used as medicines; 

• design and conduct large scale clinical studies; 

• prepare and file documents necessary to obtain government approval to sell a given drug product; or 

• market and sell our products when and if they are approved.



        When we sign a collaborative development agreement or license agreement to develop a product with a drug or biotechnology company, the drug or biotechnology
company agrees to do some or all of the things described above.

        Reliance on collaborative relationships poses a number of risks, including:

• the potential inability to control whether and the extent to which our collaborative partners will devote sufficient resources to our programs or products; 

• disputes which may arise in the future with respect to the ownership of rights to technology and/or intellectual property developed with collaborative partners; 

• disagreements with collaborative partners which could lead to delays in or termination of the research, development or commercialization of product candidates,
or result in litigation or arbitration; 

• the potential for contracts with our collaborative partners to fail to provide significant protection or to be effectively enforced if one of these partners fails to
perform. Collaborative partners have considerable discretion in electing whether to pursue the development of any additional products and may pursue
alternative technologies or products either on their own or in collaboration with our competitors; 

• the potential for collaborative partners with marketing rights to choose to devote fewer resources to the marketing of our products than they do to products of
their own development; 

• risks related to the ability of our distributors and corporate partners to pay us; and 

• the potential for collaborative partners to unilaterally terminate their agreements with us for any or no reason.

        Given these risks, there is a great deal of uncertainty regarding the success of our current and future collaborative efforts.

        In October 2001, Eli Lilly and Company, our collaborative partner with respect to a Phase I program for an inhaleable product for the treatment of osteoporosis, Fortéo™,
notified us that the program would not be funded in 2002. Lilly notified us in October 2002, that it did not plan to fund program work in 2003 and both companies mutually
agreed to terminate the program at that time.
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        In January 2002, Biogen, our collaborative partner with respect to a Phase I program for an inhaleable product for the treatment of multiple sclerosis, announced that it did
not plan to further develop inhaleable Avonex® for multiple sclerosis. Biogen formally terminated the program for such product effective as of September 2002.

        If other significant collaborations are suspended or terminated, our ability to successfully commercialize certain of our other proposed products would also be negatively
impacted. If these efforts fail, our product development or commercialization of products could be delayed.

If Pfizer does not file a New Drug Application ("NDA") for approval of Exubera, if the FDA does not timely approve the NDA for Exubera or if our collaboration
with Pfizer is discontinued prior to the launch of Exubera, then our financial position and results of operations will be significantly harmed.

        We are developing with Pfizer an inhaleable version of insulin, Exubera, for the treatment of Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes, that will be administered using our pulmonary
delivery system. Exubera is currently in Phase III clinical trials. We currently depend on Pfizer as the source of a significant portion of our revenues. For the years ended
December 31, 2002, and 2001, contract research revenue from Pfizer accounted for 59% and 66% of our revenue, respectively. Delays in the filing of the Exubera NDA will
result in a delay in the FDA approval, and there can be no assurance that even if the NDA is filed, Exubera will be approved for marketing and commercial use. Among the
factors that may delay the filing or approval of the NDA, or the commercial launch of Exubera, are the following:

• Pfizer is currently conducting studies to generate controlled long-term safety data with respect to Exubera, in particular its affect on lung function, and the results
of the studies may impact the filing or approval of the NDA; 

• We may experience difficulties with respect to the processing of the dry powder formulation of inhaleable insulin, and the filling and packaging of the inhaleable
insulin powder for the Exubera product. We may not be able to successfully transfer the filling and packaging technology to Pfizer for the large scale commercial
production of the Exubera product; and 

• We, with our contract manufacturers, may experience difficulties with respect to the production of the pulmonary inhaler device for Exubera, including in
connection with the design, scale up and automation of the commercial manufacture of the pulmonary inhaler device for Exubera, and any such difficulties may
delay the filing and approval of the NDA. Our contract manufacturers may also experience difficulties with respect to manufacturing the device in high volumes
for commercial use.

        Pfizer has indicated that it would not file the NDA for approval of Exubera in 2003. If the filing or approval of the NDA is substantially further delayed, we may not have
the financial ability to continue supporting the Exubera program or be able to meet our contractual obligations relating to the commercial launch of Exubera. In the event of any
such delay, we may also elect to divert resources away from Exubera related activities or otherwise reduce our activities relating to the Exubera program. Any material delay in
the filing for regulatory approval or material delay in receiving regulatory approval, or failure to receive regulatory approval of Exubera at all, would, whether or not we elect to
take such actions, likely affect our contract research revenue from Pfizer, and would significantly negatively impact our results of operations. Furthermore, should the
collaboration with Pfizer be discontinued prior to the launch of Exubera, our financial position and results of operations may be substantially harmed.

If we fail to establish future successful collaborative relationships, then our financial results may suffer and our product development efforts may be delayed or
unsuccessful.

        We intend to seek future collaborative relationships with pharmaceutical and biotechnology partners to fund some of our research and development expenses and to
develop and commercialize potential
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products. Further, we anticipate that the timing of drug development programs under existing collaborative agreements with our partners will continue to affect our revenues
from such agreements. We may not be able to negotiate acceptable collaborative arrangements in the future, and any arrangements we do negotiate may not be successful. If we
fail to establish additional collaborative relationships, we will be required to undertake research, development, marketing and manufacturing of our proposed products at our
own expense or discontinue or reduce these activities.



If our drug delivery technologies are not commercially feasible, then our revenues and results of operations will be impacted negatively.

        We are in an early stage of development with respect to many of our products. There is a risk that our technologies will not be commercially feasible. Even if these drug
delivery technologies are commercially feasible, they may not be commercially accepted across a range of large and small molecule drugs. We have tested 12 drug formulations
based on our pulmonary delivery systems in humans, but many of our potential formulations have not been tested in clinical trials. Our advanced PEGylation technology is
currently being used in the development of 35 drugs. While our advanced PEGylation technology has been incorporated in five products that the FDA has approved for
marketing, and three other products using our advanced PEGylation technology are in Phase II/III pivotal trials, many of the drug formulations with which we are incorporating
this technology are in the early stages of feasibility or preclinical testing or in human clinical trials. Our supercritical fluids technology is also primarily in an early stage of
feasibility. This technology represents a new method of manufacturing drug particles and is still in research and development, with only one formulation having entered human
clinical testing.

        Other companies have tested many of the underlying drug compounds contained in our drug formulations in humans using alternative delivery routes or technologies. Our
potential products require extensive research, development and preclinical and clinical testing. Our potential products also may involve lengthy regulatory reviews and require
regulatory approval before they can be sold. We do not know if, and cannot assure that, any of our potential products will prove to be safe and effective, accomplish the
objectives that we and our collaborative partners are seeking through the use of our technologies, meet regulatory standards or continue to meet such standards if already
approved. There is a risk that we and our collaborative partners may not be able to produce any of our potential products in commercial quantities at acceptable costs, or market
them successfully. Failure to achieve commercial feasibility, demonstrate safety, achieve clinical efficacy, obtain regulatory approval or, together with partners, successfully
market products will negatively impact our revenues and results of operations.

If our research and development efforts are delayed or unsuccessful, then we will experience delay or be unsuccessful in having our products commercialized, and our
business will suffer.

        Except for our products that have already been approved by the FDA or submitted for approval by the FDA, our product candidates are still in research and development,
including preclinical testing and clinical trials. Preclinical testing and clinical trials are long, expensive and uncertain processes. It may take us or our collaborators several years
to complete this testing, and failure can occur at any stage in the process. Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be
successful. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in later stage clinical trials, even after promising
results in earlier trials.

        Any clinical trial may fail to produce results satisfactory to us, our collaborative partners or the FDA. Preclinical and clinical data can be interpreted in different ways,
which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval or commercialization. Negative or inconclusive results or adverse medical events during a clinical trial could cause a
clinical trial to be repeated or a program to be terminated. We typically rely on collaborative partners and third-party clinical investigators to conduct clinical trials of our
products and, as a result, we may face additional delaying factors outside our control.
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        We do not know if any of our research and development efforts, including preclinical testing or clinical trials will adhere to our planned schedules or be completed on a
timely basis or at all. Typically, there is a high rate of attrition for product candidates in preclinical and clinical trials.

If our drug delivery technologies do not satisfy certain basic feasibility requirements such as total system efficiency, then our products may not be competitive.

        We may not be able to achieve the total system efficiency for products based on our pulmonary delivery systems that is needed to be competitive with alternative routes of
delivery or formulation technologies. We determine total system efficiency by the amount of drug loss during manufacture, in the delivery system, and in reaching the ultimate
site at which the drug exhibits its activity.

        Deep lung bioavailability is the percentage of a drug that is absorbed into the bloodstream when that drug is delivered directly to the lungs as compared to when the drug is
delivered by injection. Relative bioavailability is the initial screen for determining whether deep lung delivery of any drug, based on our pulmonary delivery systems, is
commercially feasible. We would not consider a drug to be a good candidate for development and commercialization using our pulmonary delivery systems if drug loss is
excessive at any one stage or cumulatively in the manufacturing and delivery process.

        Our ability to efficiently attach PEG polymer chains to a drug molecule is the initial screen for determining whether drug formulations using our advanced PEGylation
technology are commercially feasible. We would not consider a drug formulation to be a good candidate for development and commercialization using our advanced
PEGylation technology if we could not efficiently attach a PEG polymer chain to such drug without destroying or impairing the drug's activity.

        For our supercritical fluids technology, solubility characteristics of a drug and the solvents, which may be incorporated in the manufacturing process, provide the initial
screen for whether drug formulations using this technology are commercially feasible. We would not consider a drug to be a good candidate for this technology if its solubility
characteristics were such that the application of our technology results in very low efficiency in manufacturing of drug powders.

If our drug formulations are not stable, then we will not be able to develop or commercialize products.

        We may not be able to identify and produce powdered or other formulations of drugs that retain the physical and chemical properties needed to work effectively with our
inhaler devices for deep lung delivery using our pulmonary delivery systems, or through other methods of drug delivery using advanced PEGylation or supercritical fluids
technologies. Formulation stability is the physical and chemical stability of the drug over time and under various storage, shipping and usage conditions. Formulation stability
will vary with each drug formulation and the type and amount of ingredients that are used in the formulation. Since our drug formulation technology is new and largely
unproven, we do not know if our drug formulations will retain the needed physical and chemical properties and performance of the drugs. Problems with formulated drug
powder stability in particular would negatively impact our ability to develop products based on our pulmonary delivery systems or supercritical fluids technology, or obtain
regulatory approval for or market such products.

If our drug delivery technologies are not safe, then regulatory approval of our products may not be obtained, or our products may not be developed or marketed.

        We or our collaborative partners may not be able to prove that potential products using our drug delivery technologies are safe. Our products require lengthy laboratory,
animal and human testing. Most of our products are in preclinical testing or the early stage of human testing. Since most of our products are in an early stage of testing and have
not completed clinical trials, we cannot be certain that these products, and our technology that developed these products, are safe or will not produce unacceptable adverse side
effects. The safety of our formulations will vary with each drug and the ingredients used in our
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formulation. If any product is found not to be safe, the product will not be approved for marketing or commercialization.



If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities.

        The manufacture, testing, marketing and sale of medical products entail an inherent risk of product liability. If product liability costs exceed our liability insurance
coverage, we may incur substantial liabilities. Whether or not we were ultimately successful in product liability litigation, such litigation would consume substantial amounts of
our financial and managerial resources, and might result in adverse publicity, all of which would impair our business. We may not be able to maintain our clinical trial insurance
or product liability insurance at an acceptable cost, if at all, and this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential claims or losses.

If our products using our pulmonary delivery systems do not provide consistent doses of medicine, then we will not be able to develop, obtain regulatory approval for
and commercialize products.

        We may not be able to provide reproducible dosing of stable formulations of drug compounds. Reproducible dosing is the ability to deliver a consistent and predictable
amount of drug into the bloodstream over time both for a single patient and across patient groups. Reproducible dosing of drugs based on our pulmonary delivery systems
requires the development of:

• an inhalation or other device that consistently delivers predictable amounts of dry powder to the deep lung; 

• accurate unit dose packaging of dry powder; and 

• moisture resistant packaging.

        Since our pulmonary delivery systems are still in development and are yet to be used in commercialized products, we cannot be certain that we will be able to develop
reproducible dosing of any potential product. The failure to do so means that we would not consider such a product as a good candidate for development and commercialization.

If we or our partners do not obtain regulatory approval for our products on a timely basis, then our revenues and results of operations may be affected negatively.

        There is a risk that we or our partners will not obtain regulatory approval for our unapproved products on a timely basis, or at all. Our unapproved products must undergo
rigorous animal and human testing and an extensive FDA mandated or equivalent foreign authorities review process. This process generally takes a number of years and
requires the expenditure of substantial resources and the time required for completing such testing and obtaining such approvals is uncertain. The FDA and other U.S. and
foreign regulatory agencies also have substantial discretion to terminate clinical trials, require additional testing, delay or withhold registration and marketing approval and
mandate product withdrawals including recalls. The FDA has approved for marketing five products with our advanced PEGylation technology for specific uses in the United
States. Further, another product using our advanced PEGylation technology has been approved in Europe. Even though our partners have obtained regulatory approval for some
of our products, these products and our manufacturing processes are subject to continued review by the FDA and other regulatory authorities. Even if our partners receive
regulatory approval of a product, the approval may limit the indicated uses for which our partners may market the product. In addition, our partners' marketed products, our
manufacturing facilities and we, as the manufacturer in certain instances, will be subject to continual review and periodic inspections. Later discovery from such review and
inspection of previously unknown problems may result in restrictions on our partners' products or on us, including withdrawal of our partners' products from the market. The
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failure to obtain timely regulatory approval of our partners' products, any product marketing limitations or a product withdrawal would negatively impact our revenues and
results of operations.

        In addition, we may encounter delays or rejections based upon changes in FDA regulations or policies, including policy relating to current good manufacturing practice
compliance, or "cGMP", during the period of product development. We may encounter similar delays in other countries.

If our technologies cannot be integrated successfully to bring products to market, then our ability to develop, and our partners' ability to obtain approval or market
our products, may be delayed or unsuccessful.

        We may not be able to integrate all of the relevant technologies to provide complete drug delivery and formulation systems. In particular, our development of drugs based
on our pulmonary delivery systems relies upon several different but related technologies:

• dry powder formulations; 

• dry powder processing technology; 

• dry powder packaging technology; and 

• deep lung delivery devices.

        Our other technologies may face similar challenges relating to the integration of drug formulation, processing, packaging and delivery device technologies. At the same
time we must:

• establish collaborations with partners; 

• perform laboratory and clinical testing of potential products; and 

• scale-up our manufacturing processes.

        We must accomplish all of these steps without delaying any aspect of technology development. Any delay in one component of product or business development could
delay our ability to develop, and our partners' ability to obtain approval or market products using our delivery and formulation technologies.

If we are not able to manufacture our products in commercially feasible quantities or at commercially feasible costs, then our products will not be successfully
commercialized.

Advanced PEGylation and Supercritical Fluids Technologies

        Except for the five approved products incorporating our advanced PEGylation technology, all of the drug formulations with which we are incorporating our advanced
PEGylation and supercritical fluids technologies are in various stages of feasibility testing or human clinical trials. We anticipate having to expand our advanced PEGylation
technology as well as supercritical fluids technology manufacturing facilities. If we are not able to scale-up to large clinical trials or commercial manufacturing for products
incorporating either of these technologies in a timely manner or at a commercially reasonable cost, we risk not meeting our customers' supply requirements or our contractual



obligations. Our failure to solve any of these problems could delay or prevent late stage clinical testing and commercialization of our products and could negatively impact our
revenues and results of operations.

Pulmonary Delivery Systems

        Powder Processing.    We have no experience manufacturing powder processing products for commercial purposes. With respect to drugs based on our pulmonary delivery
systems, we have only performed powder processing on the scale needed for testing formulations, and for early stage and larger clinical trials. We may encounter manufacturing
and control problems as we attempt to scale-up powder
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processing facilities. We may not be able to achieve such scale-up in a timely manner or at a commercially reasonable cost, if at all, and the powder processing system we
implement may not be applicable for other drugs. Our failure to solve any of these problems could delay or prevent some late stage clinical testing and commercialization of our
products and could negatively impact our revenues and results of operations.

        To date, we rely primarily on one particular method of powder processing. There is a risk that this technology will not work with all drugs or that the cost of drug
production will preclude the commercial viability of certain drugs. Additionally, there is a risk that any alternative powder processing methods we may pursue will not be
commercially practical for aerosol drugs or that we will not have, or be able to acquire the rights to use, such alternative methods.

        Powder Packaging.    Our fine particle powders and small quantity packaging utilized for drugs based on our pulmonary delivery systems require special handling. We
have designed and qualified automated filling equipment for small and moderate quantity packaging of fine powders. We face significant technical challenges in scaling-up an
automated filling system that can handle the small dose and particle sizes of our powders in commercial quantities. There is a risk that we will not be able to scale-up our
automated filling equipment in a timely manner or at commercially reasonable costs. Any failure or delay in such scale-up would delay product development or bar
commercialization of products based on our pulmonary delivery systems and would negatively impact our revenues and results of operations.

        There can be no assurance we will be able to successfully manufacture product on our autofiller system in a timely manner or at a commercially reasonable cost; any delay
or failure in further developing such technology would delay product development or inhibit commercialization of our products and would have a materially adverse effect on
us.

        Inhaler Devices.    We face many technical challenges in developing our pulmonary inhaler devices to work with a broad range of drugs, to produce such devices in
sufficient quantities and to adapt the devices to different powder formulations. Our inhaler device being used with the Exubera inhaleable insulin product is still in clinical
testing and production scale-up work is underway. Further design and development work is underway to enable commercial manufacturing and additional work may be required
to optimize the device for regulatory approval, field reliability or other issues that may be important to its commercial success. Additional design and development work may
lead to a delay in regulatory approval and delay efforts to seek regulatory approval for any product that incorporates the device or the time the device could be ready for
commercial launch. In addition, we are attempting to develop a smaller inhaler device, which presents particular technical challenges. There is a risk that we will not
successfully achieve any of these challenges. Our failure to overcome any of these challenges would negatively impact our revenues and results of operations.

        For late stage clinical trials and initial commercial production, we intend to use one or more contract manufacturers to produce our pulmonary inhaler devices. There is a
risk that we will not be able to maintain arrangements with our contract manufacturers on commercially acceptable terms or at all, or effectively scale-up production of our
pulmonary inhaler devices through contract manufacturers. Our failure to do so would negatively impact our revenues and results of operations. Dependence on third parties for
the manufacture of our pulmonary inhaler devices and their supply chain may adversely affect our cost of goods and ability to develop and commercialize products on a timely
or competitive basis. Because our manufacturing processes and those of our contract manufacturers are very complex and subject to lengthy governmental approval processes,
alternative qualified production sources or capacity may not be available on a timely basis or at all. Disruptions or delays in our manufacturing processes or those of our contract
manufacturers for existing or new products could result in increased costs, loss of revenues or market share, or damage to our reputation.

        There is no assurance that devices designed by us and built by contract manufacturers will be approved or will meet approval requirements on a timely basis or at all, or
that any of our device development will be successful or commercially viable.
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We depend on sole or exclusive suppliers for our pulmonary inhaler devices, bulk active pharmaceutical ingredients and PEG polymer chains and if such suppliers
fail to supply when required, then our product development efforts may be delayed or unsuccessful.

        We agreed to subcontract the manufacture of our pulmonary inhaler being used with the Exubera inhaleable insulin product before commercial production of that product.
We have identified contract manufacturers that we believe have the technical capabilities and production capacity to manufacture such device and which can meet the
requirements of cGMP. We are not certain that we will be able to maintain satisfactory contract manufacturing on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. Our dependence on
third parties for the manufacture of our pulmonary inhaler may negatively impact our cost of goods and our ability to develop and commercialize products based on our
pulmonary delivery systems on a timely and competitive basis.

        For the most part, we obtain the bulk active pharmaceutical ingredients we use to manufacture products using our technologies from sole or exclusive sources of supply.
For example, with respect to our source of bulk insulin, we have entered into a collaborative agreement with Pfizer which has, in turn, entered into an agreement with Aventis
Pharma to manufacture regular human insulin. Under the terms of their agreement, Pfizer and Aventis Pharma agreed to construct a jointly owned manufacturing plant in
Frankfurt, Germany. Until needed, Pfizer will provide us with insulin from Aventis Pharma's existing plant. We have also entered into an agreement with one supplier for a
significant portion of the PEG polymer chains we use in our products that incorporate our advanced PEGylation technology. NOF Corporation is our predominant supplier of
pharmaceutical grade PEGylation materials pursuant to an exclusive supply agreement.

        If our sole or exclusive source suppliers fail to provide either active pharmaceutical ingredients or PEGylation materials in sufficient quantities when required, our revenues
and results of operations will be negatively impacted.

If the market does not accept products using our drug delivery technologies, then our revenues and results of operations will be adversely affected.

        The commercial success of our potential products depends upon market acceptance by health care providers, third-party payors like health insurance companies and
Medicare and patients. Our products under development use new drug delivery technologies and there is a risk that our potential products will not be accepted by the market.
Market acceptance will depend on many factors, including:

• the safety and efficacy of products demonstrated in clinical trials; 

• favorable regulatory approval and product labeling; 



• the frequency of product use; 

• the availability of third-party reimbursement; 

• the availability of alternative technologies; and 

• the price of our products relative to alternative technologies.

        There is a risk that health care providers, patients or third-party payors will not accept product using our drug delivery and formulation technologies. If the market does not
accept our potential products, our revenues and results of operations would be significantly and negatively impacted.

If our products are not cost effective, then government and private insurance plans may not pay for them.

        In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our products under development will depend in part upon the availability of reimbursement from third-party payors, such as
government health administration
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authorities, managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations. In addition, such third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price and cost
effectiveness of medical products and services. Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved health care products. Legislation and regulations
affecting the pricing of pharmaceuticals may change before regulatory agencies approve our proposed products for marketing. Adoption of such legislation and regulations
could further limit reimbursement for medical products. A government or third-party payor decision to not provide adequate coverage and reimbursements for our products
would limit market acceptance of such products.

If our competitors develop and sell better drug delivery and formulation technologies, then our products or technologies may be uncompetitive or obsolete and our
revenues and results of operations will be adversely affected.

        We are aware of other companies engaged in developing and commercializing drug delivery and formulation technologies similar to ours. Some of our competitors with
regard to our pulmonary delivery systems include AeroGen, Inc., Alkermes, Inc. and Aradigm Corporation. Aerogen and Aradigm are developing liquid drug delivery systems,
and Alkermes is working on a dry powder delivery system. Our competitors with regard to our advanced PEGylation technology include Valentis, Inc., Mountain View
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SunBio PEG-SHOP, as well as several pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies with in-house PEGylation expertise. Some of our competitors
with regard to our supercritical fluids technology include Alkermes, Battelle Memorial Institute, Ethypharm SA, Ferro Corp., Lavipharm SA and RxKinetics. Some of these
companies license or provide the technology to other companies, while others are developing the technology for internal use. Many of these companies have greater research
and development capabilities, experience, manufacturing, marketing, financial and managerial resources than we do and represent significant competition for us. Acquisitions of
or collaborations with competing drug delivery companies by large pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies could enhance our competitors' financial, marketing and other
resources. Accordingly, our competitors may succeed in developing competing technologies, obtaining regulatory approval for products or gaining market acceptance before us.
Developments by others could make our products or technologies uncompetitive or obsolete. Our competitors may introduce products or processes competitive with or superior
to ours.

If any of our patents are invalid or pending patents do not issue or following issuance are deemed not valid, then we may lose key intellectual property right
protection. If our products infringe on third-party's rights, then we will suffer adverse effects on our ability to develop and commercialize products as well as our
revenues and results of operations.

        We have filed patent applications covering certain aspects of our inhalation devices, powder processing technology, powder formulations and deep lung route of delivery
for certain molecules as well as for our advanced PEGylation and supercritical fluids technologies, and we plan to file additional patent applications. We currently have 401
issued U.S. and foreign patents that cover certain aspects of our technologies and we have a number of patent applications pending. There is a risk that many of the patents
applied for will not issue, or that any patents that issue or have issued will not be held valid and enforceable. Enforcing our patent rights would be time consuming and costly.

        Our access or our partners' access to the drugs to be formulated using our technologies will affect our ability to develop and commercialize our technologies. Many drugs,
including powder formulations of certain drugs that are presently under development by us, and our drug formulation technologies are subject to issued and pending U.S. and
foreign patents that may be owned by competitors. We know that there are issued patents and pending patent applications relating to the formulation and delivery of large and
small molecule drugs, including several for which we are developing formulations using our various technologies. This situation is highly complex, and the ability of any one
company, including us, to commercialize a particular drug is unpredictable.
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        We intend generally to rely on the ability of our partners to provide access to the drugs that we formulate for deep lung and other forms of delivery. There is a risk that our
partners will not be able to provide access to such drug candidates. Even if our partners provide such access, there is a risk that third parties will accuse, and possibly a court or a
governmental agency will determine, our partners or us to be infringing a third-party's patent rights, and we will be prohibited from working with the drug or be found liable for
damages that may not be subject to indemnification, or we may choose to pay such third party royalties under a license to such patent rights. Any such restriction on access to
drug candidates, liability for damages or payment of royalties would negatively impact our revenues and results of operations.

We may incur material litigation costs which may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

        We are party to various litigation matters including, several which relate to our patent and intellectual property rights. We cannot predict with certainty the eventual
outcome of any pending litigation or potential future litigation, and we might have to incur substantial expense in defending these or future lawsuits or indemnifying third
parties with respect to the results of such litigation.

If earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes and other catastrophic events strike, our business may be negatively affected.

        Our corporate headquarters, including a substantial portion of our research and development operations, are located in the Silicon Valley area of Northern California, a
region known for seismic activity. A significant natural disaster such as an earthquake could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial
condition. Certain of our other facilities, such as our facility in Huntsville, Alabama and certain of our collaborative partners located elsewhere may also be subject to
catastrophic events such as hurricanes and tornadoes, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Investors should be aware of industry-wide risks, which are applicable to us and may affect our revenues and results of operations.



        In addition to the risks associated specifically with us described above, investors should also be aware of general risks associated with drug development and the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. These include, but are not limited to:

• changes in and compliance with government regulations; 

• handling and disposal of hazardous materials; 

• workplace health and safety requirements; 

• hiring and retaining qualified people; and 

• insuring against product liability claims.

If we do not generate sufficient cash flow through increased revenues or raising additional capital, then we may not be able to meet our substantial debt obligations.

        As of December 31, 2002, we had approximately $299.2 million in long term convertible subordinated notes and debentures, $31.9 million in noncurrent capital lease
obligations and $3.2 million in other long-term liabilities. Our substantial indebtedness has and will continue to impact us by:

• making it more difficult to obtain additional financing; and 

• constraining our ability to react quickly in an unfavorable economic climate.
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        Currently, we are not generating positive cash flow. Delay in the approval of Exubera will adversely impact our ability to meet our obligations to repay the principal
amounts on our convertible notes and debentures when due. In addition, because of the decline in the market price of our Common Stock, it has become highly unlikely that the
holders of our convertible notes and debentures will convert such securities to equity in accordance with their existing terms. If we are unable to satisfy our debt service
requirements, substantial liquidity problems could result. As of December 31, 2002 we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments valued at approximately
$294.0 million. We expect to use substantially all of these assets to fund our on-going operations over the next few years. In October 2006, we will have an obligation to repay
$7.8 million, in February 2007, we will have an obligation to repay $61.4 million and in October 2007, we will have an obligation to repay $230.0 million of our long-term
convertible subordinated notes and debentures. We may not generate sufficient cash from operations to satisfy these significant obligations when they become due and may have
to raise additional financing from the sale of equity or debt securities or otherwise restructure our obligations in order to do so. There can no assurance that any such financing
or restructuring will be available to us on commercially acceptable terms, if at all.

If we cannot raise additional capital our financial condition may suffer.

        We forecast that our existing capital resources will enable us to maintain currently planned operations through at least the next two years. However, this expectation is
based on our current operating plan, which may change as a result of certain factors, and may result in additional funding requirements sooner than anticipated. In addition, we
may choose to raise additional capital due to market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.
To the extent that additional capital is raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of such securities could result in dilution to our stockholders.

        We have no material credit facility or other material committed sources of capital. To the extent operating and capital resources are insufficient to meet future requirements,
we will have to raise additional funds to continue the development and commercialization of our technologies and products. Such funds may not be available on favorable
terms, or at all. In particular, our substantial leverage may limit our ability to obtain additional financing. In addition, as an early stage biotechnology company, we do not
qualify to issue investment grade debt and therefore any financing we do undertake will likely involve the issuance of equity, convertible debt instruments or high-yield debt.
These sources of capital may not be available to us in the event additional financing is required. If adequate funds are not available on reasonable terms, we may be required to
curtail operations significantly or to obtain funds by entering into financing, supply or collaboration agreements on unattractive terms. Our inability to raise capital could
negatively impact our business.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our business may suffer.

        Our ability to offer commercially viable products, achieve our expansion objectives, manage our growth effectively and satisfy our commitments under our collaboration
agreements depends on a variety of factors, all of which must be successfully managed. Key factors include our ability to develop products internally, enter into strategic
partnerships with collaborators, attract and retain skilled employees and effectively expand our internal organization to accommodate anticipated growth including integration of
any potential businesses that we may acquire. If we are unable to manage some or all of these factors effectively, our business could grow too slowly or too quickly to be
successfully sustained, thereby resulting in material adverse effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we do not effectively integrate personnel and operations relating to our acquisitions of Bradford Particle Design and Shearwater, our business and management
may suffer disruptions.

        Our relatively recent acquisitions of Bradford Particle Design and Shearwater may present unique risks related to our business. We may not be able to successfully
assimilate the additional personnel,
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operations, acquired technology and products into our business. In particular, we need to assimilate and retain key management, research and engineering personnel. Key
personnel from acquired companies such as Bradford Particle Design and Shearwater often decide to pursue other opportunities. In addition, there may be complications if we
attempt to integrate any of the technology acquired from these companies with our other technologies, and it is uncertain whether we may accomplish this easily or at all. These
integration difficulties could disrupt our ongoing business, distract management and employees or increase expenses. Acquisitions are inherently risky, and we may also face
unexpected costs, which may adversely affect operating results in any quarter. Additionally we face additional risks related to cross-border acquisitions and international
operations, including foreign legal and regulatory restrictions and potential economic instability. Due diligence conducted in connection with our acquisitions may not have
uncovered all the potential problems or liabilities we may have assumed in these transactions. Any of these risks could have a significant impact on our ability to continue our
research and development efforts, and regulatory and commercialization efforts on a competitive and timely basis.

If we acquire additional companies, products or technologies, we may face risks similar to those faced in our other acquisitions.

        We may continue to acquire or make investments in complementary companies, products or technologies. We may not realize the anticipated benefits of any other
acquisition or investment. If we acquire another company, we will likely face some or all of the same risks, uncertainties, earnings and disruptions as discussed above with



respect to our recent acquisitions. We may face risks relating to difficult integrations of personnel, technology and operations, uncertainty whether any integration will be
successful and whether earnings will be negatively affected, and potential distractions to our management with respect to these acquisitions. In addition, our earnings may suffer
because of acquisition-related costs.

We expect to continue to lose money for the next few years and may not reach profitability if our products do not generate sufficient revenue.

        We have never been profitable and, through December 31, 2002 we have an accumulated deficit of approximately $549.3 million. We expect to continue to incur
substantial and potentially increasing losses over at least the next few years as we expand our research and development efforts, testing activities and manufacturing operations,
and as we further expand our late stage clinical and early commercial production facility. Most of our potential products are in the early stages of development. Except for the
approved products incorporating our advanced PEGylation technology, we have generated no revenues from product sales. Our revenues to date have consisted primarily of
payments under short-term research and feasibility agreements and development contracts. To achieve and sustain profitable operations, we must, alone or with others,
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for, manufacture, introduce, market and sell products using our drug delivery technologies. There is risk that we will not
generate sufficient product or contract research revenue to become profitable or to sustain profitability.

We expect our stock price to remain volatile.

        Our stock price is volatile. In the last twelve-month period ending February 28, 2003, based on closing prices on the NASDAQ National Market, our stock price ranged
from $4.13 to $12.99. We expect it to remain volatile. A variety of factors may have a significant effect on the market price of our common stock, including:

• clinical trial results or product development delays or delays in product approval or launch; 

• announcements by collaboration partners as to their plan or expectations related to products using our technologies; 

• announcement or termination of collaborative relationships by us or our competitors;
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• fluctuations in our operating results; 

• developments in patent or other proprietary rights; 

• announcements of technological innovations or new therapeutic products; 

• governmental regulation; 

• public concern as to the safety of drug formulations developed by us or others; and 

• general market conditions.

        Any litigation brought against us as a result of this volatility could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management's attention and resources, which could
negatively impact our financial condition, revenues and results of operations.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law may make it more difficult to acquire us, even though such anti-takeover provisions may
be beneficial to our stockholders.

        Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even though
such anti-takeover provisions may be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions include:

• establishment of a classified board of directors such that not all members of the board may be elected at one time; 

• lack of a provision for cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow less than a majority of stockholders to elect director
candidates; 

• the ability of our board to authorize the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock to increase the number of outstanding shares and thwart a takeover attempt; 

• prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of stockholders; 

• establishment of advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings; and 

• limitations on who may call a special meeting of stockholders.

        Further, we have in place a preferred share purchase rights plan, commonly known as a "poison pill." The provisions described above, our "poison pill" and provisions of
the Delaware Law relating to business combinations with interested stockholders may discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us. These provisions may
discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring a large portion of our securities, or initiating a tender offer or proxy contest, even if our stockholders might receive a
premium for their shares in the acquisition over then current market prices.

Item 2. Properties 

        We currently lease facilities in San Carlos and Palo Alto, California, two facilities in Huntsville, Alabama and a complex in Bradford, England.

        We currently occupy a facility in San Carlos that covers approximately 230,000 square feet and is leased pursuant to a 15-year lease agreement expiring in October 2011.
This facility serves as our corporate headquarters and is used for research and development, manufacturing and administration. This manufacturing facility operates under
cGMP and has been approved and licensed by the State of California to manufacture clinical supplies for use in human clinical trials.
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        In October 1999, we commenced construction of a second San Carlos facility on a 4.7-acre parcel of land that we had acquired in October 1998, in order to expand our
administrative offices and research and development capacity. This facility consists of approximately 170,000 square feet. In October 2000, we leased back the facility pursuant
to a build-to-suit lease agreement for a 16-year term, with a 10-year option and a second 8-year option to extend the lease. In November 2000 we took occupancy of
approximately 80,000 square feet of this facility. In October 2001, we leased an additional 45,600 square feet in this facility and declined an option to lease an additional 46,500
square feet.

        Our Palo Alto facility is currently subleased to another entity. The lease covers approximately 20,000 square feet, has a five-year term, and expires on May 31, 2003. We do
not intend to renew the lease on this facility.

        We have two locations in Huntsville, Alabama related to our Nektar Molecule Engineering operations. Our Church Street location is the site for the manufacture of PEG
derivatives and is approximately 35,000 square feet with a lease term expiring in June 2009. Our Discovery Drive location is approximately 50,000 square feet and is owned by
us. This facility houses research and development and administrative offices.

        We currently occupy a complex in Bradford, England that covers approximately 17,500 square feet, consisting of several units with varying lease terms through 2009. This
facility is used for research and development, clinical research and administration related to our supercritical fluids technology.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

        On August 30, 2002, a complaint was filed by David F. Kachensky in the Circuit Court of Madison County, Alabama, against J. Milton Harris, James R. Hudson, Jr.,
Shearwater Corporation and Nektar Therapeutics AL, Corporation, as the successor corporation to Shearwater. Dr. Harris is the president of our Nektar Therapeutics AL,
Corporation. Among other things, the Complaint alleges that the Defendants breached an agreement allegedly entered into by and between certain of the defendants and the
plaintiff prior to our acquisition of Shearwater, whereby the defendants allegedly agreed, among other things, to convey to the plaintiff five percent (5%) of the capital stock of
Shearwater outstanding as of December 1997 in exchange for certain work and consideration from plaintiff. The Complaint seeks damages in the amount of approximately
$15 million. On October 7, 2002, the defendants filed answers to the Complaint denying the allegations and asserting affirmative defenses. Discovery is underway, and no trial
date has been set. We have denied the allegations in the Complaint and intend to vigorously defend ourselves in the litigation, including filing motions for summary judgment. A
mediation is scheduled in this matter for April 2, 2003.

        From time to time, we may be involved in other lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, consisting of intellectual property, commercial, employment and other
matters, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, we
make a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can reasonable estimate. These provisions are reviewed at
least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, ruling, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case.
Litigation is inherently unpredictable. However, we believe that we have valid defenses with respect to the legal matters pending against us, as well as adequate provisions for
any probably and estimable losses. If any unfavorable ruling were to occur in any specific period, there exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on the results of
operations of that period. We believe that, given our current liquidity and cash and investment balances, even if we receive an adverse judgment with respect to litigation that we
are currently a party to, such judgment would not have a material impact on cash and investments or liquidity.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

        No matters were submitted to a vote of our shareholders in the quarter ended December 31, 2002.
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters 

        Our Common Stock trades on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol NKTR. The table below sets forth the high and low closing sales prices for our Common
Stock (as reported on the NASDAQ National Market) during the periods indicated.

  

Price Range of Common Stock

  

High

 

Low

Year Ended December 31, 2001:       
1st Quarter  $ 48.250 $ 17.125

2nd Quarter   35.470  18.375

3rd Quarter   23.910  11.010

4th Quarter   19.470  13.130

Year Ended December 31, 2002:       

1st Quarter  $ 18.220 $ 9.950

2nd Quarter   10.520  5.860

3rd Quarter   8.390  4.130

4th Quarter   9.130  4.920

        As of February 28, 2003, there were approximately 362 holders of record of our Common Stock. We have not paid any cash dividends since our inception and do not intend
to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

        In June 2002, July 2002 and December 2002 we issued 32,288, 35,352 and 72,419, respectively shares of our Common Stock, to AFAC Equity L.P. ("AFAC"), an affiliated
partnership of McKinsey & Company, Inc. United States in connection with certain consulting services provided to us by McKinsey from April through October 2002. In
addition to the issuance of our Common Stock and in consideration for professional fees and expenses rendered in connection with the consulting services provided, we paid
McKinsey an aggregate total of $1.5 million in cash. Under the terms of the consulting arrangement, McKinsey and its affiliates have certain registration rights whereby we may
be required to register the Common Stock acquired in the event that we file a registration statement with the SEC in connection with an underwritten public offering of our
Common Stock. We issued these shares in a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the 1933 Act pursuant to Regulation D promulgated under the
1933 Act. AFAC made certain representation and warranties regarding its intent to acquire the common stock for investment only and not with a view to distribution, and also



represented that it was an "accredited investor" as that term is defined under Rule 501 of Regulation D. Appropriate legends are affixed to the certificates representing the shares
of Common Stock acquired.

        On January 25, 2002, we filed a Schedule TO with the SEC announcing our offer to certain Nektar employees (officers and directors were excluded) to exchange certain
options to purchase shares of our Common Stock granted prior to July 24, 2001 with exercise prices greater than or equal to $25.00 per share currently outstanding under our
2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Eligible Options"), for replacement options (the "Replacement Options") to purchase shares of our Common Stock to
be granted under the 2000 Non-Officer Plan Equity Incentive Plan (the "2000 Non-Officer Plan"). We conducted the exchange with respect to the Eligible Options on a one-for-
two (1:2) basis. If an employee accepted this offer with respect to any Eligible Option, such employee also was obligated to exchange all options to acquire our Common Stock
granted to such employee on or after July 24, 2001 (the "Mandatory Exchange Options"). We conducted the exchange with respect to Mandatory Exchange
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Options on a one-for-one (1:1) basis. On March 18, 2002, we filed an Amendment No. 2 to Schedule TO announcing that 90 employees participated in the exchange offer,
exchanging 1,217,500 Eligible Options and 78,170 Mandatory Exchange Options to purchase shares of our Common Stock. We issued Replacement Options to purchase
686,920 shares of Common Stock on August 26, 2002 at an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company's Common Stock as reported on the NASDAQ National
Market on the last market trading day prior to the date of grant ($7.31).

        In January 2002, we announced a strategic alliance with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. that included an agreement making Nektar solely responsible for licensing Enzon's
PEGylation patents, an option for Enzon to license Nektar's PEGylation patents, an agreement to explore the development of non-invasive delivery of single-chain antibody and
other products via the pulmonary route and settlement of a patent infringement litigation originally filed by Enzon against Nektar AL. As part of this alliance, we also entered
into a preferred stock purchase agreement with Enzon in which Enzon purchased 40,000 shares of our Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the "Preferred Stock") at a purchase
price of $1,000 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $40.0 million. The Preferred Stock is convertible, in whole or in part, into that number of shares of Common Stock
(the "Conversion Shares") equal to the quotient of $1,000 per share divided by the conversion Price. The "Conversion Price" is initially equal to $22.79 per share or 125% of the
average of our closing bid prices as listed on the NASDAQ National Market for the 20 trading days preceding the date of the closing of the transaction (the "Closing Price").
The Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder after the first anniversary of the original issuance of the Preferred Stock (the "Original Issue Date") or, if earlier,
upon a change in control. Except with respect to an automatic conversion, the Conversion Price is equal to 125% of the Closing Price until the third anniversary of the Original
Issue Date. Upon the third anniversary of the Original Issue Date, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted to be equal to either the following: (i) the Closing Price, in the event
that the average of the closing bid prices of our Common Stock as quoted on the NASDAQ national Market for the twenty (20) trading days preceding the third anniversary of
the original issuance (the "Future Price") is less than or equal to the Closing Price; (ii) the Future Price (as defined above) if the Future Price is greater than the Closing Price but
less than 125% of the Closing Price; or (iii) 125% of the Closing Price if the Future Price is equal to or greater than 125% of the Closing Price. To the extent not previously
converted, the Preferred Stock will automatically convert into our Common Stock, based on the then effective Conversion Price, upon the earliest of (i) the fourth anniversary of
the Original Issue Date; (ii) immediately prior to a change in control; or (iii) with the consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding Series B Preferred Stock
immediately prior to our liquidation, dissolution or winding up. In the event of an automatic conversion pursuant to a change in control, the adjustment mechanism described
above will be applied immediately prior to the automatic conversion. We issued these shares in a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the 1933 Act
pursuant to Regulation D promulgated under the 1933 Act. Under the terms of the agreement, we have agreed to use reasonable commercial efforts to prepare and file a
registration statement on Form S-3 (or Form S-1 in the event that Form S-3 registration is not available), at any time prior to the earlier of 60 days prior to the first anniversary
of the closing of the transaction, or upon the conversion of the Preferred Stock into our Common Stock.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data 

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(In thousands, except per share information) 

        The selected consolidated financial data set forth below should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes, "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and the other information contained in this Form 10-K.

  

Years Ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 

1998

 
Statement of Operations Data:                 
Revenue:                 
 Contract research revenue  $ 76,380 $ 68,899 $ 51,629 $ 41,358 $ 21,795 
 Product sales   18,465  8,569  —  —  — 
       
Total revenue   94,845  77,468  51,629  41,358  21,795 
Operating costs and expenses:                 
 Cost of goods sold   7,020  4,169  —  —  — 
 Research and development   157,383  139,651  100,779  64,035  35,398 
 General and administrative   26,016  18,861  13,932  7,869  8,387 
 Purchased-in-process research and development   —  146,260  2,292  9,890  — 
 Amortization of other intangible assets   4,507  3,012  453  —  — 
 Amortization of goodwill   —  22,478  312  48  — 
       
Total operating costs and expenses   194,926  334,431  117,768  81,842  43,785 

Loss from operations   (100,081)  (256,963)  (66,139)  (40,484)  (21,990)

Debt conversion premium, net   —  —  (40,687)  —  — 
Interest and other income (expense), net   (7,387)  6,955  9,423  2,036  3,634 
       
Net loss  $ (107,468) $ (250,008) $ (97,403) $ (38,448) $ (18,356)
       



Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (1.94) $ (4.71) $ (2.32) $ (1.13) $ (0.58)

 
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted net loss per
share(1)   55,282  53,136  41,998  34,016  31,438 

  

Years Ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 

1998

 
Balance Sheet Data:                 
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 293,969 $ 344,356 $ 484,841 $ 138,185 $ 82,862 
Working capital   247,324  301,642  462,840  122,239  71,784 
Total assets   606,638  667,241  629,540  226,806  134,496 
Long-term debt (excluding current portion)   35,021  37,130  20,118  4,895  4,940 
Convertible subordinated notes and debentures   299,149  299,149  299,149  108,450  — 
Accumulated deficit   (549,345)  (441,877)  (191,869)  (94,466)  (56,018)
Total stockholders' equity   206,770  270,313  277,833  86,629  115,881 

(1) Basic and diluted net loss per share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The shares shown above retroactively reflect a two-for-
one split, effective August 22, 2000.
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Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

        The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly financial data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2002. In our opinion, the unaudited information set forth
below has been prepared on the same basis as the audited information and includes all adjustments necessary to present fairly the information set forth herein. The operating
results for any quarter are not indicative of results for any future period. All data is in thousands except per share information.

  

Fiscal Year 2002

 

Fiscal Year 2001

 

  

Q1

 

Q2

 

Q3

 

Q4

 

Q1

 

Q2

 

Q3

 

Q4

 
Contract research revenue  $ 21,301 $ 18,828 $ 18,800 $ 17,451 $ 14,097 $ 16,799 $ 17,236 $ 20,767 
Product sales  $ 5,445 $ 3,423 $ 4,418 $ 5,179  —  — $ 5,169 $ 3,400 
Gross margin from product sales  $ 3,555 $ 1,750 $ 2,478 $ 3,662  —  — $ 3,190 $ 1,210 
Net loss  $ (25,056) $ (24,817) $ (26,521) $ (31,074) $ (81,041) $ (105,794) $ (26,921) $ (36,252)
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.45) $ (0.45) $ (0.48) $ (0.56) $ (1.59) $ (2.05) $ (0.49) $ (0.66)

        We have experienced fluctuations in our quarterly results. Our results have included costs associated with acquisitions of various technologies, increases in research and
development expenditures, and expansion of late stage clinical and early stage commercial manufacturing facilities. We expect these fluctuations to continue in the future. See
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for a discussion of our critical accounting policies.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

        The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed here.
Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this section as well as in Part I of this report under the heading
"Risk Factors."

Overview

        On January 15, 2003 we changed our name from Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc. to Nektar Therapeutics. We believe our new name better reflects our broadened
capabilities and approach to drug delivery. Our new corporate identity represents the integration of our three proprietary technology platforms developed through our internal
research and development efforts as well as our acquisitions of Shearwater Corporation (now referred to as Nektar AL) and Bradford Particle Design, Ltd. (now referred to as
Nektar UK).

        We are working to become one of the world's leading drug delivery products based companies by providing a portfolio of technologies and expertise that will enable us and
our pharmaceutical partners to improve drug performance throughout the drug development process. We have been unprofitable since inception and forecast incurring
substantial operating losses over the next few years. We forecast a decrease in internally funded research spending in the next three to five years, due to the combination of the
completion of scale up and commercial readiness spending, the shifting of infrastructure spending to cost of goods sold for commercial product sales, and the anticipated
partnering of our proprietary projects. To date, except for sales from four products using Nektar Molecule Engineering based on our advanced PEGylation technology, we have
not sold any commercial products and do not anticipate receiving significant revenue from product sales or royalties in the near future. For the period from inception through
December 31, 2002, we incurred a cumulative net loss of approximately $549.3 million. The sources of our working capital have been equity offerings and convertible debt
financings, financings of equipment acquisitions and tenant improvements, interest earned on investments of cash, and revenues from product sales, short-term research and
feasibility agreements and development contracts. To date we have been primarily dependent upon equity and convertible debt financings to fund our working capital.

        We have generally been compensated for research and development expenses during initial feasibility work performed under collaborative arrangements for all three of our
technologies: Nektar Molecule Engineering; Nektar Particle Engineering; and Nektar Delivery Solutions. In a typical collaboration, our partner will provide the drug, fund
clinical and formulation development, obtain regulatory approvals and market the resulting commercial product. We will supply the drug delivery approach and drug
formulation. We will receive revenues from drug formulation manufacturing and other manufacturing activities, as well as royalties from sales of most commercial products. In
addition, for products using Nektar Delivery Solutions technology, we expect to receive revenues from the supply of our pulmonary inhaler for the product along with any
applicable drug processing. Partners that enter into collaborative agreements generally fund research and development through expense reimbursements and /or payments as we
achieve certain key development and regulatory milestones. To achieve and sustain profitable operations, we, alone or with others, must successfully develop, obtain regulatory
approval for, manufacture, introduce, market and sell products using our drug delivery and other drug delivery systems. There can be no assurance that we can generate
sufficient product or contract research revenue to become profitable or to sustain profitability.

Recent Developments

        In March 2003, we announced that Pharmacia Corporation's Somavert® received FDA approval for the treatment of certain patients of acromegaly. This product has
already been approved in Europe. Under
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the terms of our agreement with Pharmacia, we will receive manufacturing revenue based on the sale of the PEG reagent.

        In March 2003, we announced we have created a new executive position to drive development and implementation of management and operations processes to achieve our
growth and profitability objectives. Brigid A. Makes, our former Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance and Administration, was named to this new senior
management position, Vice President of Operations Management. Ajay Bansal has joined us as our new Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance and
Administration.

        In January 2003, we announced an agreement with The Straumann Group to license, manufacture and supply our PEG-based hydrogel technology for dental regeneration
products. Under the agreement, Straumann will license and source our PEG-Based hydrogel technology material exclusively for proprietary formulation. We will receive
milestone and manufacturing payments as well as royalties on commercialized products.

        In January 2003, during Pfizer's quarterly financial results conference call, Pfizer commented that it would not file an NDA for approval of Exubera in 2003. There can be
no assurance that Pfizer will file for an NDA approval of Exubera and, if such filing is made, there can be no assurance that Pfizer will obtain FDA approval to market Exubera.
The failure to file for or obtain regulatory approval of Exubera would significantly harm our business.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS") No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS 146 provides guidance related to accounting for costs associated with disposal activities covered by SFAS 144 or with exit or
restructuring activities previously covered by Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3 ("EITF 94-3"), Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS 146 supersedes EITF 94-3 in its entirety. SFAS 146 requires that costs related to
exiting an activity or to a restructuring not be recognized until the liability is incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS 146 will be
applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 146 to have a significant impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

        In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation ("FIN") No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantees, and provides new disclosure requirements
regarding indemnification provisions, including indemnification provisions typically included in a license arrangement. It also clarifies that at the time a company issues a
guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value, or market value, of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee and that the company must
disclose that information in its financial statements. However, the provisions related to recognizing a liability at inception of the guarantee for the fair value of the guarantor's
obligations does not apply to product warranties or to guarantees accounted for as derivatives. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions apply on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements of FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending
after December 15, 2002 (See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Part II, Item 8, of this Form 10-K). We do not
expect the implementation of FIN 45 to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

        In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation to provide
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alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the
disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 and Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require disclosure in the summary of significant
accounting policies of the effects of an entity's accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on reported net income and earnings per share in annual
and interim financial statements. The statement does not amend SFAS 123 to require companies to account for employee stock options using the fair value method. The
Statement's amendment of the transition and annual disclosure requirement of SFAS 123 are effective for the fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The interim
disclosure provisions are effective for financial reports containing financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002. We do not expect the adoption of
SFAS 148 to have a material effect on our financial conditions and results of operations. We have elected to continue to follow the intrinsic value method of accounting as
prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employee, to account for employee stock options.

        In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. FIN 46 requires a variable interest entity to be consolidated by the primary
beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity
to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN 46 is effective for all new variable interest entities created or acquired after
January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the provision of FIN 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period
beginning after June 15, 2003. In October 2000, we entered into a build-to-suit lease transaction with a real estate partnership to finance and manage construction of our San
Carlos research and office facility. We have fully consolidated this entity into our consolidated financial statements since inception. Accordingly, we do not expect the adoption
of FIN 46 to have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies

        Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. It requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

        We consider certain accounting policies related to revenue recognition, stock based compensation, impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, and accrued liabilities to
be critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

        Contract revenue from collaborative research agreements is recorded when earned based on the performance requirements of the contract. Revenue from non-refundable
upfront license fees and certain guaranteed payments where we continue involvement through collaborative development are deferred and recognized as revenue over the period
of continuing involvement. Revenue from grants and feasibility arrangements are recognized when the cash has been received and the final product has been delivered to the
customer. Our research revenue is derived primarily from clients in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries and consists of reimbursement of development costs,
reimbursement of certain expenses, payment of clinical supplies and amortization of milestones. Payments received for milestones achieved are deferred and recorded as
revenue ratably over the next period of continued development.
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        Revenue from product sales is recorded when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed and determinable and
collectability is reasonably assured. Allowances, if any, are established for uncollectible amounts, estimated product returns and discounts.

        Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned are classified as deferred revenue until earned.

Stock Based Compensation

        We grant stock options to our employees at an exercise price equal to the fair value of the shares at the date of grant and we account for these stock option grants in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees ("APB 25") and related interpretations. Under APB 25, when stock options are issued with an
exercise price equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized in the income statement.

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

        In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 142 on Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, assembled workforce was reclassified as
goodwill and is subject to an impairment assessment. We have adopted a policy for measuring goodwill on an annual basis and between annual tests in certain circumstances. To
date, no such impairment losses have been recorded. Our goodwill balance decreased from December 31, 2001 due to certain purchase price adjustments related to our
acquisition of Shearwater.

        In accordance with the new accounting standard adopted on January 1, 2002, the totals for the year ended December 31, 2002 do not include amortization of goodwill and
are comprised solely of amortization of other intangible assets. Had amortization of goodwill been continued beyond January 1, 2002, we would have recognized an additional
$31.6 million in amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2002. The totals for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 includes $22.5 million and
$0.3 million of amortization of goodwill, respectively.

Accrued Liabilities

        Certain accrued liabilities, such as accrued research and development, accrued general and administrative, accrued compensation and other accrued liabilities, reflect
management's best estimates based on our specific historical experience and understanding of industry practice. The basis for accounting estimates has been consistently applied
and reviewed on a quarterly as well as annual basis. We record a reserve for these matters when an adverse outcome is probable and the amount of the potential liability can be
reasonably estimated.

Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

        Revenue was $94.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to $77.5 million and $51.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Revenue increased 22% in 2002 compared to 2001 levels and increased 50% in 2001 compared to 2000 levels. The 22% increase in revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2002, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2001 and the 50% increase in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2000, were both primarily due to increased activities under our existing collaborative agreement with Pfizer and revenues from our acquired subsidiaries in 2001.
Pfizer represented 59% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to 66% for the year ended December 31, 2001. Product sales through Nektar AL
accounted for 19% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to 11% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001. Product sales for the year
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ended December 31, 2001 reflected only six-months of activity after the acquisition of Nektar AL was completed. Contract research revenue for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000 included reimbursed research and development expenses as well as the amortization of deferred up-front signing and progress payments received from our
collaborative partners. Contract revenues are expected to fluctuate from year to year, and future contract revenue cannot be predicted accurately. The level of contract revenues
depends in part upon future success in obtaining timely completion of feasibility studies, the continuation of existing collaborations, and achievement of milestones under
current and future agreements. Product sales are dependent upon regulatory approval of new products for sale and adoption of current products in the market and cannot be
accurately predicted.

        Cost of goods sold is associated with product sales and was $7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 based on product sales of $18.5 million. Cost of goods sold
for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $4.2 million based on product sales of $8.6 million. There were no product sales and therefore no cost of goods sold in the year
ended December 31, 2000.

        Research and development expenses were $157.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to $139.7 million and $100.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The 13% increase for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily attributed
to the increased spending on partner-funded programs and the operating expenses of our Nektar AL subsidiary. In addition, we made a one-time payment of $5.3 million to
Alliance for the rights beyond pulmonary applications for PulmoSphere® technology and other considerations for the year ended December 31, 2002, which was expensed as
research and development. The 39% increase for the year ended December 31, 2001 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2000 was primarily attributable to increased
spending related to the development effort for both partner and internally funded programs, the scale-up of technologies and the continuing development of global
manufacturing capabilities for both inhalation devices and drug powders in order to support Exubera clinical trials and preparation for commercial production (commercial
readiness), as well as the addition of expenses related to our 2001 acquisitions. We expect research and development spending to increase over the next few years as we continue
to expand our development efforts under collaborative agreements using our expanded technology portfolio and to support our commercial manufacturing operations. We
forecast a decrease in internally funded research spending in the next three to five years, due to the combination of the completion of scale up and commercial readiness
spending, the shifting of infrastructure spending to cost of goods sold for commercial product sales, and the anticipated partnering of our proprietary projects.

        Our research and development activities can be divided into research and preclinical programs, clinical development programs and commercial readiness. We estimate the
costs associated with research and preclinical programs, clinical development programs and commercial readiness over the past three years to be the following (in thousands):

  

Years ended December 31,

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

Research and preclinical programs  $ 40,042 $ 35,376 $ 22,516
Clinical development programs   87,889  79,184  62,527
Commercial readiness   29,452  25,091  15,736



    
  $ 157,383 $ 139,651 $ 100,779
    

        General and administrative expenses were $26.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $18.9 million and $13.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The 38% increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2001 was primarily due to incremental support associated with our manufacturing and development efforts, including administrative staffing, business
development and
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marketing. The 35% increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2001 as compared to December 31, 2000 was primarily due to increased
support associated with our manufacturing and development efforts, including administrative staffing, business development and marketing, as well as additional expenses
related to our 2001 acquisitions included in our operations.

        In December 2002, we recorded a charge of $2.6 million related to a workforce reduction of 73 employees, which represents about 10% of our base employees. The
reduction affected all business functions and job classes mainly at our San Carlos facility. The $2.6 million charge included $1.7 million in severance compensation,
$0.5 million in health benefits and $0.3 million in out placement services. Approximately $0.1 million was non-cash related to stock compensation. Approximately $2.1 million
of this amount is included in research and development costs and $0.5 million is included in general and administrative costs. During December 2002, $0.9 million was paid out
associated with severance and other employee benefits. At December 31, 2002, we had a remaining accrual of $1.6 million of which $1.4 million was paid out in the first
quarter of 2003. The remaining $0.2 million is expected to be paid out during the second quarter of 2003. We forecast that this workforce reduction will reduce 2003 operating
expenses by approximately $8.0 million.

        Purchased in process research and development ("IPR&D") represents the portion of the purchase price of an acquisition related to research and development activities
which: (i) have not demonstrated their technological feasibility, and (ii) have no alternative future uses. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we did not incur any IPR&D
charges. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we incurred charges of $146.3 million related to our acquisitions of Bradford Particle Design and Shearwater Corporation. For
the year ended December 31, 2000, we incurred charges of $2.3 million for an acquisition of an in-process technology.

        In June 2001, we completed our acquisition of Shearwater in exchange for approximately 4.0 million shares or options to acquire shares of our Common Stock and cash of
$72.5 million. Of the total purchase consideration of $192.2 million, $108.6 million was allocated to the assets acquired based on their fair value on the date of acquisition,
including $94.6 million in goodwill and other intangible assets. Approximately $83.6 million of the purchase price was allocated to IPR&D, which was determined to have no
alternative future use and was charged as an expense during the year ended December 31, 2001.

        In January 2001, we acquired all of the outstanding share capital of Bradford Particle Design in exchange for approximately 3.75 million in newly issued shares of our
Common Stock and approximately $20.4 million in cash. Of the total purchase consideration of $152.1 million, $89.4 million was allocated to the assets acquired based on their
fair value on the date of acquisition, including $80.1 million in goodwill and other intangible assets. Approximately $62.7 million of the purchase price was allocated to IPR&D,
which was determined to have no alternative future use and was charged as an expense in the year-end ended December 31, 2001.

        In 2000, we recorded a $2.3 million charge for acquired IPR&D costs. The acquisition was recorded as a purchase and $2.3 million of the purchase price was allocated to
IPR&D and charged as an expense in the year ended December 31, 2000. As of the date of the acquisition, the in-process technology had no alternative future use and did not
qualify for capitalization.

        Amortization of other intangible assets expenses were $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $3.0 million and $0.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000. This expense item increased $1.5 million from the year ended December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2002 and the $2.5 million increase from the
year ended December 31, 2000 to the year ended December 31, 2001 was due to the acquisition activity in 2001.

        There was no amortization of goodwill expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $22.5 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease between the year ended December 31, 2002 and the year ended December 31, 2001 was
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associated with the adoption of SFAS 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS 142 Goodwill and Other intangible Assets, accounting standards on January 1, 2002 with respect
to business combinations. No impairment charges have been recorded for the year ended December 31, 2002. In accordance with SFAS 141 and 142, we discontinued the
amortization of goodwill and our assembled workforce intangible asset, which resulted in a decrease in reported net loss by approximately $31.6 million in 2002, as compared to
the accounting prior to the adoption of SFAS 141 and 142. (See note 5, Goodwill and other Intangible Assets in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of Part II, Item 8
of this Form 10-K). The $22.2 million increase in amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2001 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2000 was due to our
2001 acquisition activities.

        There was no debt conversion premium, net, recorded for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2000, $40.7 million in expense
was recorded associated with the conversion of our October 2006 convertible subordinated debentures and February 2007 convertible subordinated notes into Common Stock.

        Other income/expense, net, was $1.0 million expense for the year ended December 31, 2002, as compared to $4.2 million expense and $1.0 million income for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Our equity investment in Alliance was determined to be impaired and a loss of $0.8 million and $3.9 million was recorded in
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2000, we recorded a gain of $0.8 million associated with the sale of our Alliance
shares.

        Interest income was $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $24.6 million and $20.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.
The $14.4 million decrease in interest income for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to December 31, 2001 was due to our lower cash and investment balances and
lower interest rates. The $4.0 million increase in interest income for the year ended December 31, 2001 as compared to December 31, 2000 was due to our maintaining larger
cash and investment balances, including the proceeds of our issuance of several offerings of convertible subordinated notes and debentures and higher interest rates.

        Interest expense was $16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $13.4 million and $12.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000. The $3.2 million increase in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to December 31, 2001 relates to the interest expense on our capital lease
obligation associated with our build-to-suit lease for additional space leased at the end of 2001. The $1.3 million increase in interest expense for the year ended December 31,
2001 as compared to December 31, 2000 relates to the full year's interest expense for the 3.5% convertible subordinated notes issued in October 2000 and the full year's interest
expense associated with our build-to-suit lease in 2001.



        At December 31, 2002, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $339.0 million. These carryforwards will expire beginning in the year
2004 through 2022, if not utilized. Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to substantial annual limitations due to the ownership change limitations
provided for by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The annual limitations may result in the expiration of net operating loss carryforwards before utilization.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

        We have financed our operations primarily through public and private placements of our debt and equity securities, revenue from development contracts, product sales and
short-term research and feasibility agreements, financing of equipment acquisitions and tenant improvements, and interest income earned on our investments of cash. We do not
utilize off-balance sheet financing arrangements as a source
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of liquidity or financing. At December 31, 2002 we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately $294.0 million.

  

Year Ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 

  

(in millions,
except current ratio)

 
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 294.0 $ 344.4 $ 484.8 
Current ratio   4.9:1  6.1:1  16.3:1 

Cash provided by/(used in)           
 Operating activities  $ (75.0) $ (50.8) $ (35.7)
 Investing activities  $ 40.3 $ (77.0) $ (299.7)
 Financing activities  $ 38.7 $ 22.6 $ 438.1 

Capital expenditures (included in investing activities above)  $ (16.3) $ (34.3) $ (53.9)

        Our operations used cash of $75.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $50.8 million and $35.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2001
and 2000, respectively. The net operating loss for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the corresponding periods for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
differed from cash used in operations due to several factors. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the $75.0 million of cash used in operations primarily reflects the net loss of
$107.5 million, partially offset by depreciation and other changes in our balance sheet. During 2002, there were no charges for IPR&D, amortization of goodwill or net debt
conversion premiums. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the $50.8 million of cash used in operations primarily reflects our net loss of $250.0 million, partially offset by
$146.3 million of IPR&D associated with our acquisitions, $22.5 million in amortization of goodwill expenses, depreciation and changes in the balance sheet. For the year
ended December 31, 2000, the $35.7 million cash usage primarily reflected the net loss of $97.4 million, partially offset by the $40.7 million in net debt conversion premiums,
IPR&D of $2.3 million associated with an acquisition of technology, depreciation and changes in the balance sheet.

        Cash flows provided by investing activities were $40.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $77.0 million and $299.7 million cash used for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2002 were generated primarily by the sale and maturity of investment
securities. These cash proceeds were either reinvested or used in operations. Cash used for investing activities in 2001 was primarily related to our acquisition activity. In
connection with our 2001 acquisition of Bradford, we paid net cash of $14.8 million, which represented cash paid to their shareholders of $20.4 million, net of Bradford's cash
balance of $5.6 million. The remainder of this acquisition was non-cash in nature. In connection with our 2001 acquisition of Shearwater, we paid net cash of $67.2 million,
which represents cash paid to their shareholders of $72.5 million, net of Shearwater's cash obtained at June 30, 2001 of $5.3 million. We purchased property and equipment of
approximately $16.3 million, $34.3 million and $53.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 respectively. The decrease in purchased property and
equipment in 2002 as compared to 2001 and 2000, primarily reflects the completion of the second phase of construction of a new San Carlos laboratory and office facility offset
by continued investment in our commercial manufacturing facilities, including device manufacturing at third party contract manufacturers and expansion of our San Carlos
power processing facility.

        Cash flows provided by financing activities were $38.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to $22.6 million and $438.1 million of the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in cash flows provided by financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to December 31, 2001
was primarily related to our strategic alliance with Enzon which included a $40.0 million investment in our preferred stock offset by a decrease in capital lease financing
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related to our San Carlos lab facility that was substantially completed in 2000. The decrease in cash flow provided by financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2001
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2000 was primarily due to the net proceeds received in 2000 from the sale of convertible subordinated notes that was completed in
2000.

        In October 2000, we entered into a financing arrangement with a real estate partnership to complete construction of existing office facilities and provide financing for
future capital improvements of up to $51.0 million. As a result of our continuing involvement and significant influence in the real estate partnership, and other provisions in the
leasing transactions, the facility costs and capital lease obligations of the real estate partnership are recorded in our consolidated financial statements.

        In February 2000 and October 2000, we received approximately $222.4 million and $222.8 million, respectively, in net proceeds from the sale of convertible subordinated
notes. This includes net payments of approximately $15.2 million and $25.5 million in connection with agreements that provided for the conversion of approximately
$100.7 million and $168.6 million of our October 2006 and February 2007 debentures respectively, into Common Stock.

        The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

  

Payment Due By Period

  

Total

 

Less than
1 year

 

1-2 years

 

3-4 years

 

After
4 years

Tenant improvement loan  $ 4,577 $ 291 $ 582 $ 3,704 $ —
Build-to-suit lease   88,055  5,628  11,596  12,065  58,766
Interest payable   57,693  11,643  23,287  22,763  —



Operating leases   26,542  2,815  5,477  5,683  12,567
Principal amount of convertible subordinated notes and debentures   299,149  —  —  299,149  —
Other obligations   1,493  1,069  424  —  —
      
  $ 477,509 $ 21,446 $ 41,366 $ 343,364 $ 71,333
      

        In August 2000, we entered into a supply agreement with two contract manufacturers to provide for the manufacturing of our inhalation device. Under the terms of the
agreements we may be obligated to reimburse both parties for the actual unamortized and unrecovered portion of any equipment procured or facilities established and the
interest accrued for their capital overlay in the event that inhaleable insulin does not gain FDA approval to the extent that the contract manufacturers cannot re-deploy the assets.
At the present time, it is not possible to estimate the loss that will occur should inhaleable insulin not be approved.

        We forecast that research and development expenses will continue at current levels or higher through at least the next couple of years. Research and development expenses
are associated with three general categories: (i) collaborative agreements under which spending is reimbursed by our partners; (ii) spending attributed to internally funded
programs, and (iii) commercial readiness and infrastructure costs associated with commercial operations for our drug and third-party device manufacturing. We forecast a
decrease in internally funded research spending in the next three to five years, due to the combination of the completion of scale up and commercial readiness spending, the
shifting of infrastructure spending to cost of goods sold for commercial product sales, and the anticipated partnering of our proprietary projects. We expect our cash
requirements to continue at a comparable rate due to expected activities in these areas. Research and development costs will be dependent upon the number of collaborative
agreements we are engaged in, the number of Nektar funded projects and the timing of our transition to commercial manufacturing of our San Carlos, Alabama and UK
locations.
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        Given our current cash requirements, we forecast that we will have sufficient cash to meet our net operating expense requirements for at least the next two years. We plan
to continue to invest in our growth and the need for cash will be dependent upon the timing of these investments. Our capital needs will depend on many factors, including
continued scientific progress in our research and development arrangements, progress with preclinical and clinical trials, the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatory
approvals, the costs of developing and the rate of scaling up each manufacturing operation of our technologies, the timing and cost of our late stage clinical and early
commercial production facility, the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent claims, the need to acquire licenses to new technologies
and the status of competitive products. Of our convertible subordinated notes and debentures, $7.8 million and $291.4 million will mature in 2006 and 2007, respectively. We
may not be able to satisfy these obligations through cash flow generated by our operations. To satisfy our long-term needs, we intend to seek additional funding, as necessary,
from corporate partners and from the sale of securities. Because we are an early stage biotechnology company, we do not qualify to issue investment grade debt or have access
to certain credit facilities. As a result, any financing we undertake will likely involve the issuance of equity, convertible debt instruments or high-yield debt to fund our working
capital. To date we have been primarily dependent upon equity and convertible debt financings for capital and have incurred substantial debt as a result of our issuances of
subordinated notes and debentures that are convertible into our Common Stock. Our substantial debt, the market price of our securities and the general economic climate, among
other factors, could have material consequences for our financial position and could affect our sources of short-term and long-term funding. There can be no assurance that
additional funds, if and when required, will be available to us on favorable terms, if at all.

Approval of Non-Audit Services

        During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors approved recurring engagements to provide non-audit tax services with Ernst &
Young LLP, our independent accountants.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures of Market Risk 

        The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. To achieve this
objective, we invest in highly liquid and high quality debt securities. Our investments in debt securities are subject to interest rate risk. To minimize the exposure due to an
adverse shift in interest rates, we invest in short term securities and maintain an average maturity of one year or less. A hypothetical 50 basis point increase in interest rates
would result in an approximate $0.7 million decrease (less than 0.255%) in the fair value of our available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2002.

        The potential change noted above is based on sensitivity analyses performed on our financial position at December 31, 2002. Actual results may differ materially. The same
hypothetical 50 basis point increase in interest rates would have resulted in an approximate $1.0 million decrease (less than 0.301%) in the fair value of our available-for-sale
securities at December 31, 2001.

        Increases in the interest rates could adversely affect the fair market value of our convertible subordinated notes and debentures, which pay a fixed rate of interest. As of
December 31, 2002, we had approximately $299.1 million in outstanding convertible subordinated notes and debentures with a fair value of $168.4 million.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Nektar Therapeutics

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Nektar Therapeutics (formerly Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc.) as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Nektar Therapeutics at December 31,
2002 and 2001, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

        As discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
January 17, 2003
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except per share information) 

  

December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 
ASSETS  

Current assets:        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 34,879 $ 30,814 
 Short-term investments   259,090  313,542 
 Accounts receivable   4,370  4,487 
 Other current assets   12,650  11,998 
    
  Total current assets   310,989  360,841 
Property and equipment, net   143,452  142,352 
Marketable equity securities   —  721 
Goodwill   130,120  133,856 
Other intangible assets, net   15,470  19,977 
Deposits and other assets   6,607  9,494 
    
Total assets  $ 606,638 $ 667,241 
    

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  
Current liabilities:        
 Accounts payable  $ 8,655 $ 7,685 
 Accrued research and development   10,359  10,776 
 Accrued general and administrative   5,758  7,075 
 Accrued compensation   11,617  5,977 
 Accrued acquisition costs   —  2,046 
 Other accrued liabilities   466  3,172 
 Interest payable   3,762  4,588 
 Capital lease obligation—current   1,008  807 
 Deferred revenue   22,040  17,073 
    
  Total current liabilities   63,665  59,199 

Capital lease obligation—noncurrent   31,862  31,909 
Accrued rent   2,033  1,921 
Convertible subordinated notes and debentures   299,149  299,149 
Other long-term liabilities   3,159  4,750 

Commitments and contingencies   —  — 

Stockholders' equity:        
 Preferred Stock, 10,000 shares authorized        

  
Series A, $0.0001 par value: 3,100 shares designated; no shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001   —  — 

  Convertible Series B, $0.0001 par value: 40 shares designated; 40 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2002. No shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2001. Liquidation preference of $40,000 at December 31,

  40,000  — 



2002 and $0 at December 31, 2001

 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000 authorized; 55,553 shares and 55,094 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively   6  5 

 Capital in excess of par value   714,680  712,039 
 Deferred compensation   (239)  (923)
 Accumulated other comprehensive income   1,668  1,069 
 Accumulated deficit   (549,345)  (441,877)
    
  Total stockholders' equity   206,770  270,313 
    
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 606,638 $ 667,241 
    

See accompanying notes.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share information) 

  

Years Ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 
Revenue:           
 Contract research revenue  $ 76,380 $ 68,899 $ 51,629 
 Product sales   18,465  8,569  — 
     
Total revenue   94,845  77,468  51,629 

Operating costs and expenses:           
 Cost of goods sold   7,020  4,169  — 
 Research and development   157,383  139,651  100,779 
 General and administrative   26,016  18,861  13,932 
 Purchased in-process research and development   —  146,260  2,292 
 Amortization of other intangible assets   4,507  3,012  453 
 Amortization of goodwill   —  22,478  312 
     
Total operating costs and expenses   194,926  334,431  117,768 
     
Loss from operations   (100,081)  (256,963)  (66,139)

Debt conversion premium, net   —  —  (40,687)
Other income/(expense), net   (996)  (4,195)  995 
Interest income   10,222  24,581  20,566 
Interest expense   (16,613)  (13,431)  (12,138)
     
Net loss  $ (107,468) $ (250,008) $ (97,403)
     
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (1.94) $ (4.71) $ (2.32)
     
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share   55,282  53,136  41,998 
     

See accompanying notes.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands) 

 
 

Preferred Shares

 

Common Shares            
     

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)

     

  

Shares

 

Amount
Paid In

 

Shares

 

Par
Value

 

Capital In
Excess of
Par Value

 

Deferred
Compensation

 

Accumulated
Deficit

 

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

 
Balance at January 1, 2000  — $ — 34,452 $ 3 $ 181,153 $ (1,530) $ 1,469 $ (94,466) $ 86,629 
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options  —  — 2,177  2  17,320  —  —  —  17,322 
Common stock granted to employees  —  — 57  —  1,900  —  —  —  1,900 
Compensation in connection with stock options granted to
consultants  —  — —  —  3,196  —  —  —  3,196 
Conversion of convertible subordinated debt into common shares,
net of of related issuance costs  —  — 10,688  —  260,862  —  —  —  260,862 
Deferred compensation  —  — —  —  1,162  (1,162)  —  —  — 
Amortization of deferred compensation  —  — —  —  —  865  —  —  865 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  —  — —  —  —  —  4,512  —  4,512 
Net loss  —  — —  —  —  —  —  (97,403)  (97,403)



                         
Comprehensive loss                         (92,891)
           

Balance at December 31, 2000  —  — 47,374  5  465,593  (1,827)  5,981  (191,869)  277,883 
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options  —  — 855  —  6,048  —  —  —  6,048 
Compensation in connection with stock options granted to
consultants  —  — —  —  605  —  —  —  605 
Shares issued associated with acquisition of Bradford Particle
Design, Ltd.  —  — 3,752  —  125,576  —  —  —  125,576 
Shares issued associated with acquisition of Shearwater
Corporation  —  — 3,113  —  114,240  —  —  —  114,240 
Reversal of deferred compensation due to terminations  —  — —  —  (23)  23  —  —  — 
Amortization of deferred compensation  —  — —  —  —  881  —  —  881 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  —  — —  —  —  —  (4,912)  —  (4,912)
Net loss  —  — —  —  —  —  —  (250,008)  (250,008)
                         

Comprehensive loss                         (254,920)
           

Balance at December 31, 2001  —  — 55,094  5  712,039  (923)  1,069  (441,877)  270,313 
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options  —  — 198  1  440  —  —  —  441 
Preferred stock purchased by Enzon, Inc.  40  40,000 —  —  —  —  —  —  40,000 
Compensation in connection with stock options granted to
consultants  —  — —  —  306  —  —  —  306 
Compensation in connection with employee severence due to
modification of stock options  —  — —  —  95  —  —  —  95 
Shares issued for retirement plans  —  — 121  —  960  —  —  —  960 
Shares issued for services rendered  —  — 140  —  975  —  —  —  975 
Reversal of deferred compensation due to terminations  —  — —  —  (135)  135  —  —  — 
Amortization of deferred compensation  —  — —  —  —  549  —  —  549 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  —  — —  —  —  —  599  —  599 
Net loss  —  — —  —  —  —  —  (107,468)  (107,468)
                         

Comprehensive loss                         (106,869)
           

Balance at December 31, 2002  40 $ 40,000 55,553 $ 6 $ 714,680 $ (239) $ 1,668 $ (549,345) $ 206,770 
           

See accompanying notes.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
(in thousands) 

  

Years ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 
Cash flows used in operating activities:           
Net loss  $ (107,468) $ (250,008) $ (97,403)
 Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:           
  Depreciation   12,645  12,648  7,240 
  Amortization of other intangible assets   4,507  3,012  453 
  Amortization of goodwill   —  22,478  312 
  Amortization of debt issuance costs   1,268  1,366  1,254 
  Amortization of deferred compensation   549  881  865 
  Non cash compensation for employee retirement plans   960  —  — 
  Stock-based compensation for employee severence   95  —  — 
  Stock-based compensation for services rendered   1,281  604  5,096 
  Debt conversion premiums, net   —  —  40,687 
  Purchased in-process research and development   —  146,260  2,292 
  Gain on sale of assets   —  —  (159)
  Loss on impairment of marketable equity securities   721  3,948  — 
 Changes in assets and liabilities:           
  (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable, other current assets, and other assets   1,725  (4,238)  (964)
  Increase in accounts payable and other accrued liablities   2,768  2,261  4,483 
  Increase in deferred revenue   5,974  10,014  102 
     
Net cash used in operating activities   (74,975)  (50,774)  (35,742)
     
Cash flows from investing activities:           
 Purchases of short-term investments   (280,650)  (491,725)  (462,278)
 Sales of short-term investments   117,804  157,514  13,643 
 Maturities of short-term investments   216,007  373,546  206,261 
 Acquisition of Shearwater, net of cash acquired and purchase price adjustments   3,443  (67,246)  — 
 Acquisition of Bradford, net of cash acquired   —  (14,805)  — 
 Acquisition of technology   —  —  (2,292)
 Disposal of property and equipment   39  —  — 
 Purchases of property and equipment   (16,327)  (34,321)  (53,850)
 Other investing activity   —     (1,232)
     
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   40,316  (77,037)  (299,748)
     
Cash flows from financing activities:           



 Proceeds from loan and capital lease financing   1,146  17,653  16,246 
 Payments of loan and capital lease obligations   (2,863)  (1,089)  (50)
 Payment of debt conversion incentives   —  —  (40,687)
 Issuance of convertible subordinated debentures and notes, net   —  —  445,241 
 Issuance of preferred stock   40,000  —  — 
 Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs   441  6,049  17,322 
     
Net cash provided by financing activities   38,724  22,613  438,072 
     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   4,065  (105,198)  102,582 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   30,814  136,012  33,430 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 34,879 $ 30,814 $ 136,012 
     

See accompanying notes.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2002 

Note 1—Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Basis of Presentation

        On January 15, 2003 we changed our name from Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc. to Nektar Therapeutics. We believe our new name better reflects our broadened
capabilities and approach to drug delivery. Our new corporate identity represents the integration of our three proprietary technology platforms developed through our internal
research and development efforts as well as our acquisitions of Shearwater Corporation (now referred to as Nektar AL) and Bradford Particle Design, Ltd. (now referred to as
Nektar UK).

        We are working to become one of the world's leading drug delivery products based companies by providing a portfolio of technologies and expertise that will enable us and
our pharmaceutical partners to improve drug performance throughout the drug development process. We are focused on three main technologies: Nektar Molecule Engineering,
Nektar Particle Engineering and Nektar Delivery Solutions.

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassification

        Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2002 presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

        Our consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of our subsidiaries: Nektar Therapeutics AL, Corporation ("Nektar AL"), formerly Shearwater
Corporation ("Shearwater"); Nektar Therapeutics UK, Ltd. ("Nektar UK"), formerly Bradford Particle Design Ltd. ("Bradford"); Inhale Therapeutic Systems Deutschland Gmbh
("Inhale Germany"); and Inhale Therapeutic Systems, U.K. Limited ("Inhale UK"), as well as the financial statements of a real estate partnership lessor.

        Our consolidated financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates between the applicable foreign currency and the U.S. dollar
will affect the translation of each foreign subsidiary's financial results into U.S. dollars for purposes of reporting our consolidated financial results. The process by which each
foreign subsidiary's financial results are translated into U.S. dollars is as follows: income statement accounts are translated at average exchange rates for the period; balance
sheet asset and liability accounts are translated at end of period exchange rates; and equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates. Translation of the balance sheet in
this manner affects consolidated balance sheet in accumulated other comprehensive gain/loss of the stockholders' equity section. To date such cumulative translation
adjustments have not been material to our consolidated financial position.
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Significant Concentrations

        Cash equivalents and short-term investments are financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of risk to the extent of the amounts recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet. We limit our concentration of risk by diversifying our investment amount among a variety of industries and issuers. Our professional portfolio
managers adhere to this investment policy as approved by our Board of Directors.

        Our account receivable balance contains trade receivables from product sales and collaborative research agreements. At December 31, 2002, two partners each represented
over 10% of our accounts receivable and no one partner had a balance greater than 10% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2001. We have not experienced significant
credit losses from our accounts receivable or collaborative research agreements, and none are currently expected. We perform a regular review of our customer's activity and
associate credit risks and do not require collateral from our customers.

        In addition, we are dependent on our partners, vendors and contract manufacturers to provide raw materials, drugs and devices of appropriate quality and reliability and to
meet applicable regulatory requirements. Consequently, in the event that supplies are delayed or interrupted for any reason, our ability to develop our products could be
impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.



        We are dependent on Pfizer as the source of a significant proportion of our revenue. Contract research revenue from Pfizer represented 59%, 66% and 69% of our revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. Since Pfizer advances the costs of research at the beginning of each quarter, they are not a component of our accounts
receivable at December 31, 2002. The termination of this collaboration could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

        Should the Pfizer collaboration be discontinued prior to the launch of inhaleable insulin, we will need to find alternative funding sources to replace the collaborative
revenue and will need to reassess the realizability of assets capitalized. Additionally, we may have contingent payments to our contract manufacturers to reimburse them for
their capital outlay to the extent that they cannot re-deploy their assets and may incur additional liabilities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS") No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS 146 provides guidance related to accounting for costs associated with disposal activities covered by SFAS 144 or with exit or
restructuring activities previously covered by Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3 ("EITF 94-3"), Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS 146 supersedes EITF 94-3 in its entirety. SFAS 146 requires that costs related to
exiting an activity or to a restructuring not be recognized until the liability is incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS 146 will be
applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 146 to have a significant impact on our
financial position or results of operation.

        In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation ("FIN") No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantees, and provides new disclosure requirements
regarding indemnification provisions, including indemnification
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provisions typically included in a license arrangement. It also clarifies that at the time a company issues a guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability for the fair
value, or market value, of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee and that the company must disclose that information in its financial statements. However, the
provisions related to recognizing a liability at inception of the guarantee for the fair value of the guarantor's obligations does not apply to product warranties or to guarantees
accounted for as derivatives. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions apply on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002.
The disclosure requirements of FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002 (See Note 10). We do not expect the
implementation of FIN 45 to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

        In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 and Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to
require disclosure in the summary of significant accounting policies of the effects of an entity's accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on
reported net income and earnings per share in annual and interim financial statements. The statement does not amend SFAS 123 to require companies to account for employee
stock options using the fair value method. The Statement's amendment of the transition and annual disclosure requirement of SFAS 123 are effective for the fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2002. The interim disclosure provisions are effective for financial reports containing financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15,
2002. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 148 to have a material effect on our financial conditions and results of operations. We have elected to continue to follow the
intrinsic value method of accounting as prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employee, to account for employee stock options.

        In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. FIN 46 requires a variable interest entity to be consolidated by the primary
beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity
to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN 46 is effective for all new variable interest entities created or acquired after
January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the provision of FIN 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period
beginning after June 15, 2003. In October 2000, we entered into a build-to-suit lease transaction with a real estate partnership to finance and manage construction of our San
Carlos research and office facility. We have fully consolidated this entity in the consolidated financial statements of Nektar Therapeutics since inception. Accordingly, we do not
expect the adoption of FIN 46 to have a significant impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

        We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity at date of purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include demand
deposits held in banks, interest bearing money market funds and repurchase agreements. All other investments are classified as short-term investments. Short-term investments
consist of federal and municipal government securities, corporate bonds and commercial paper with A1 or P1 short-term ratings and A+ or better long-term ratings with
remaining maturities at date of purchase of greater than 90 days and less than two years.
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        At December 31, 2002, all investments are designated as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders' equity as
accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss). The amortized cost of securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such
amortization is included in interest income. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale securities, if any, are
included in interest income. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are
included in interest income.

Inventories

        Inventories are included in other current assets on the balance sheet and consist primarily of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods of our Nektar AL location.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market, and consists of the following (in thousands):

  

December 31,

  

2002

 

2001

Raw material  $ 2,825 $ 1,805

Work-in-process   228  513

Finished goods   3,256  883



   

  $ 6,309 $ 3,201
   

Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment are stated at cost. Major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred. Laboratory and other
equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of three to seven years. Leasehold improvements and buildings, which are subject to the
terms of a build-to-suit lease, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the remaining term of the lease.

Goodwill

        On January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, we stopped the periodic amortization of goodwill and adopted a new policy
for measuring goodwill for impairment. No impairment of goodwill was recognized in connection with the adoption of this new policy. We currently operate as a single
reporting unit and all of our goodwill is associated with the entire company. Under our new policy, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or on an interim basis if
an event occurs or circumstances change that would more-likely-than-not reduce the fair value below our carrying value. Goodwill is tested for impairment using a two-step
approach. The first step is to compare our fair value to our carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value is greater than the carrying amount, goodwill is not considered
impaired and the second step is not required. If the fair value is less than the carrying amount, the second step of the impairment test measures the amount of the impairment
loss, if any. The second step of the impairment test is to compare the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its
implied fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is calculated in the same manner that goodwill is calculated in a
business combination, whereby the fair value is allocated to all of the assets and
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liabilities (including any unrecognized intangible assets) as if they had been acquired in a business combination and the fair value was the purchase price. The excess "purchase
price" over the amounts assigned to assets and liabilities would be the implied fair value of goodwill.

        In conjunction with the implementation of SFAS 142 we performed an impairment test of goodwill as of January 1, 2002, which did not result in an impairment charge
upon adoption. We performed the annual test as of October 1, 2002, which did not result in an impairment charge. We will perform this annual test on October 1 of future years
or more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist.

        Assembled workforce is comprised of all skilled employees and includes the estimated cost to replace existing employees, including recruiting and training costs and loss
of productivity costs. Through December 31, 2001, we amortized assembled workforce on a straight-line basis over three years. Effective January 1, 2002, consistent with the
new business combination accounting rules, assembled workforce was reclassified to goodwill and is subject to the same impairment assessment annually.

        A reconciliation of previously reported net loss and net loss per share to the amounts adjusted for the exclusion of goodwill amortization as if we had adopted SFAS 142 on
January 1, 2000, is as follows (in thousands, except per share information):

  

For the Years Ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 
Reported net loss  $ (107,468) $ (250,008) $ (97,403)
 Add back: goodwill amortization   —  21,886  312 
 Add back: assembled workforce amortization   —  592  — 
     
Adjusted net loss  $ (107,468) $ (227,528) $ (97,091)
     

Basic and diluted net loss per share           
Reported net loss  $ (1.94) $ (4.71) $ (2.32)
 Add back: goodwill amortization   —  0.41  0.01 
 Add back: assembled workforce amortization   —  0.01  — 
     
Adjusted net loss  $ (1.94) $ (4.29) $ (2.31)
     

Other Intangible Assets

        Acquired technology and other intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of five years. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable from future undiscounted cash flows. If impaired,
the assets are recorded at fair value. Other intangible assets include proprietary technology, intellectual property, and supplier and customer relationships acquired from third
parties or in business combinations. The following intangible assets were acquired in connection with our acquisitions: core technology, developed product technology,
intellectual property, and supplier and customer relations.

        Core technology is based on developed technology or components of developed technologies that have a value as a basis of the platform upon which future development
can be profitably exploited. We are amortizing the value assigned to core technology on a straight-line basis over an average estimated life of five years.
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        Developed product technology is based on proprietary know-how that is technologically feasible. We are amortizing the value assigned to developed product technology on
a straight-line basis over an average estimated life of five years.

        Intellectual property is recognized for the intrinsic value of our or our subsidiaries' name and products in the marketplace. We are amortizing the value assigned on a
straight-line basis over an average estimated life of five years.



        Supplier and customer relations are based on historical costs incurred and is comprised of management's estimation of resources that have been devoted to the development
of relationships with key customers. We are amortizing the value assigned to customer relationships on a straight-line basis over an average estimated life of five years.

        We periodically evaluate whether changes have occurred that would require revision of the remaining estimated useful lives of these assets or otherwise render the assets
unrecoverable. If such an event occurred, we would determine whether the other intangibles are impaired. To date, no such impairment losses have been recorded.

Comprehensive Gain/Loss

        Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and other comprehensive gain/loss for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Other comprehensive gain included
unrealized gains/losses on available-for-sale securities, translation adjustments, unrealized losses related to our investment in Alliance and unrealized gains/losses on available-
for-sale securities using the specific identification method. The comprehensive loss consists of the following components (in thousands):

  

Years Ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 
Net loss  $ (107,468) $ (250,008)
Changes in net unrealized gains/(losses) on available for sale securities   (195)  (8,702)
Net unrealized loss reclassified into earnings   241  3,948 
Translation adjustment   553  (158)
    
Comprehensive loss  $ (106,869) $ (254,920)
    

        The components of accumulated other comprehensive income are as follows (in thousands):

  

December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities  $ 1,273 $ 1,227 
Translation adjustment   395  (158)
    
Total accumulated other comprehensive income  $ 1,668 $ 1,069 
    

Stock-Based Compensation

        We apply the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations in accounting for
those plans. Under this opinion, no
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stock-based employee compensation expense is charged for options that were grated at an exercise price that was equal to the market value of the underlying Common Stock on
the date of grant. Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS 123, which also requires that the information be determined as if we
had accounted for our employee stock options under the fair value method of that Statement. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 
Risk-free interest rate  3.8% 4.8% 6.4%
Dividend yield  0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Volatility Factor  0.743 0.725 0.688 
Weighted average expected life  5 years 5 years 5 years 

        The Black-Scholes options valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have no vesting restrictions and are fully
transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because our employee stock
options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate, in our opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of our employee and director stock options. However, we have
presented the pro forma net loss and pro forma basic and diluted net loss per common share using the assumptions noted above.

        The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based employee compensation (in thousands, except per share information):

  

Years Ended December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

 
Net loss, as reported  $ (107,468) $ (250,008) $ (97,403)

Add: stock-based employee compensation included in reported
net loss   644  881  865 

Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value methods for all awards   (35,605)  (58,758)  (25,586)
     
Pro forma net loss  $ (142,429) $ (307,885) $ (122,124)
     

Earnings per share           



 Basic and diluted, as reported  $ (1.94) $ (4.71) $ (2.32)
 Basic and diluted, pro forma  $ (2.58) $ (5.79) $ (2.91)

        Stock compensation expense for options granted to non-employees has been determined in accordance with SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force No. 96-18 as the
fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measured. The fair value of options granted to non-
employees is re-measured as the underlying options vest.
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Revenue Recognition

        Contract revenue from collaborative research agreements is recorded when earned based on the performance requirements of the contract. Revenue from non-refundable
upfront license fees and certain guaranteed payments where we continue involvement through collaborative development are deferred and recognized as revenue over the period
of continuing involvement. Payments received from milestone achievements are deferred and recorded as revenue over the next period of continued development. Revenue from
grants and feasibility arrangements are recognized as the related costs are incurred. Our research revenue is derived primarily from clients in the pharmaceutical industry and
consists of reimbursement of development costs, reimbursement of certain expenses, payment of clinical supplies and amortization of milestones. Contract research revenue
from three partners represented 59%, 9% and 4% of our revenue in 2002. Three partners accounted for 66%, 10% and 5% of our revenue in 2001 and 69%, 13% and 9% of our
revenue in 2000. Costs of contract research revenue approximate such revenue and are included in research and development expenses.

        Product sales are recognized when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed and determinable, and collectability is
reasonably assured. Allowances, if any, are established for uncollectible amounts, estimated product returns and discounts.

Research and Development

        Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and include salaries, benefits, and other operating costs. We perform research and development for others
pursuant to feasibility agreements and development and license agreements. Under these feasibility agreements, we are generally reimbursed for the cost of work performed.
Feasibility agreements are designed to evaluate the applicability of our technologies to a particular molecule and therefore are generally completed in less than one year. Under
our development and license agreements, products developed using our technologies are commercialized with a collaborative partner. Under these development agreements, we
may be reimbursed for development costs, may also be entitled to milestone payments when and if certain development milestones are achieved and are compensated for the
manufacture and supply of clinical and commercial product. All of our research and development agreements are generally cancelable by the partner without significant
financial penalty.

Segment Reporting

        We report segments in accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. SFAS 131 requires the use of a management
approach in identifying segments of an enterprise. We are organized and operate as one operating segment.

        Our research revenue is derived primarily from clients in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. Contract research revenue from one partner represented 59%,
66% and 69% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Product sales relate to sale of our manufactured PEGylated products by
Nektar AL.

        Our accounts receivable balance contains trade receivables from product sales and collaborative research agreements. At December 31, 2002, two partners each represented
more than 10% of our accounts receivable and no one partner had a balance greater than 10% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2001.
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Net Loss Per Share

        In accordance with SFAS No. 128, basic and diluted net loss per share have been computed using the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
during the period, less shares subject to repurchase. Had we been in a net income position, diluted earnings per share would have included the following outstanding options,
warrants and convertible debentures and notes (in thousands):

  

Years Ended December 31,

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

Warrants  56 56 56
Options  14,742 14,672 10,064
Convertible preferred stock  1,755 — —
Convertible debentures and notes  6,644 6,644 6,644
    
  23,197 21,372 16,764
    

Accounting for Income Taxes

        We account for income taxes under SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under SFAS 109, the liability method is used in accounting for income taxes.

Note 2—Cash and Available-For-Sale Securities

        The following is a summary of operating cash and available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

  

Amortized
Cost

 

Net
Unrealized

Gains

 

Estimated
Fair Value

Obligations of U.S. government agencies  $ 110,549 $ 539 $ 111,088
U.S. corporate commercial paper   112,657  678  113,335
Repurchase agreements, secured by U.S. Government securities   —  —  —
Cash and other debt securities   69,490  56  69,546



Equity securities   —  —  —
    
  $ 292,696 $ 1,273 $ 293,969
    
Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents  $ 34,879 $ — $ 34,879
Amounts included in short-term investments   257,817  1,273  259,090
Amounts included in marketable equity securities   —  —  —
    
  $ 292,696 $ 1,273 $ 293,969
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        The following is a summary of operating cash and available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2001 (in thousands):

  

Amortized
Cost

 

Net
Unrealized

Gains

 

Estimated
Fair Value

Obligations of U.S. government agencies  $ 138,394 $ 622 $ 139,016
U.S. corporate commercial paper   170,880  618  171,498
Repurchase agreements, secured by U.S. Government securities   5,315  —  5,315
Cash and other debt securities   28,540  (13)  28,527
Equity securities   721  —  721
    
  $ 343,850 $ 1,227 $ 345,077
    

Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents  $ 30,814 $ — $ 30,814
Amounts included in short-term investments   312,315  1,227  313,542
Amounts included in marketable equity securities   721  —  721
    
  $ 343,850 $ 1,227 $ 345,077
    

        We determine the estimated fair value amounts by using available market information. The gross realized losses and gains on the sale of available-for-sale debt securities
during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were not material. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the average portfolio duration was approximately one year and nine
months, respectively, and the contractual maturity of any single investment did not exceed twenty-four months at December 31, 2002 and 2001. The gross unrealized gains on
available for sale securities at December 31, 2002 and 2001 amounted to approximately $1.3 million and $3.0 million, respectively.

        We own Common Stock of Alliance Pharmaceutical Corp., which we account for as an available-for-sale long-term marketable equity security. There were no restrictions
on the sale of our Alliance stock at December 31, 2002 or 2001. In 2002, we determined this equity investment to be permanently impaired and a $0.7 million loss was recorded.
In 2001, our equity investment in Alliance was determined to be impaired and a loss on investment of $3.9 million was recorded. At December 31, 2002, the carrying value of
this investment was zero.
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Note 3—Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

  

December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 
Laboratory and other equipment  $ 57,783 $ 45,819 
Building and leasehold improvements   82,189  80,633 
Land   7,817  7,817 
Construction in-progress and other assets not placed in service   45,992  46,049 
    
 Property and equipment at cost   193,781  180,318 
Less accumulated amortization and depreciation   (50,329)  (37,966)
    
 Property and equipment, net  $ 143,452 $ 142,352 
    

        At December 31, 2002 and 2001, building and leasehold improvements included $29.4 million and $28.6 million, respectively, related to a build-to-suit lease with a real
estate partnership. Accumulated depreciation of the building under lease was approximately $4.3 million and $1.9 million in the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. In relation to construction in-progress, interest amounting to $1.3 million was capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2001 (nil in the year ended
December 31, 2002). Construction in-progress includes assets associated with the scale-up of our commercial manufacturing operations. Depreciation expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $12.6 million, $12.6 million and $7.2 million, respectively.

        We have expensed certain plant design, engineering and validation costs based on our evaluation that it is unclear whether such costs are ultimately recoverable.

Note 4—Significant Collaborative Research and Development and Product Agreements

        We perform research and development for others pursuant to feasibility agreements and collaborative development and license agreements. Under the feasibility
agreements, we are generally reimbursed for the cost of work performed. Under our development and license agreements, we may be reimbursed for development costs and may



also be entitled to milestone payments when and if certain development milestones are achieved. All of our research and development agreements are generally cancelable by
our partners without significant financial penalty to the partner.

        In July 2002, we announced a collaboration with Chiron Corporation. Based on feasibility work completed by us, we will develop under this collaboration an inhaleable
powdered version of PA2794, a proprietary Chiron antibiotic from a class commonly used to treat pulmonary infections. We recognized $1.6 million in revenues in the year
ended December 31, 2002 related to this collaboration.

        In November 2001, we entered into a collaboration with Chiron to develop a next-generation inhaleable formulation of tobramycin for the treatment of Pseudomonas
aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis patients and to explore the development of other inhaled antibiotics using our pulmonary delivery system. We recognized $5.9 million in revenue in
the year ended December 31, 2002 related to this collaboration.

        We are party to a license, manufacturing and supply agreement with Sensus Drug Development Corporation for the PEGylation of Somavert® (pegvisomant for injection),
a human growth hormone receptor antagonist. The agreement, originally executed in April 2000, provides us with milestone
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payments, rights to manufacture the PEG reagent and a share of future revenues. Somavert® has been approved for marketing in Europe for the treatment of certain patients
with acromegaly. In March 2001, Sensus was acquired by Pharmacia Corp. In 2002 and 2001, Pharmacia accounted for approximately $3.3 million and approximately
$1.3 million, respectively, of our product sales.

        We are party to a license, manufacturing and supply agreement originally executed in November 1998 with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. whereby we license to Roche the
PEG reagent used in Roche's PEGASYS® product for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. This agreement provides us with milestone payments, rights to manufacture the PEG
reagent and a share of future revenues related to the PEGASYS product. A subsequent agreement with Roche related to further collaborative work on PEGASYS was entered
into in April 1999 to develop a PEGylated interferon alpha-2a product. PEGASYS was filed for approval with the FDA for a hepatitis C indication on May 22, 2000. In
December 2002, the FDA approved the combination therapy with Pegasys and Copegus™ for the treatment of adults with chronic hepatitis C who have compensated liver
disease and have not previously been treated with interferon alpha. In 2002 and 2001, Roche accounted for approximately $3.4 million and approximately $1.2 million,
respectively, of our product sales.

        In December 1996, we entered into a collaborative agreement with Aventis Behring L.L.C. to develop a pulmonary formulation of alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor to treat
patients with alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency, or genetic emphysema. Under the terms of the collaboration, Aventis Behring will receive commercialization rights worldwide
excluding Japan and we could receive royalties on product sales, an up-front signing fee and research and development funding and milestone payments. Aventis Behring will
manufacture the active pharmaceutical ingredient for use in our delivery device. We will manufacture and package the dry powder and supply inhalation devices to Aventis
Behring for commercialization and marketing. Under this agreement, we recognized revenue of approximately $3.5 million, approximately $7.8 million, and approximately
$6.8 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

        We are party to a license, manufacturing and supply agreement with Amgen Inc., originally executed in July 1995, to supply its proprietary 20kDa PEG derivative, which is
utilized in the manufacture of pegfilgrastim for Amgen's Neulasta™. This product is indicated for decreasing the incidence of infection, as manifest by febrile neutropenia in
patients with non-myeloid malignancies receiving myelosuppresive anti-cancer drugs. The FDA approved Neulasta™ for marketing in the United States in late January 2002.
Under this agreement, we recognized product sales revenue of approximately $2.9 million and approximately $0.5 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

        In January 1995, we entered into a collaborative development and license agreement with Pfizer Inc. to develop inhaleable insulin (the Exubera product) based on our
pulmonary delivery system for macromolecules. Under the terms of the agreement, we receive funding consisting of initial fees, contract research and development funding and
progress payments. Upon execution of the agreement Pfizer purchased $5.0 million of our Common Stock. In addition, in October 1996, Pfizer purchased an additional
$5.0 million of our Common Stock. Pfizer has global commercialization rights for the Exubera product while we receive royalties on sales of commercialized products. We will
manufacture inhaleable insulin for, and supply pulmonary inhaler devices to Pfizer. Under this agreement we recognized revenue of approximately $56.1 million, approximately
$51.0 million and approximately $35.7 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In October 2002, Pfizer announced that they will complete additional long-term studies for
Exubera and they are continuing their discussion with regulatory agencies regarding the timing and requirements for a New Drug Application, or NDA for approval of Exubera.
Pfizer has indicated it would not file the NDA for approval of Exubera in 2003.
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        Costs associated with research and development activities attributable to these agreements have approximated the revenues recognized. Cost associated with product
agreements are recorded as costs of goods sold.

Note 5—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

        Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill is as follows (in thousands):

  

December 31, 2002

 
Beginning balance  $ 133,856 
Other purchase price adjustment   (293)

Income tax refunds related to our acquisition of Nektar AL   (3,443)
   

Ending balance  $ 130,120 
   

        Effective January 1, 2002, consistent with the new business combination accounting rules, assembled workforce of $2.3 million was reclassified to goodwill and is subject
to the same impairment assessment annually, this is reflected in the December 31, 2001 balance sheet.

        The components of our other intangible assets as December 31, 2002, are as follows (in thousands, except for years):

  

Useful
Life in
Years

 

Gross
Carrying
Amount

 

Accumulated
Amortization

 

Net



Core technology  5  $ 8,100 $ 2,430 $ 5,670
Developed product technology  5   2,900  870  2,030
Intellectual property  5-7   7,301  2,943  4,358
Supplier and customer relations  5   5,140  1,728  3,412
      
    $ 23,441 $ 7,971 $ 15,470
      

        Amortization expense related to other intangible assets totaled $4.5 million and $3.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. The following table shows
expected future amortization expense for other intangible assets until they are fully amortized (in thousands):

For the Year Ending December 31,

  
2003  $ 4,507
2004   4,507
2005   4,507
2006   1,949
  
  $ 15,470
  

Note 6—Acquisitions

        In June 2001, we completed the acquisition of Shearwater and paid a total consideration of $192.2 million in cash and stock (including assumption of outstanding options
to acquire Shearwater common stock) for a 100% interest in Shearwater. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase
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method of accounting and the results of Shearwater's operations from the date of acquisition have been included in the consolidated statement of operations. In connection with
the acquisition, we recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately $94.6 million and recorded an $83.6 million purchased in-process research and development
charge. At the date of the acquisition, we concluded that the IPR&D technology had no alternative future use and did not qualify for capitalization. The cost to acquire
Shearwater has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed according to their respective fair values, with the excess purchase price being allocated to goodwill.
Shearwater Corporation was renamed Nektar Therapeutics AL, Corporation in January 2003.

        In January 2001, we acquired all of the outstanding share capital of Bradford Particle Design in exchange for approximately 3.75 million newly issued shares of our
common stock and approximately $20.4 million in cash. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and the results of Bradford Particle
Design's operations from the date of acquisition have been included in the consolidated statement of operations. Of the total purchase consideration of $152.1 million,
$89.4 million was allocated to the assets acquired based on their fair value on the date of acquisition, including $80.1 million in goodwill and other intangible assets and
estimated acquisitions costs of $4.0 million. Approximately $62.7 million of the purchase price was allocated to IPR&D, which was charged to expense. At the date of the
acquisition, we concluded that the IPR&D technology had no alternative future use and did not qualify for capitalization. Bradford Particle Design was renamed Nektar
Therapeutics UK, LTD in January 2003.

        IPR&D represents that portion of the purchase price of an acquisition related to the research and development activities which: (i) have not demonstrated their
technological feasibility, and (ii) have no alternative future uses. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we recognized a total purchased IPR&D charge of approximately
$146.3 million upon consummation of both acquisitions (nil for the year ended December 31, 2002).

Other Purchased Technology

        In 2000, we recorded a $2.3 million charge for acquired IPR&D. The acquisition was recorded as a purchase and $2.3 million of the purchase price was allocated to
IPR&D, which was immediately expensed. At the date of the acquisition, the in-process technology had no alternative future use and did not qualify for capitalization.

Note 7—Deposits and Other Assets

        Deposits and other assets consist of the following (in thousands) at:

  

December 31,

  

2002

 

2001

Debt issuance costs, net  $ 5,945 $ 7,213
Deposits and other assets   662  2,281
   
Total deposits and other assets  $ 6,607 $ 9,494
   

        Debt issuance costs are associated with our outstanding series of convertible subordinated debentures and notes (See Note 8) and are amortized over the term of the related
debt.
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Note 8—Convertible Subordinated Notes & Debentures

        In October 2000, we received approximately $222.8 million in net proceeds from the issuance of $230.0 million aggregate principal amount of convertible subordinated
notes to certain qualified institutional buyers pursuant to an exemption under the Rule 144A of the 1933 Act. Interest on the notes accrues at a rate of 3.5% per year, subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances. The notes will mature in October 2007 and are convertible into shares of our Common Stock at a conversion price of $50.46 per share,
subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. The notes are redeemable in part or in total at any time before October 17, 2003 at $1,000 per $1,000 principal amount plus a
provisional redemption exchange premium, payable in cash or shares of Common Stock, of $105.00 per $1,000 principal mount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the



redemption date, if the closing price of our Common Stock has exceeded 150% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30
consecutive trading days. The notes are also redeemable in part or in total at any time after October 17, 2003 at certain redemption prices dependent upon the date of redemption
if the closing price of our Common Stock has exceeded 120% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days.
Interest is payable semi-annually on April 17 and October 17. The notes are unsecured obligations, which rank junior in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior
debt. At December 31, 2002, $230.0 million of these 3.5% convertible subordinated notes remain outstanding.

        In February 2000, we received approximately $222.4 million in net proceeds from the issuance of $230.0 million aggregate principal amount of convertible subordinated
notes to certain qualified institutional buyers pursuant to an exemption under Rule 144A of the 1933 Act. Interest on the notes accrues at a rate of 5.0% per year, subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances. The notes will mature in February 2007 and are convertible into shares of our Common Stock at a conversion price of $38.355 per share,
subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. The notes are redeemable in part or in total at any time before February 8, 2003 at an exchange premium of $137.93 per $1,000
principal amount, less any interest actually paid on the notes before the call for redemption, if the closing price of our Common Stock has exceeded 150% of the conversion
price then in effect for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days. We can redeem some or all of the notes at any time after February 8, 2003,
depending on the date of the redemption. Interest is payable semi-annually on August 8 and February 8. The notes are unsecured subordinated obligations, which rank junior in
right of payment to all of our existing and future Senior Debt. In October 2000, we also entered into privately negotiated agreements with certain holders of our outstanding
5.0% convertible subordinated notes due February 2007 and sold in February 2000 providing for the conversion of our notes into Common Stock in exchange for a cash
payment. To date, we have secured agreements that provided for the conversion of $168.6 million aggregate principal amount of these outstanding 5.0% convertible
subordinated notes into approximately 4.4 million shares of Common Stock for cash payments of approximately $25.5 million. Approximately $61.4 million of these 5.0%
convertible subordinated notes remain outstanding at December 31, 2002.

        Also in February 2000, we entered into privately negotiated agreements with certain holders of our outstanding 6.75% convertible subordinated debentures sold in October
and November 1999, providing for the conversion of approximately $100.7 million aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debentures into approximately 6.3 million
shares of Common Stock for net payments of approximately $15.2 million. These debentures will mature in October 2006 and are convertible into shares of our Common Stock
at a conversion price of $16.01 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. The debentures are redeemable in part or in total at our option on or after October 13,
2002. Interest is payable semi-annually on April 13 and October 13. The debentures are unsecured subordinated obligations, which rank junior in
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right of payment to all of our existing and future senior debt. Approximately $7.8 million of these 6.75% convertible subordinated debentures remain outstanding at
December 31, 2002.

        Costs relating to the issuances of these notes and debentures are recorded as long-term assets and are amortized over the term of the debt. As of December 31, 2002 and
2001 we had approximately $299.1 million in outstanding convertible subordinated notes and debentures with a fair market value of approximately $168.4 million and
$204.5 million, respectively. The fair market was obtained through quoted market prices.

Note 9—Commitments, Long-term Debt and Tenant Improvement Loan

Facilities Lease & Financing

        We lease our office and laboratory facilities under several arrangements expiring through the year 2016. Rent expense was approximately $3.1 million, $2.5 million and
$3.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

        In 2002, we paid $0.3 million as rent for a facility in Alabama to Shearwater Polymers, LLC, of which J. Milton Harris is a member. J. Milton Harris is a Section 16 officer
in our company. The rent reflects the fair market rate in the geographic area.

        In November 1997, we received from the landlord of our facility in San Carlos, California a loan of $5.0 million to fund a portion of the cost of improvements made to the
facility. The loan bears interest at 9.46% per annum, and principal and interest payments are payable monthly over the ten-year loan term with a balloon payment of $4.5 million
due in November 2007. In October 2002, we renegotiated the terms of this agreement. As a result, we made a $1.5 million principal payment and reduced the interest rate by
1.5%. The loan now bears an interest rate of 7.96% per annum, and principal and interest payments are payable monthly over the original ten-year loan term with a balloon
payment of $3.2 million due in November 2007.

        Future non-cancelable commitments under operating leases and the tenant improvement loan at December 31, 2002 are as follows (in thousands):

  

Operating
Leases

 

Tenant
Improvement

Loan

 
Years Ending December 31,        
 2003  $ 2,815 $ 291 
 2004   2,717  291 
 2005   2,760  291 
 2006   2,807  291 
 2007   2,876  3,413 
 2008 and thereafter   12,567  — 
    
Total minimum payments required  $ 26,542 $ 4,577 
Less amount representing interest      (1,266)
      
Present value of future payments      3,311 
Less current portion      (28)
      
Non-current portion     $ 3,283 
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Build-to-Suit Lease

        In October 2000, we entered into a build-to-suit lease transaction with a real estate partnership to finance and manage construction of our San Carlos research and office
facility. We contributed land and existing construction in progress to the real estate partnership and lease the research and office facility for a period of 16 years through 2016. In



addition, all costs related to the construction paid by us prior to the October transaction were reimbursed to us. Due to our continuing involvement in the real estate partnership
and other provisions of the agreement, the real estate partnership is consolidated in our financial statements as a capital lease obligation.

        The total committed future minimum lease payments under the terms of this lease agreement are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,     
 2003  $ 5,628 
 2004   5,741 
 2005   5,855 
 2006   5,973 
 2007   6,092 
 2008 and thereafter   58,766 
   
Total minimum payments required   88,055 
Less amount representing interest   (42,141)
   
Present value of future payments  $ 45,914 
   

        We have recorded a total liability of $32.9 million and $32.7 million relating to this build-to-suit lease as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which represents
the present value of future minimum payments for the construction completed net of payments on the lease.

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies

        On August 30, 2002, a complaint was filed by David F. Kachensky in the Circuit Court of Madison County, Alabama, against J. Milton Harris, James R. Hudson, Jr.,
Shearwater Corporation and Nektar Therapeutics AL, Corporation, as the successor corporation to Shearwater. Dr. Harris is the president of our Nektar Therapeutics AL,
Corporation Among other things, the Complaint alleges that the Defendants breached an agreement allegedly entered into by and between certain of the defendants and the
plaintiff prior to our acquisition of Shearwater, whereby the defendants allegedly agreed, among other things, to convey to the plaintiff five percent (5%) of the capital stock of
Shearwater outstanding as of December 1997 in exchange for certain work and consideration from plaintiff. The Complaint seeks damages in the amount of approximately
$15 million. On October 7, 2002, the defendants filed answers to the Complaint denying the allegations and asserting affirmative defenses. Discovery is underway, and no trial
date has been set. We have denied the allegations in the Complaint and intends to vigorously defend ourselves in the litigation, including filing motions for summary judgment.
A mediation is scheduled in this matter for April 2, 2003.

        From time to time, we may be involved in other lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, consisting of intellectual property, commercial, employment and other
matters, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 5,
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Accounting for Contingencies, we make a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonable
estimated. These provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, ruling, advice of legal counsel, and other information
and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is inherently unpredictable. However, we believe that we have valid defenses with respect to the legal matters pending
against us, as well as adequate provisions for any probably and estimable losses. If any unfavorable ruling were to occur in any specific period, there exists the possibility of a
material adverse impact on the results of operations of that period. We believe that, given our current liquidity and cash and investment balances, even if we receive an adverse
judgment with respect to litigation that we are currently a party to, such judgment would not have a material impact on cash and investments or liquidity.

        The following is a summary of our agreements that we have determined are within the scope of FIN No. 45 which are specifically grandfathered because the guarantees
were in effect prior to December 31, 2002. Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2002, except as noted below.

Director and Officer Indemnifications

        As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or
was serving, at our request in such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer's or director's lifetime. The maximum potential amount of future payments
we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, we have a Director and Officer insurance policy that may limit our exposure and
may enable us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Assuming the applicability of this coverage, the willingness of the insurer to assume coverage and subject to
certain retention, loss limits and other policy provisions, we believe any obligations to our directors and officers are not material. However, no assurances can be given that the
covering insurers will not attempt to dispute the validity, applicability or amount of coverage without expensive litigation against these insurer, in which case we may incur
substantial liabilities as a result of these indemnification obligations.

Lease Restoration

        We have several operating leases for our facilities in multiple locations. In the event that we do not exercise our option to extend the term of the lease, we guarantee certain
costs to restore the property to certain conditions in place at the time of lease. We believe the estimated fair value of this guarantee is minimal.

Strategic Alliance—Enzon

        In January 2002, we announced a broad strategic alliance with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc that included a collaboration to develop three products using one of our particle
engineering technologies. Under the terms of the agreement, we are responsible for the development of drug formulations for the agreed upon pharmaceutical agents. We are
required to self-fund a portion of these costs. As of December 31, 2002, we are required to fund $16.1 million in the coming years without reimbursement for research and
development expenses. To date these costs have been included in our research and development expenses. After our funding requirement has been met, Enzon will provide
research and development funding as well as milestone payments as the program progresses through clinical testing.
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Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with Contract Manufacturers



        In August 2000, we entered into a Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with our contract manufacturers to provide for the manufacturing of our pulmonary inhaler for
Exubera. Under the terms of the Agreement, we may be obligated to reimburse the contract manufacturers for the actual unamortized and unrecovered portion of any equipment
procured or facilities established and the interest accrued for their capital overlay in the event that Exubera does not gain FDA approval to the extent that the contract
manufacturers cannot re-deploy the assets. While such payments may be significant, at the present time, it is not possible to estimate the loss that will occur should Exubera not
be approved. We have also agreed to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the contract manufacturers from and against third party liability arising out of the agreement,
including product liability and infringement of intellectual property. There is no limitation on the potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these
indemnification obligations. We have never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification obligations. If any of our indemnification
obligations is triggered, we may incur substantial liabilities.

Security Agreement with Pfizer, Inc.

        In connection with the Collaboration, Development and License Agreement ("CDLA") dated January 18, 1995 that we entered into with Pfizer, Inc, for the development of
the Exubera (inhaleable insulin) product, we entered into a Security Agreement pursuant to which our obligations under the CDLA and certain Manufacturing and Supply
Agreements related to the manufacture and supply of powdered insulin and pulmonary inhaler devices for the delivery of powdered insulin, are secured. Our default under any
of these agreements triggers Pfizer's rights with respect to property relating solely to, or used or which will be used solely in connection with, the development, manufacture, use
and sale of Exubera including proceeds from the sale or other disposition of the property.

Collaboration Agreements for Pulmonary Products

        As part of our collaboration agreements with our partners for the development, manufacture and supply of products based on our pulmonary delivery system, we generally
agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless our partners from and against third party liabilities arising out of the agreement, including product liability and infringement of
intellectual property. The term of these indemnification obligations is generally perpetual any time after execution of the agreement. There is no limitation on the potential
amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification obligations. We have never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to
these indemnification obligations. If any of our indemnification obligations is triggered, we may incur substantial liabilities.
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License, Manufacturing and Supply Agreements for Products Based on our Advanced PEGylation Technology

        As part of our license, manufacturing and supply agreements with our partners for the development and/or manufacture and supply of PEG reagents based on our advanced
PEGylation technology, we generally agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless our partners from and against third party liabilities arising out of the agreement, including
product liability and infringement of intellectual property. The term of these indemnification obligations is generally perpetual any time after execution of the agreement. There
is no limitation on the potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification obligations. We have never incurred costs to defend
lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification obligations. If any of our indemnification obligations is triggered, we may incur substantial liabilities.

Note 11—Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

        We have authorized 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, each share having a par value of $0.0001. Three million one hundred thousand (3,100,000) shares of Preferred
Stock are designated Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (the "Series A Preferred Stock") and forty thousand (40,000) shares of Preferred Stock are designated as
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the "Series B Preferred Stock").

Series A Preferred Stock

        On June 1, 2001 the Board of Directors approved the adoption of a Share Purchase Rights Plan (the "Plan"). Terms of the Plan provide for a dividend distribution of one
preferred share purchase right (a "Right") for each outstanding share of our Common Stock (the "Common Shares"). The Rights have certain anti-takeover effects and will cause
substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to acquire the Company on terms not approved by our Board of Directors. The dividend distribution was payable on
June 22, 2001 (the "Record Date") to the stockholders of record on that date. Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us one one-hundredth of a share of
Series A Preferred Stock at a price of $225.00 per one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock (the "Purchase Price"), subject to adjustment. Each one one-
hundredth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock has designations and powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions which make its value
approximately equal to the value of a Common Share.

        The Rights are not exercisable until the Distribution Date (as defined in the Certificate of Designation for the Series A Preferred Stock). The Rights will expire on June 1,
2011, unless the Rights are earlier redeemed or exchanged by us. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to a minimum preferential quarterly dividend payment
of $1.00 but will be entitled to an aggregate dividend of 100 times the dividend declared per Common Share. In the event of liquidation, the holders of the Series A Preferred
Stock would be entitled to a minimum preferential liquidation payment of $100 per share, but would be entitled to receive an aggregate payment equal to 100 times the payment
made per Common Share. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock will have 100 votes, voting together with the Common Shares. Finally, in the event of any merger,
consolidation or other transaction in which Common Shares are exchanged, each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive 100 times the amount of
consideration received per Common Share. Because of the nature of the Series A Preferred Stock dividend and liquidation rights, the value of one one-hundredth of a share of
Series A Preferred
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Stock should approximate the value of one Common Share. The Series A Preferred Stock ranks junior to the Series B Preferred Stock and would rank junior to any other series
of preferred stock. Until a Right is exercised, the holder thereof, as such, will have no rights as a stockholder, including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive
dividends.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

        In connection with a strategic alliance with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., we entered into a Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement pursuant to which we sold to Enzon and
Enzon purchased from us forty thousand (40,000) shares of non-voting Series B Preferred Stock at a purchase price of one thousand dollars ($1,000) per share for an aggregate
purchase price of forty million dollars ($40,000,000). A Certificate of Designation filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware sets forth the rights, privileges and preferences
of the Series B Preferred Stock. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designation, the Series B Preferred Stock does not have voting rights. The Series B Preferred Stock is convertible,
in whole or in part, into that number of shares of our Common Stock (the "Conversion Shares") equal to the quotient of $1,000 per share divided by the Conversion Price. The
"Conversion Price" shall initially be equal to $22.79 per share or 125% of the Closing Price and at no time can the Preferred Stock convert into shares of Common Stock at a
discount to the Closing Price. The "Closing Price" equals $18.23 per share and was based upon the average of our closing bid prices as listed on the NASDAQ National Market
for the twenty (20) trading days preceding the date of the closing of the transaction.



        The Series B Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder after the first anniversary of the original issuance of the Series B Preferred Stock (the "Original Issue
Date") or, if earlier, upon a Change in Control (as defined in the Certificate of Designation). Except with respect to an automatic conversion as described below, the Conversion
Price shall be equal to 125% of the Closing Price until the third anniversary of the Original Issue Date. Upon the third anniversary of the Original Issue Date, the Conversion
Price shall be adjusted to be equal to either (i) the Closing Price, in the event that the average of the closing bid prices of our Common Stock as quoted on the NASDAQ
National Market for the twenty (20) trading days preceding the third anniversary of the original issuance (the "Future Price") is less than or equal to the Closing Price; (ii) the
Future Price (as defined above) if the Future Price is greater than the Closing Price but less than 125% of the Closing Price; or (iii) 125% of the Closing Price if the Future Price
is equal to or greater than 125% of the Closing Price.

        To the extent not previously converted, the Series B Preferred Stock will automatically convert into shares of our Common Stock, based on the then effective Conversion
Price, upon the earliest of (i) the fourth anniversary of the Original Issue Date; (ii) immediately prior to an Asset Transfer or Acquisition (as defined in the Certificate of
Designation); or (iii) with the consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding Series B Preferred Stock immediately prior to a liquidation, dissolution or winding up
of Nektar. In the event of an automatic conversion pursuant to an asset transfer, acquisition or liquidation, the adjustment mechanism described above will be applied
immediately prior to the automatic conversion.

        In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding down, either voluntary or involuntary, following the payment of any distributions due the holders of any class of
capital stock or series of preferred stock that ranks senior to the Series B Preferred Stock, the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, prior and in
preference to any distribution of any of our assets or surplus funds to the holders of our Common Stock or any class of capital stock or series of preferred stock that does not
rank senior to or on parity with the Series B Preferred Stock, an amount per share (as adjusted for any
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combinations, consolidations, stock distributions or stock dividends with respect to the Series B Preferred Stock) equal to up to $1,000.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

        In February 1994, our Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchase Plan"). Under the Purchase Plan, 300,000 shares of Common Stock
have been reserved for purchase by our employees pursuant to section 423(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. In May 2002, we amended and restated the Purchase Plan
to increase the number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance under the Purchase Plan from a total of 300,000 shares to a total of 800,000 shares. Our stockholders
approved this amendment in June 2002. As of December 31, 2002, no shares of Common Stock have been issued under the Purchase Plan.

Stock Option Plans

        The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 2002, with respect to shares of our Common Stock that may be issued under the our existing equity
compensation plans:

Plan Category

 

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(a)

 

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(b)

 

Number of securities remaining
available for issuance under
equity compensation plans

(excluding securities reflected
in column(a))

(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders  4,749,878 $ 16.16 1,450,990
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders  9,295,063 $ 18.98 1,313,868
      
Total  14,044,941 $ 18.02 2,764,858
      

(1) Does not include 800,000 shares reserved for our Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

(2) Does not include options to purchase 62,317 shares assumed in connection with the acquisition of Bradford Particle Design Ltd (with a weighted-average exercise price
of $7.46) and options to purchase 634,635 shares we assumed in connection with the acquisition of Shearwater Corporation (with a weighted-average exercise price of
$0.03).

2000 Equity Incentive Plan

        Our 1994 Equity Incentive Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors on February 10, 1994 and was amended and restated in its entirety and renamed the "2000 Equity
Incentive Plan" on April 19, 2000. The purpose of the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan is to attract and retain qualified personnel, to provide additional incentives to our employees,
officers, consultants and employee directors and to promote the success of our business. Pursuant to the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, we may grant or issue incentive stock
options to employees and officers and non-qualified stock options, rights to acquire restricted stock and stock bonuses to consultants, employees, officers and employee
directors. Options granted to non-employees are recorded at fair value based on the fair value measurement criteria of FAS 123.
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        The maximum term of a stock option under the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan is ten years, but if the optionee at the time of grant has voting power of more than 10% of our
outstanding capital stock, the maximum term of an incentive stock option is five years. The exercise price of incentive stock options granted under the 2000 Equity Incentive
Plan must be at least equal to 100% (or 110% with respect to holders of more than 10% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock) of the fair market value of the stock
subject to the option on the date of the grant. The exercise price of non-qualified stock options, and the purchase price of rights to acquire restricted stock, granted under the
2000 Equity Incentive Plan are determined by the Board of Directors.

        The Board may amend the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan at any time, although certain amendments would require stockholder approval. The 2000 Equity Incentive Plan will
terminate on February 9, 2010 unless earlier terminated by the Board.

Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan



        On February 10, 1994, our Board of Directors adopted the Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan under which options to purchase up to 400,000 shares of our
Common Stock at the then fair market value may be granted to our non-employee directors.

2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan

        Our 1998 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors on August 18, 1998 and was amended and restated in its entirety and renamed the
"2000 Non-officer Equity Incentive Plan" on June 6, 2000 (the "2000 Plan"). The purpose of the 2000 Plan is to attract and retain qualified personnel, to provide additional
incentives to employees and consultants and to promote the success of our business. Pursuant to the 2000 plan, we may grant or issue non-qualified stock options, rights to
acquire restricted stock and stock bonuses to employees and consultants who are neither Officers nor Directors of Nektar.

        The maximum term of a stock option under the 2000 Plan is ten years. The exercise price of stock options, and the purchase price of restricted stock granted under the 2000
Plan are determined by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may amend the 2000 Non-officer Equity Incentive Plan at any time.

        On January 25, 2002, we offered to certain employees (officers and directors were excluded) the ability to exchange certain options ("Eligible Options") to purchase shares
of our Common Stock granted prior to July 24, 2001 with exercise prices greater than or equal to $25.00 per share for replacement options to purchase shares of our Common
Stock to be granted under the 2000 Plan. We conducted the exchange with respect to the Eligible Options on a one-for-two (1:2) basis. If an employee accepted this offer with
respect to any Eligible Option, such employee also was obligated to exchange all options to acquire our Common Stock granted to such employee on or after July 24, 2001 (the
"Mandatory Exchange Options"). We conducted the exchange with respect to Mandatory Exchange Options on a one-for-one (1:1) basis. A total of 90 employees participated in
the exchange offer, exchanging 1,217,500 Eligible Options and 78,170 Mandatory Exchange Options to purchase shares of our Common Stock. We issued Replacement Options
to purchase 686,920 shares of Common Stock on August 26, 2002 at an exercise price equal to the closing price of our Common Stock as reported on the NASDAQ National
Market on the last market trading day prior to the date of grant ($7.31).
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        A summary of activity under the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, the Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan and the 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan is as follows
(in thousands, except for per share information):

  

Options Outstanding

  

  

Number of
Shares

 

Exercise Price
Per Share

 

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Per Share

Balance at December 31, 1999  9,106 $ 0.01-20.94 $ 10.76
 Options granted  4,283  0.01-61.63  33.62
 Options exercised  (2,173)  0.01-42.50  8.40
 Options canceled  (280)  7.25-60.88  28.07
        
Balance at December 31, 2000  10,936  0.01-61.63  19.79
 Options granted  5,335  0.032-50.50  21.32
 Options exercised  (855)  0.005-21.55  6.20
 Options canceled  (744)  0.005-60.50  23.82
        
Balance at December 31, 2001  14,672  0.005-61.63  20.96
 Options granted  3,232  4.13-18.55  8.93
 Options exercised  (198)  0.005-14.13  2.23
 Options canceled  (2,964)  0.01-61.63  27.62
        
Balance at December 31, 2002  14,742 $ 0.005-61.63 $ 17.20
        

        At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, options were exercisable to purchase 7.5 million, 5.6 million and 2.9 million shares at weighted-average exercise prices of $15.76,
$14.57 and $11.27 per share, respectively.
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        Weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, was $5.56, $25.62 and $34.20, respectively. The following table
provides information regarding our stock option plans as of December 31, 2002 (in thousands, except per share information):

  

Options Outstanding

 

Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise
Prices

 

Number

 

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Per Share

 

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contractual

Life (in years)

 

Number

 

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Per Share

$ 0.01-0.01 175 $ 0.01 6.5 114 $ 0.01
 0.01-0.01 1  0.01 7.8 —  —
 0.03-0.03 635  0.03 8.5 635  0.03
 0.11-0.15 9  0.14 0.6 9  0.14
 1.39-1.39 34  1.39 1.1 34  1.39
 2.78-4.13 150  3.20 1.9 149  3.20
 4.31-6.42 918  5.49 6.5 444  4.97
 6.50-9.63 2,552  7.91 8.0 1,019  8.23
 9.81-14.63 3,404  13.54 6.3 2,139  16.62
 14.76-22.00 1,706  16.77 7.3 719  16.43
 22.31-33.30 4,176  27.06 7.6 1,837  27.04
 33.56-50.19 922  40.03 7.4 383  40.34
 50.38-61.63 60  53.47 7.3 19  54.01



          
$ 0.01-61.63 14,742  17.20 7.2 7,501  15.76

          

Warrants

        At December 31, 2002, we had a total of 56,000 warrants outstanding. In 2000, we issued six warrants to purchase a total of 16,000 shares of Common Stock. Some of the
warrants bear an exercise price of $45.88 per share and expire after 10 years. We have two additional warrants to purchase a total of 40,000 shares of Common Stock that were
issued in 1996. These warrants expire after ten years and bear an exercise price of $6.56 per share. No warrants were issued during the years ended December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001.

Stock issued to non-employees

        In 2002, we did not issue options to consultants below market price. In 2001, we granted 7,000 options to consultants with exercise prices below the market price of the
stock on the grant date. Options granted to consultants are recorded according the Black-Scholes method over the vesting period. For the year ended December 31, 2002, 2001,
and 2000, we have recorded compensation costs of $0.3 million, $0.6 million and $3.2 million, respectively.

        In 2002, we issued Common Stock to AFAC Equity, L.P., an affiliated partnership of McKinsey Corporation, a consulting firm, in exchange for services rendered by
McKinsey. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded approximately $1.0 million in value of the services totaling 140,059 of Common Stock shares. The agreement
ended in October 2002.

89

Deferred Compensation

        Deferred compensation during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was immaterial. Deferred compensation of $1.2 million had been recorded in the year ended
December 31, 2000. These amounts represent the difference between the exercise price and the deemed fair market value of certain of our stock options granted in these periods
and are being amortized to expense over the five-year vesting period of the options.

Reserved Shares

        At December 31, 2002, we have reserved shares of Common Stock for issuance as follows (in thousands):

Warrants to purchase Common Stock  56
Employee purchase plan  800
Convertible preferred stock  1,755
Convertible subordinated notes and debentures  6,644
Stock options  14,742
Shares reserved for retirement plans  180
  
  24,177
  

Note 12—Income Taxes

        As of December 31, 2002, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $305.0 million and $34.0 million, respectively. We also had federal
and state research and other tax credit carryforwards of approximately $5.4 million and $5.5 million, respectively. The federal and state net operating loss and credit
carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2004 through 2022, if not utilized.

        Utilization of the federal and state net operating loss and credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the "change in ownership" provisions
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before utilization.

        There is no provision for income taxes because we have incurred operating losses. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of loss and credit carryforwards and
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
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        Significant components of our deferred tax assets for federal and state income taxes as of December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

  

December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2001

 
Deferred tax assets:        
 Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 105,900 $ 70,700 
 Research and other credits   9,100  8,000 
 Capitalized research expenses   13,500  9,300 
 Deferred revenue   7,800  6,100 
 Depreciation   5,100  4,600 
 Other   12,200  14,200 
    
Total deferred tax assets   153,600  112,900 
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets   (153,600)  (112,900)
    
Net deferred tax assets  $ — $ — 
    



        Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Because of our lack of earnings history, the net
deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased by $40.7 million and $44.8 million during the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively. Approximately $25.0 million of the valuation allowance is related to the benefit of the stock options deductions, which, when recognized will be
allocated to capital in excess of par value.
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Note 13—Statement of Cash Flows Data

  

Years Ended December 31,

  

2002

 

2001

 

2000

Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information (in thousands):          
 Interest paid  $ 16,836 $ 15,602 $ 8,263
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing
activities (in thousands):          
 Deferred compensation related to the issuance of stock options  $ (135) $ (23) $ 1,162
 Issuance of Common Stock in connection with acquisitions  $ — $ 239,816 $ —
Non-cash disclosure related to acquisition of Bradford Particle
Design (in thousands):          
 Tangible assets acquired, net of cash  $ — $ 2,100 $ —
 Acquired in-process research and development   —  62,660  —
 Goodwill and other intangible assets acquired   —  80,108  —
 Acquisition costs incurred   —  (4,000)  —
 Liabilities assumed   —  (487)  —
 Common Stock and options issued   —  (125,576)  —
    

 
Cash paid for acquisition of Bradford Particle Design (net of cash
received)  $ — $ 14,805 $ —

    
Non-cash disclosure related to acquisition of Shearwater
Corporation (in thousands):          
 Tangible assets acquired, net of cash  $ — $ 15,212 $ —
 Acquired in-process research and development   —  83,600  —
 Goodwill and other intangible assets acquired   —  94,619  —
 Acquisition costs incurred   —  (5,417)  —
 Liabilities assumed   —  (6,528)  —
 Common Stock and options issued   —  (114,240)  —
    

 
Cash paid for acquisition of Shearwater Corporation (net of cash
received)  $ — $ 67,246 $ —

    

Note 14-Related Party Transactions

        In 2002, we paid $0.3 million as rent for a facility in Alabama to Shearwater Polymers, LLC, of which J. Milton Harris is a member. J. Milton Harris is a Section 16 officer
in our company. The rent reflects the fair market rate in the geographic area.

        In 2002, we paid $0.7 million for legal services rendered by Alston & Bird LLP of which Paul F. Pedigo, Esq. is a Partner. Mr. Pedigo is a relative by marriage of J. Milton
Harris, a Section 16 officer of our company. We believe this amount is materially representative of fair value for the services rendered.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

        Not applicable.
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 

        Information relating to our directors is incorporated by referenced from the definitive proxy statement for our 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form (the "Proxy Statement") under the headings "Proposal 1, Election
of Directors" and Section 16(A) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance. Information with respect to our executive officers is set forth below.

        The following table sets forth the names, ages and positions of our executive officers as of February 28, 2003:

Name

 

Age

 

Position

Robert B. Chess  46 Executive Chairman of the Board
Ajit S. Gill  54 Director, Chief Executive Officer and President
Ajay Bansal  41 Vice President, Finance and Administration, Chief Financial Officer
Brigid A. Makes  47 Vice President, Operations Management
John S. Patton, Ph.D.  56 Director, Founder and Chief Scientific Officer



Arnold J. Repta, Ph.D.  61 Vice President, Research & Development
J. Milton Harris, Ph.D.  62 President of Nektar Therapeutics AL, Corporation

        Robert B. Chess has served as Executive Chairman of our board since April 1999, and as a director since May 1992. Mr. Chess served as Co-Chief Executive Officer from
August 1998 to April 2000, as President from December 1991 to August 1998, and as Chief Executive Officer from May 1992 to September 1998. From September 1990 until
October 1991, he was an Associate Deputy Director in the White House Office of Policy Development. In March 1987, Mr. Chess co-founded Penederm Incorporated, a topical
dermatological drug delivery company, and served as its President until February 1989. Prior to co-founding Penederm, Mr. Chess held management positions at Intel Corp., a
semiconductor manufacturer, and Metaphor, a computer software company (acquired by International Business Machines Corp.). Mr. Chess holds a B.S. in Engineering from
the California Institute of Technology and an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School. Mr. Chess is a director of Pharsight Corp., a software company, Biotechnology
Industry Organization, a trade organization serving and representing the emerging biotechnology industry and ChemGenex, Inc., a cancer therapeutics company.

        Ajit S. Gill has served as our Chief Executive Officer since April 2000, as President since April 1999, and as a director since April 1998. From August 1998 to April 2000,
Mr. Gill served as our Co-Chief Executive Officer. From October 1996 to August 1998, Mr. Gill served as our Chief Operating Officer and directed our Technical Operations
organization, including research and development. From January 1993 to October 1996, Mr. Gill served as our Chief Financial Officer. Before joining us, Mr. Gill was Vice
President and General Manager of Kodak's Interactive Systems Products Division. Mr. Gill has served as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer for TRW-Fujitsu
and Director of Business Development for VisiCorp, a pioneer in the personal computer software market. He holds a B. Tech from the Indian Institute of Technology, an M.S. in
Electrical Engineering from the University of Nebraska, and an M.B.A. from the University of Western Ontario. Mr. Gill is also a director of PharmQuest Corporation, a private
software company focusing on the pharmaceutical industry.

        Ajay Bansal has served as our Vice President of Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer since February 2003. From July 2002 until joining Nektar,
Mr. Bansal served as Director of Operations Analysis at Capital One Financial. From August 1998 to June 2002, Mr. Bansal was at Mehta Partners LLC, a financial advisory
firm and as a Partner since January 2000. Prior to joining Mehta Partners LLC, Mr. Bansal spent more than 10 years in management roles at Novartis, a major
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pharmaceutical company, and in consulting at Arthur D. Little, Inc., McKinsey & Company, Inc. and ZS Associates. Mr. Bansal holds a Bachelor of Technology from the Indian
Institute of Technology, an M.S. in Operations Management from Northwestern University and an M.B.A. from Northwestern University.

        Brigid A. Makes has served as our Vice President Operations Management since February 2003. Ms. Makes served as our Vice President of Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial Officer from June 1999 to February 2003. Ms. Makes has also served as our Assistant Secretary since January 2001. From 1998 until joining Nektar,
Ms. Makes served as Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer for Oravax, Inc., a life sciences company now. From 1992 to 1998, Ms. Makes served in various
management positions for Haemonetics Corporation, a developer of automated blood processing systems, including, from 1995 to 1998, Vice President Finance, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer. Prior to Haemonetics Corporation, Ms. Makes held a number of financial management positions at Lotus Development Corp. (now International Business
Machines) and General Electric Co. Ms. Makes holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from McGill University in Finance and International Business and an M.B.A. from
Bentley College.

        John S. Patton, Ph.D., our co-founder, has served as our Chief Scientific Officer since November 2001 and as a director since July 1990. Dr. Patton served as Vice
President, Research from December 1991 to November 2001. He served as our President from incorporation in July 1990 to December 1991. From 1985 to 1990, Dr. Patton was
a Project Team Leader with Genentech, Inc., a biotechnology company, where he headed their non-invasive drug delivery activities. Dr. Patton was on the faculty of the Marine
Science and Microbiology Departments at the University of Georgia from 1979 through 1985, where he was granted tenure in 1984. Dr. Patton received a B.S. in Zoology and
Biochemistry from Pennsylvania State University, an M.S. from the University of Rhode Island, a Ph.D. in Biology from the University of California, San Diego and received
post doctorate fellowships from Harvard Medical School and the University of Lund, Sweden, both in biomedicine. Dr. Patton is also a director of Saegis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
a biopharmaceutical company.

        Arnold J. Repta, Ph.D., has served as our Vice President of Research and Development since January 2002. From December 1996 to December 2001, Dr. Repta served as
Senior Vice President of DuPont Pharmaceuticals Co., and from July 1994 to December 1996, he served as Vice President of DuPont-Merck Pharmaceutical Company. From
December 1983 to July 1994, Dr. Repta served as President and Executive Director of INTERX Research Corporation, a subsidiary of Merck Research Laboratories. Prior to
that, Dr. Repta was on the faculty of University of Kansas from 1967 to 1996. Dr. Repta received his B.S. in Pharmacy and M.S. and Ph.D. in Pharmaceutics from the
University of Wisconsin-Madison.

        J. Milton Harris, Ph.D., has served as President of Nektar AL since our acquisition of Shearwater in 2001. Dr. Harris founded Shearwater in 1992. Before founding
Shearwater, Dr. Harris was the Distinguished Professor of Chemistry and Materials Science at the University of Alabama in Huntsville from 1985 to 1992. Dr. Harris received
his B.S. in chemistry from Auburn University and Ph.D. in organic chemistry from the University of Texas in Austin.

Scientific Advisory Group

        We have assembled scientific and development advisors that provide us with expertise in critical scientific, development, engineering, manufacturing and business issues
facing us. The scientific advisory group assists us on issues related to pulmonary delivery, pulmonary toxicology, aerosol science,
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government regulation, product selection and clinical trial design. Its members are called upon individually as needed and include, among others:

Name

 

Affiliation

 

Area of Expertise

Joseph Brain, Ph.D.  Professor, Department of Environmental
Health, Director, Physiology Program,
Harvard School of Public Health

 Pulmonary safety

Peter Byron, Ph.D.  Professor of Pharmacy, Virginia
Commonwealth University, Medical College
of Virginia

 Pharmaceutical aerosols

Carl Grunfeld, M.D.  Professor of Medicine, University of
California, San Francisco

 Endocrinology

Michael Matthay, M.D.  Professor of Medicine and Anesthesiology,
University of California, San Francisco

 Pulmonology



Gerald Smaldone, M.D.  Professor of Medicine, State University of
New York at Stony Brook

 Aerosol medicine

Regulatory and Development Advisory Board

        We have assembled a regulatory affairs board to assist and advise us on matters relating to efficient and effective regulatory processing and to better assist us and our
collaborative partners in obtaining regulatory approval for our products. The board currently includes the following:

Name

 

Affiliation

 

Area of Expertise

Carl C. Peck, M.D.  Professor of Pharmacology and Medicine,
Director, Center for Drug Development,
Georgetown University Medical Center

 Clinical regulatory and
development strategy

David Savello, Ph.D.  Executive Vice President and Chief
Technology Officer, R.P. Scherer, Inc.

 Pharmaceutical research and
development and regulatory
affairs

Phillip B. White  Director, Medical Device Consulting,
AAC Consulting (Retired)

 Device regulatory affairs

Allen J. Sedman, M.D., Ph.D.  Vice President, Clinical Sciences Head,
Pfizer Global Research and Development,
Ann Arbor, Michigan (Retired)

 Clinical drug development in
general; special expertise in
clinical pharmacology
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Pulmonary Advisory Committee

        We have assembled a pulmonary advisory committee to assist and advise us on matters relating to identification and understanding of potential pulmonary issues
encountered in our development programs. The committee currently includes the following:

Name

 

Affiliation

 

Area of Expertise

Jedd Shellito, M.D.  Professor of Microbiology,
Immunology and Parasitology,
Louisiana State University

 Pulmonary Host Defense/Immunology

Talmadge King, M.D.  Chief of Medical Services at San
Francisco General Hospital; Professor
and Vice Chairman Department of
Medicine, University of California,
San Francisco

 Pulmonary Medicine

Warren Gold, M.D.  Professor of Medicine, University of
California, San Francisco

 Pulmonary Function Testing

Michael Matthay, M.D.  Professor of Medicine and
Anesthesiology, University of
California, San Francisco

 Pulmonary Medicine & Critical Care

Paul Blanc, M.D.  Professor of Medicine, University of
California, San Francisco, Chief,
Division of Occupational and
Environmental Medicine, University
of California, San Francisco

 Occupational/Environmental Medicine

Rubin Tuder, M.D.  Director Cardiopulmonary Pathology,
Johns Hopkins University

 Pulmonary Pathology

Jay K Kolls, M.D.  Professor of Medicine and Pediatrics,
Louisiana State University School of
Medicine

 Pediatric Pulmonology

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

        Information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement under the headings "Executive Compensation," "Election of Directors," and "Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation," which information is incorporated herein by reference. Information contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption "Report
of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors on Executive Compensation," "Report of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors" and "Performance
Measurement Comparison" is not incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 



        Information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement under the headings "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and
"Equity Compensation Plan Information," which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

        Information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement under the headings "Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation" and "Certain
Transactions," which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures 

        Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.    Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we
have, as of a date within 90 days before the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date") evaluated the effectiveness of our "disclosure controls and procedures."
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Based on this evaluation,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that
information required to be disclosed in such reports is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

        Changes in Internal Controls.    There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to
the date of their last evaluation.

        Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls.    Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure
controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable,
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time,
control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report: 

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:

        The following financial statements are filed as part of this report under Item 8 "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

  

Page

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors  60
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2002 and 2001  61
Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002  62
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2002
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002  64
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  65

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules 

(3) Exhibits.

        Except as so indicated in Exhibit 99.1, the following as part of, or incoporated by reference into, this form 10-K.

Exhibit
Number

   

Description of Documents

2.1 (1) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 4, 1998, by and between Inhale Therapeutic Systems, a California corporation, and Inhale Therapeutic
Systems (Delaware), Inc., a Delaware corporation.

2.2 (15) Recommended Offer, dated December 21, 2000, by Cazenove & Co. on behalf of Nektar Therapeutics for Bradford Particle Design plc.

2.3 (20) Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated May 22, 2001, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Square Acquisition Corporation,
Shearwater Corporation, Certain Shareholders of Shearwater Corporation and J. Milton Harris as Shareholders' Agent.

2.4 (20) Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated June 21, 2001, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Square Acquisition
Corp., Shearwater Corporation, J. Milton Harris, as Shareholders' Agent and a Designated Shareholder, and Puffinus, L.P.

3.1 (1) Certificate of Incorporation of Inhale Therapeutic Systems (Delaware), Inc.

3.2 (1) Bylaws of Nektar Therapeutics.

3.3 (13) Certificate of Amendment of the Amended Certificate of Incorporation of Nektar Therapeutics.



3.4 (19) Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Nektar Therapeutics.
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3.5 (24) Certificate of Designation of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of Nektar Therapeutics.

3.6 (28) Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Therapeutics.

4.1   Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6.

4.2 (2) Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated April 29, 1993, as amended October 29, 1993, by and among Nektar Therapeutics and certain other
persons named therein.

4.3 (3) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 18, 1995, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Pfizer Inc.

4.4 (8) Form of Purchase Agreement, dated January 28, 1997, by and among Nektar Therapeutics and the individual Purchasers.

4.5 (9) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 8, 1998, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Capital Research and Management Company.

4.6 (11) Purchase Agreement, dated October 6, 1999, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Lehman Brothers Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and U.S.
Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.7 (11) Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 13, 1999, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Lehman Brothers Inc., Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.8 (11) Indenture, dated October 13, 1999, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, as Issuer, and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National
Association, as Trustee.

4.9 (11) Form of Inhale Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 25, 2000, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Alliance Pharmaceutical Corp.

4.10 (12) Purchase Agreement, dated February 2, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.11 (12) Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 8, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.12 (12) Indenture, dated February 8, 2000, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, as Issuer, and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National
Association, as Trustee.

4.13 (28) Specimen Common Stock certificate.

4.14 (14) Specimen warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock.

4.15 (16) Purchase Agreement, dated October 11, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.16 (16) Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 17, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.17 (16) Indenture, dated October 17, 2000, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, as Issuer, and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National
Association, as Trustee.
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4.18 (19) Rights Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2001, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Mellon Investor Services LLC., as Rights Agent.

4.19 (19) Form of Right Certificate.

4.20 (24) Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 7, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

4.21 (27) Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated June 7, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and AFAC Equity L.P.

4.22 (27) Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 9, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and AFAC Equity L.P.

4.23 (30) Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 6, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and AFAC Equity L.P.

10.1 (6) Nektar Therapeutics' 1994 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan, as amended.

10.2 (29) Nektar Therapeutics' 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated.++

10.3 (2) Standard Industrial Lease, dated September 17, 1992, as amended September 18, 1992, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and W.F. Batton &
Co., Inc.

10.4 (2) Addendum IV to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated April 1, 1994, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, W.F. Batton and Marie A. Batton.



10.5 (5) Amendment Agreement Number One to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated October 20, 1995, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and W.F.
Batton & Co., Inc.

10.6 (5) Amendment Agreement Number Two to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated November 15, 1995, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, W.F.
Batton and Marie A. Batton, Trustees of the W.F. Batton and Marie A. Batton Trust UTA dated January 12, 1998 ("Batton Trust").

10.7 (10) Amendment Agreement Number Three to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated February 14, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Batton Trust.

10.8 (10) Amendment Agreement Number Four to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated September 15, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Batton Trust.

10.9 (2) Sublicense Agreement, dated September 13, 1991, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and John S. Patton.++

10.10 (4) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Baxter World Trade Corporation.

10.11 (7) Sublease and Lease Agreement, dated October 2, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and T.M.T. Associates L.L.C. ("Landlord").

10.12 (10) First Amendment to Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated October 30, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.

10.13 (10) Letter Agreement amending Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated April 9, 1997, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.

10.14 (10) Third Amendment to Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated April 16, 1997, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.
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10.15 (10) Fourth Amendment to Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated November 5, 1997, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.

10.16 (12) Sublease, dated November 3, 1999, by and between Webvan Group, Inc., as sublessor, and Nektar Therapeutics, as sublessee.

10.17 (14) Nektar Therapeutics' 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.++

10.18 (14) Nektar Therapeutics' Stock Option Agreement issued in accordance with Nektar Therapeutics' 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.++

10.19 (14) Agreement for the Contribution of 201 Industrial Road Project, made and entered into as of September 14, 2000, by and among Nektar
Therapeutics, Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited partnership and Bernardo Property Advisors, Inc., a California corporation.

10.20 (14) Agreement of Limited Partnership of Inhale 201 Industrial Road., L.P., a California limited partnership, made and entered into September 14,
2000, by and among SCIMED PROP III, Inc., a California corporation, as general partner, 201 Industrial Partnership, a California general
partnership, as limited partner and Nektar Therapeutics, as limited partner.

10.21 (14) Build-To-Suit Lease, made and entered into as of September 14, 2000, by and between Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited
partnership, as Landlord, and Nektar Therapeutics, as Tenant.

10.22 (14) Amendment to Lease, dated October 3, 2000, by and between Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited partnership, as Landlord, and
Nektar Therapeutics, as Tenant.

10.23 (14) Parking Lease Agreement, entered into as of September 14, 2000, by and between Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited
partnership, as Landlord, and Nektar Therapeutics, as Tenant.

10.24 (17) Nektar Therapeutics' 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan.++

10.25 (23) Nektar Therapeutics 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement (Nonstatutory Stock Option).++

10.26 (23) Nektar Therapeutics 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement (Nonstatutory (Unapproved) Stock Option).

10.27+ (18) Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated August 16, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Tech Group North America and Bespak
Europe, LTD.

10.28 (21) The Bradford Particle Design plc Approved Employee Share Option Scheme.

10.29 (21) Form of The Bradford Particle Design plc Approved Employee Share Option Scheme Option Certificate.

10.30 (21) The Bradford Particle Design plc Unapproved Employee Share Option Scheme.

10.31 (21) Form of The Bradford Particle Design plc Unapproved Employee Share Option Scheme Option Certificate.

10.32 (21) Form of Agreement Granting an Enterprise Management Incentives Option.
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10.33 (21) Agreement Granting Options, dated November 5, 1999, by and between Mr. Joseph F. Bohan and Bradford Particle Design plc.

10.34 (21) Agreement Granting Options, dated October 27, 2000, by and between Mr. Joseph F. Bohan and Bradford Particle Design plc.

10.35 (22) Shearwater Corporation 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan.

10.36 (22) Amendment, effective May 22, 1998, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater Corporation.

10.37 (22) Second Amendment, effective February 26, 2000, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater Corporation.

10.38 (22) Third Amendment, effective October 5, 2000, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater.

10.39 (22) Fourth Amendment, effective June 22, 2001, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater Corporation.

10.40 (22) Form of Shearwater Corporation Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement.

10.41 (22) Form of June 2001 Amendment to Shearwater Corporation Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement.

10.42 (25) Nektar Therapeutics 401(k) Retirement Plan.++

10.43 (25) Non-Standardized Adoption Agreement No. 001 for use with Nektar Therapeutics 401(k) Retirement Plan.

10.44+ (27) Letter Agreement, dated July 31, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, and Douglas H. Altschuler.++

10.45 (30) Letter Agreement, dated December 29, 2001 by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Dr. Arnold J. Repta.++

10.46 (30) Nektar Therapeutics Severance Benefit Plan.++

21.1 (30) Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeutics.

23.1 (30) Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors.

24.1 (30) Power of Attorney. Reference is made to signature page.

99.1 (30) Certification of Officers Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

+ Confidential treatment with respect to specific portions are omitted and filed separately with the SEC. 

++ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 

(1) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998. 

(2) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-75942), as amended. 

(3) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-89502), as amended.
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(4) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1996. 

(5) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995. 

(6) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1996. 

(7) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996. 

(8) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-20787). 

(9) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-68897), as amended. 

(10) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999. 

(11) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-94161), as amended. 

(12) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999. 

(13) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000. 

(14) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000. 

(15) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 11, 2001. 

(16) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-53678), filed on January 12, 2001. 

(17) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-103040), filed on February 7, 2003. 

(18) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, for the year ended December 31, 2000. 



(19) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 4, 2001. 

(20) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2001. 

(21) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-55032), filed on February 6, 2001. 

(22) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-67342), filed on August 10, 2001. 

(23) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-71936), filed on October 19, 2001, as amended.
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(24) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 8, 2002. 

(25) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-76638), filed on January 11, 2002. 

(26) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002. 

(27) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002. 

(28) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 23, 2003. 

(29) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-98321), filed on August 19, 2002. 

(30) Filed herewith. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K for the three-month period ending December 31, 2002:

        None.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  By: /s/  AJIT S. GILL      

Ajit S. Gill
Chief Executive Officer,
President and Director

  Date: March 28, 2003

  By: /s/  AJAY BANSAL      

Ajay Bansal
Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief

Financial Officer

  Date: March 28, 2003
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

        KNOW ALL PERSON BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Ajit S. Gill and Ajay Bansal and each of them,
as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign
any and all amendments to this report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratify and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact
and agents, or any of them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature

 

Title

 

Date

/s/  AJIT S. GILL      

Ajit S. Gill

 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

 March 28, 2003

/s/  ROBERT B. CHESS       Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors  March 28, 2003



Robert B. Chess

/s/  AJAY BANSAL      

Ajay Bansal

 Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

 March 28, 2003

/s/  JOHN S. PATTON      

John S. Patton, Ph.D.

 Founder, Chief Scientific Officer and Director  March 28, 2003

/s/  MICHAEL A. BROWN      

Michael A. Brown  Director  March 28, 2003

/s/  JAMES B. GLAVIN      

James B. Glavin  Director  March 28, 2003

/s/  CHRISTOPHER A. KUEBLER      

Christopher A. Kuebler  Director  March 28, 2003

/s/  IRWIN LERNER      

Irwin Lerner  Director  March 28, 2003

/s/  MELVIN PERELMAN      

Melvin Perelman, Ph.D.  Director  March 28, 2003

/s/  ROY A. WHITFIELD      

Roy A. Whitfield  Director  March 28, 2003
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OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(A)

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        I, Ajit S. Gill, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Nektar Therapeutics; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared; 

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the
"Evaluation Date"); and 

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation
Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in the annual report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that
could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies
and material weaknesses.



Date: March 28, 2003

  /s/  AJIT S. GILL      

Ajit S. Gill
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
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OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(A)

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        I, Ajay Bansal, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Nektar Therapeutics; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared; 

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the
"Evaluation Date"); and 

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation
Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in the annual report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that
could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies
and material weaknesses.

Date: March 28, 2003

  /s/  AJAY BANSAL      

Ajay Bansal
Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit Index 

Exhibit
Number

   

Description of Documents

2.1 (1) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 4, 1998, by and between Inhale Therapeutic Systems, a California corporation, and Inhale Therapeutic
Systems (Delaware), Inc., a Delaware corporation.

2.2 (15) Recommended Offer, dated December 21, 2000, by Cazenove & Co. on behalf of Nektar Therapeutics for Bradford Particle Design plc.

2.3 (20) Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated May 22, 2001, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Square Acquisition Corporation,
Shearwater Corporation, Certain Shareholders of Shearwater Corporation and J. Milton Harris as Shareholders' Agent.

2.4 (20) Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated June 21, 2001, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Square Acquisition
Corp., Shearwater Corporation, J. Milton Harris, as Shareholders' Agent and a Designated Shareholder, and Puffinus, L.P.



3.1 (1) Certificate of Incorporation of Inhale Therapeutic Systems (Delaware), Inc.

3.2 (1) Bylaws of Nektar Therapeutics.

3.3 (13) Certificate of Amendment of the Amended Certificate of Incorporation of Nektar Therapeutics.

3.4 (19) Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Nektar Therapeutics.

3.5 (24) Certificate of Designation of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of Nektar Therapeutics.

3.6 (28) Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Therapeutics.

4.1   Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6.

4.2 (2) Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated April 29, 1993, as amended October 29, 1993, by and among Nektar Therapeutics and certain other
persons named therein.

4.3 (3) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 18, 1995, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Pfizer Inc.

4.4 (8) Form of Purchase Agreement, dated January 28, 1997, by and among Nektar Therapeutics and the individual Purchasers.

4.5 (9) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 8, 1998, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Capital Research and Management Company.

4.6 (11) Purchase Agreement, dated October 6, 1999, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Lehman Brothers Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and U.S.
Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.7 (11) Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 13, 1999, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Lehman Brothers Inc., Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.8 (11) Indenture, dated October 13, 1999, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, as Issuer, and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National
Association, as Trustee.
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4.9 (11) Form of Inhale Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 25, 2000, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Alliance Pharmaceutical Corp.

4.10 (12) Purchase Agreement, dated February 2, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.11 (12) Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 8, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.12 (12) Indenture, dated February 8, 2000, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, as Issuer, and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National
Association, as Trustee.

4.13 (28) Specimen Common Stock certificate.

4.14 (14) Specimen warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock.

4.15 (16) Purchase Agreement, dated October 11, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.16 (16) Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 17, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray Inc.

4.17 (16) Indenture, dated October 17, 2000, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, as Issuer, and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National
Association, as Trustee.

4.18 (19) Rights Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2001, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Mellon Investor Services LLC., as Rights Agent.

4.19 (19) Form of Right Certificate.

4.20 (24) Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 7, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

4.21 (27) Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated June 7, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and AFAC Equity L.P.

4.22 (27) Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 9, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and AFAC Equity L.P.

4.23 (30) Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 6, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and AFAC Equity L.P.

10.1 (6) Nektar Therapeutics' 1994 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan, as amended.

10.2 (29) Nektar Therapeutics' 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated.++

10.3 (2) Standard Industrial Lease, dated September 17, 1992, as amended September 18, 1992, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and W.F. Batton &
Co., Inc.

10.4 (2) Addendum IV to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated April 1, 1994, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, W.F. Batton and Marie A. Batton.



10.5 (5) Amendment Agreement Number One to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated October 20, 1995, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and W.F.
Batton & Co., Inc.
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10.6 (5) Amendment Agreement Number Two to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated November 15, 1995, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, W.F.
Batton and Marie A. Batton, Trustees of the W.F. Batton and Marie A. Batton Trust UTA dated January 12, 1998 ("Batton Trust").

10.7 (10) Amendment Agreement Number Three to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated February 14, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Batton Trust.

10.8 (10) Amendment Agreement Number Four to Lease dated September 17, 1992, dated September 15, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Batton Trust.

10.9 (2) Sublicense Agreement, dated September 13, 1991, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and John S. Patton.++

10.10 (4) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Baxter World Trade Corporation.

10.11 (7) Sublease and Lease Agreement, dated October 2, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and T.M.T. Associates L.L.C. ("Landlord").

10.12 (10) First Amendment to Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated October 30, 1996, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.

10.13 (10) Letter Agreement amending Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated April 9, 1997, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.

10.14 (10) Third Amendment to Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated April 16, 1997, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.

10.15 (10) Fourth Amendment to Sublease and Lease Agreement dated October 2, 1996, dated November 5, 1997, by and between Nektar Therapeutics and
Landlord.

10.16 (12) Sublease, dated November 3, 1999, by and between Webvan Group, Inc., as sublessor, and Nektar Therapeutics, as sublessee.

10.17 (14) Nektar Therapeutics' 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.++

10.18 (14) Nektar Therapeutics' Stock Option Agreement issued in accordance with Nektar Therapeutics' 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.++

10.19 (14) Agreement for the Contribution of 201 Industrial Road Project, made and entered into as of September 14, 2000, by and among Nektar
Therapeutics, Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited partnership and Bernardo Property Advisors, Inc., a California corporation.

10.20 (14) Agreement of Limited Partnership of Inhale 201 Industrial Road., L.P., a California limited partnership, made and entered into September 14,
2000, by and among SCIMED PROP III, Inc., a California corporation, as general partner, 201 Industrial Partnership, a California general
partnership, as limited partner and Nektar Therapeutics, as limited partner.

10.21 (14) Build-To-Suit Lease, made and entered into as of September 14, 2000, by and between Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited
partnership, as Landlord, and Nektar Therapeutics, as Tenant.
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10.22 (14) Amendment to Lease, dated October 3, 2000, by and between Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited partnership, as Landlord, and
Nektar Therapeutics, as Tenant.

10.23 (14) Parking Lease Agreement, entered into as of September 14, 2000, by and between Inhale 201 Industrial Road, L.P., a California limited
partnership, as Landlord, and Nektar Therapeutics, as Tenant.

10.24 (17) Nektar Therapeutics' 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan.++

10.25 (23) Nektar Therapeutics 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement (Nonstatutory Stock Option).++

10.26 (23) Nektar Therapeutics 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement (Nonstatutory (Unapproved) Stock Option).

10.27+ (18) Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated August 16, 2000, by and among Nektar Therapeutics, Tech Group North America and Bespak
Europe, LTD.

10.28 (21) The Bradford Particle Design plc Approved Employee Share Option Scheme.

10.29 (21) Form of The Bradford Particle Design plc Approved Employee Share Option Scheme Option Certificate.

10.30 (21) The Bradford Particle Design plc Unapproved Employee Share Option Scheme.

10.31 (21) Form of The Bradford Particle Design plc Unapproved Employee Share Option Scheme Option Certificate.

10.32 (21) Form of Agreement Granting an Enterprise Management Incentives Option.



10.33 (21) Agreement Granting Options, dated November 5, 1999, by and between Mr. Joseph F. Bohan and Bradford Particle Design plc.

10.34 (21) Agreement Granting Options, dated October 27, 2000, by and between Mr. Joseph F. Bohan and Bradford Particle Design plc.

10.35 (22) Shearwater Corporation 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan.

10.36 (22) Amendment, effective May 22, 1998, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater Corporation.

10.37 (22) Second Amendment, effective February 26, 2000, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater Corporation.

10.38 (22) Third Amendment, effective October 5, 2000, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater.

10.39 (22) Fourth Amendment, effective June 22, 2001, to the 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of Shearwater Corporation.

10.40 (22) Form of Shearwater Corporation Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement.

10.41 (22) Form of June 2001 Amendment to Shearwater Corporation Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement.

10.42 (25) Nektar Therapeutics 401(k) Retirement Plan.++

10.43 (25) Non-Standardized Adoption Agreement No. 001 for use with Nektar Therapeutics 401(k) Retirement Plan.
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10.44+ (27) Letter Agreement, dated July 31, 2002, by and between Nektar Therapeutics, and Douglas H. Altschuler.++

10.45 (30) Letter Agreement, dated December 29, 2001 by and between Nektar Therapeutics and Dr. Arnold J. Repta.++

10.46 (30) Nektar Therapeutics Severance Benefit Plan.++

21.1 (30) Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeutics.

23.1 (30) Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors.

24.1 (30) Power of Attorney. Reference is made to signature page.

99.1 (30) Certification of Officers Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

+ Confidential treatment with respect to specific portions are omitted and filed separately with the SEC. 

++ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 

(1) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998. 

(2) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-75942), as amended. 

(3) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-89502), as amended. 

(4) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1996. 

(5) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995. 

(6) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1996. 

(7) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996. 

(8) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-20787). 

(9) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-68897), as amended. 

(10) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999. 

(11) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-94161), as amended. 

(12) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999. 

(13) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.
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(14) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000. 

(15) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 11, 2001. 

(16) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-53678), filed on January 12, 2001. 



(17) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-103040), filed on February 7, 2003. 

(18) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, for the year ended December 31, 2000. 

(19) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 4, 2001. 

(20) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2001. 

(21) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-55032), filed on February 6, 2001. 

(22) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-67342), filed on August 10, 2001. 

(23) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-71936), filed on October 19, 2001, as amended. 

(24) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 8, 2002. 

(25) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-76638), filed on January 11, 2002. 

(26) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002. 

(27) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002. 

(28) Incorporated by reference to the indicated exhibit in Nektar Therapeutics' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 23, 2003. 

(29) Incorporated by reference to Nektar Therapeutics' Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-98321), filed on August 19, 2002. 

(30) Filed herewith. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K for the three-month period ending December 31, 2002:

        None.
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INHALE THERAPEUTIC SYSTEMS, INC.
 

AND
 

AFAC EQUITY, L.P.
 
 

 
COMMON STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

 

 
 
 
 

December 6, 2002
 
 

 
 

INHALE THERAPEUTIC SYSTEMS, INC.
COMMON STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

 
 
                THIS COMMON STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made as of December 6, 2002, by and between INHALE THERAPEUTIC
SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation with its principal office at 150 Industrial Road, San Carlos, California 94070 (the “Company”), and AFAC EQUITY L.P. a
Delaware limited partnership with its offices c/o McKinsey & Company, Inc. United States at 55 East 52nd Street, 27th Floor, New York, New York 10022 (“AFAC” or, the
“Purchaser”).
 

RECITALS
 
                WHEREAS, the Company and McKinsey & Company, Inc. United States, an affiliate of AFAC (“McKinsey”) have entered into that certain Confidentiality
Agreement dated April 9, 2002 and that certain letter agreement dated September 17, 2002 with respect to the performance of certain consulting services by McKinsey
(collectively, the “Related Agreements”); and
 
                WHEREAS, in connection with the Related Agreements, the Company desires to issue to AFAC and AFAC desires to acquire from the Company shares of
common stock of the Company, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.
 
                NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, the parties hereto, intending to be
legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:
 
1.             PURCHASE OF COMMON STOCK.
 
                1.1.         Agreement to Sell and Purchase.  At the Closing (as hereinafter defined), the Company will sell to AFAC and AFAC will purchase from the Company
Seventy-Two Thousand Four Hundred Nineteen (72,419) shares of the common stock of the Company (the “Common Stock”) in exchange for services rendered by
McKinsey.
 
                1.2.         Closing; Closing Date.  The completion of the sale and purchase of the Common Stock (the “Closing”) shall be held at 9:00 a.m. (Pacific Time) on the
date hereof (the “Closing Date”), at the offices of Cooley Godward LLP, 3175 Hanover Street, Palo Alto, California, or at such other time and place as the Company and the
Purchasers may agree.
 
                1.3.         Delivery.  At the Closing, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Company will deliver to AFAC a stock certificate dated as of the Closing Date.
 
2.             REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.
 
                Except as otherwise specifically disclosed to the Purchasers in writing on the date hereof, the Company hereby represents and warrants to the Purchasers as
follows:
 
                2.1.         Authorization.  All corporate action on the part of the Company, its officers, directors and shareholders necessary for the authorization, execution and
delivery of this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement by and between the Company and AFAC dated as of the date hereof in the form set forth as Exhibit A
(the “Registration Rights Agreement”) has been taken.  The Company has the requisite corporate power to enter into this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement
and carry out and perform its obligations under the terms of this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement.  At the Closing, the Company will have the requisite
corporate power to issue and sell the Common Stock.  This Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the
Company and, upon due execution and delivery by the Purchasers, this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement will be valid and binding agreements of the
Company, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally or by equitable
principles.
 

 
 
                2.2.         Organization, Good Standing and Qualification.  The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws
of the State of Delaware and has all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted.  The Company is
duly qualified to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the failure so to qualify would have a material adverse effect on its business or
properties.
 



                2.3.         Valid Issuance of Common Stock.  The Common Stock, when issued, sold and delivered in accordance with the terms hereof will be duly and validly
authorized and issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
 
                2.4.         Offering.  Assuming the accuracy of the representations of the Purchasers in Section 3.3 of this Agreement on the date hereof and on the Closing Date,
the offer, issue and sale of the Common Stock are and will be exempt from the registration and prospectus delivery requirement of the Securities Act and have been or will
be registered or qualified (or are or will be exempt from registration and qualification) under the registration, permit or qualification requirements of all applicable state
securities laws.
 
3.             REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASERS.
 
                                Purchaser hereby represents and warrants to the Company as follows:
 
                3.1.         Legal Power.  Purchaser has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement, to carry
out and perform its obligations under the terms of this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement.  All action on Purchaser’s part required for the lawful execution
and delivery of this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement have been or will be effectively taken prior to the Closing.
 
                3.2.         Due Execution.  This Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Purchaser, and, upon
due execution and delivery by the Company, this Agreement and Registration Rights Agreement will be valid and binding agreements of Purchaser, except as enforceability
may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally or by equitable principles.
 
                3.3.         Investment Representations.  In connection with the sale and issuance of the Common Stock, Purchaser makes the following representations to the
Company:
 
                                (a)           Investment for Own Account.  Purchaser is acquiring the Common Stock for its own account, not as nominee or agent, for investment and
not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution or public offering thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act.
 
                                (b)           Transfer Restrictions; Legends.  Purchaser understands that (i) the Common Stock has not been registered under the Securities Act; (ii) the
Common Stock is being offered and sold pursuant to an exemption from registration and that the Common Stock must be held by Purchaser indefinitely, and that Purchaser
must, therefore, bear the economic risk of such investment indefinitely, unless a subsequent disposition thereof is registered under the Securities Act or is exempt from such
registration; (iii) each certificate representing the Common Stock will be endorsed with the following legends:

 
                THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “ACT”), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF CERTAIN STATES.  THESE SECURITIES ARE SUBJECT TO
RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY AND RESALE AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER
THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.  THE
ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES MAY REQUIRE AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IN FORM AND SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER
TO THE EFFECT THAT ANY PROPOSED TRANSFER OR RESALE IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS.
 

 
 
and (iv) the Company will instruct any transfer agent not to register the transfer of the Common Stock (or any portion thereof) unless the conditions specified in the
foregoing legend are satisfied, until such time as a transfer is made, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and in compliance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act or
pursuant to a registration statement or, if the opinion of counsel referred to above is to the further effect that such legend is not required in order to establish compliance
with any provisions of the Securities Act or this Agreement, or other satisfactory assurances of such nature are given to the Company.  Unless otherwise required by
applicable securities laws, the Company shall be obligated, at the request of Purchaser, to cause the transfer agent to reissue unlegended certificates with respect to the
Common Stock if (A) Purchaser shall have obtained an opinion of counsel reasonably acceptable to the Company to the effect that the Common Stock with respect to which
unlegended certificates are to be issued may lawfully be disposed of without registration, qualification or legend; or (B) the Common Stock can be sold without restriction
as to the number of securities sold under Rule 144(k).  Further, the Company will instruct the transfer agent to remove the legend on Common Stock (A) upon the sale of
such Common Stock pursuant to an effective registration statement, provided the transfer agent and Company have received evidence or assurances of such sale in a form
satisfactory to the transfer agent and the Company or (ii) upon the sale of such Common Stock pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act, provided the transfer agent
and the Company have received evidence or assurances from Purchaser of compliance with Rule 144 in a form satisfactory to the transfer agent and the Company.
 
                                (c)           Financial Sophistication.  Purchaser has such knowledge and experience in financial or business matters that it is capable of evaluating the
merits and risks of the investment in connection with the transactions contemplated in this Agreement.
 
                                (d)           Accredited Investor Status.  Purchaser is an “accredited investor” as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of the rules and regulations
promulgated under the Securities Act.
 
                3.4.         No Brokers.  No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement based on arrangements made by Purchaser.
 
 
4.             CONDITIONS TO CLOSING.
 
                4.1.         Conditions to Obligations of Purchasers at Closing. AFAC’s obligation to purchase the Common Stock at the Closing is subject to the fulfillment to
the Purchaser’s satisfaction, on or prior to the Closing, of all of the following conditions, any of which may be waived by Purchaser:
 
                                (a)           Representations and Warranties True; Performance of Obligations.  The representations and warranties made by the Company in Section
2 hereof shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if they had been made on and as of said date and the
Company shall have performed and complied with all obligations and conditions herein required to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing.
 
                                (b)           Registration Rights Agreement.  The Company shall have executed and delivered the Registration Rights Agreement in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit A.

 
                                (c)           Qualifications, Legal Investment.  All authorizations, approvals, or permits, if any, of any governmental authority or regulatory body of the
United States or of any state that are required in connection with the lawful sale and issuance of the Common Stock shall have been duly obtained and shall be effective on
and as of the Closing.  No stop order or other order enjoining the sale of the Common Stock shall have been issued and no proceedings for such purpose shall be pending or,
to the knowledge of the Company, threatened by the SEC, or any commissioner of corporations or similar officer of any state having jurisdiction over this transaction.  At
the time of the Closing, the sale and issuance of the Common Stock shall be legally permitted by all laws and regulations to which Purchaser and the Company are subject.
 



 
 
                4.2.         Conditions to Obligations of the Company.  The Company’s obligation to issue and sell the Common Stock at the Closing is subject to the fulfillment
to the Company’s satisfaction, on or prior to the Closing of the following conditions, any of which may be waived by the Company:
 
                                (a)           Representations and Warranties True.  The representations and warranties made by Purchaser in Section 3 hereof shall be true and correct
in all material respects on the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if they had been made on and as of said date.
 
                                (b)           Performance of Obligations.  Purchaser shall have performed and complied with all agreements and conditions herein required to be
performed or complied with by them on or before the Closing.
 
                                (c)           Registration Rights Agreement.  Purchaser shall have executed and delivered the Registration Rights Agreement in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit A.

 
                                (d)           Qualifications, Legal Investment.  All authorizations, approvals, or permits, if any, of any governmental authority or regulatory body of the
United States or of any state that are required in connection with the lawful sale and issuance of the Common Stock shall have been duly obtained and shall be effective on
and as of the Closing.  No stop order or other order enjoining the sale of the Common Stock shall have been issued and no proceedings for such purpose shall be pending or,
to the knowledge of the Company, threatened by the SEC, or any commissioner of corporations or similar officer of any state having jurisdiction over this transaction.  At
the time of the Closing, the sale and issuance of the Common Stock shall be legally permitted by all laws and regulations to which the Purchaser and the Company are
subject.
 
5.             MISCELLANEOUS.
 
                5.1.         Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the
choice of law provisions thereof, and the federal laws of the United States.
 
                5.2.         Successors and Assigns.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the
successors, assigns, heirs, executors, and administrators of the parties hereto.
 
                5.3.         Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement, the Related Agreements and the exhibits hereto and thereto, and the other
documents delivered pursuant hereto, constitutes the full and entire understanding and agreement among the parties with regard to the subjects hereof and no party shall be
liable or bound to any other party in any manner by any representations, warranties, covenants, or agreements except as specifically set forth herein or therein.  Nothing in
this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any party, other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, any rights, remedies,
obligations, or liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement, except as expressly provided herein.
 
                5.4.         Severability.  In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, it shall to the extent practicable, be modified so as
to make it valid, legal and enforceable and to retain as nearly as practicable the intent of the parties, and the validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions
shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
 
                5.5.         Amendment and Waiver.  Except as otherwise provided herein, any term of this Agreement may be amended and the observance of any term of this
Agreement may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance, either retroactively or prospectively, and either for a specified period of time or indefinitely), with the
written consent of the Company and Purchaser.  Any amendment or waiver effected in accordance with this Section shall be binding upon any holder of any securities
purchased under this Agreement, each future holder of all such securities, and the Company.
 
                5.6.         Notices.  Unless otherwise provided, any notice required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall be deemed effectively
given upon personal delivery to the party to be notified or upon delivery by confirmed facsimile transmission, nationally recognized overnight courier service, or upon
deposit with
 

 
 
the United States Post Office, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid and addressed to the party to be notified at the address first indicated for such party above, or
at such other address as such party may designate by ten (10) days’ advance written notice to the other parties.
 
                5.7.         Fees and Expenses.  The Company and Purchaser shall bear their own expenses and legal fees incurred on their behalf with respect to this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated hereby.  Each party hereby agrees to indemnify and to hold harmless of and from any liability the other party for any commission or
compensation in the nature of a finder’s fee to any broker or other person or firm (and the costs and expenses of defending against such liability or asserted liability) for
which such indemnifying party or any of its employees or representatives are responsible.
 
                5.8.         Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one instrument.
 
 

 
                IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the foregoing Common Stock Purchase Agreement is hereby executed as of the date first above written.
 
 

 

THE COMPANY:
 

    
 

INHALE THERAPEUTIC SYSTEMS, INC.
 

    
    
 

By: /s/ AJIT GILL
 

 

Name: Ajit S. Gill
 

 

Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
 

    
 

Address: 150 Industrial Road
San Carlos, CA 94070

 



    
    
 

THE PURCHASER:
 

    
 

AFAC EQUITY, L.P.
 

    
    
 

By: Paul Harris Management Inc.,
its General Partner

 

    
    
 

By: /s/ BRIAN M FEUER
 

 

Name: Brian M. Feuer
 

 

Title: Attorney-In-Fact
 

    
 

Address: c/o McKinsey & Company
55 East 52nd Street, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10022

 

    
    
    
 

 

EXHIBIT A

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

THIS REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT is made as of the 6th day of December, 2002, by and between Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and AFAC Equity, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Investor”).

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, the Company and McKinsey & Company, Inc. United States, an affiliate of the Investor (“McKinsey”) are parties to a certain confidentiality
agreement effective as of April 9, 2002 and a letter agreement dated September 17, 2002 (collectively, the “Consulting Agreement”); and

 
WHEREAS, the Company and Investor are parties to that certain Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of the date hereof the “Purchase

Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company shall issue Seventy-Two Thousand Four Hundred Nineteen (72,419) shares of Company common stock (the “Shares”) to the
Investor in partial consideration of services provided by McKinsey to the Company; and

 
WHEREAS, the Purchase Agreement provides that the Company and the Investor will enter into a registration rights agreement in form and substance

reasonably satisfactory to both parties;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1.     Registration Rights.

1.1   Definitions. For purposes of this Section 1:

(a)   The term “Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(b)   The term “Holder” means any person owning Registrable Securities or any assignee thereof in accordance with Section 1.9 hereof.

(c)   The term “1934 Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(d)   The terms “register,” “registered,” and “registration” refer to a registration effected by preparing and filing a registration
statement or similar document in compliance with the Act, and the declaration or ordering of effectiveness of such registration statement or document.

(e)   The term “Registrable Securities” means (i) the Shares and (ii) any Common Stock of the Company issued as (or issuable upon
the conversion or exercise of any warrant, right or other security that is issued as) a dividend or other distribution with respect to, or in exchange for, or in replacement of,
the Shares.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Registrable Securities shall not include (i) any securities sold by a person to the public either pursuant to a registration statement
or Rule 144 or sold in a private transaction in which the transferor’s rights under Section 1 of this Agreement are not assigned; (ii) any securities for which the rights of a
Holder have terminated pursuant to Section 1.10 herein.

 

(f)    The number of shares of “Registrable Securities” outstanding shall be determined by the number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding that are, and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to then exercisable or convertible securities that are, Registrable Securities.

(g)   The term “SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission.

1.2   Company Registration.

(a)   If (but without any obligation to do so) the Company proposes (i) to register for its own account any of its common stock under the
Act in connection with an underwritten public offering of such securities (other than a registration relating solely to the sale of securities to participants in a Company stock
plan or a registration relating to a corporate reorganization, merger or other transaction under Rule 145 of the Act) (a “Company Offering”); or (ii) to register the offering
of its common stock by stockholders of the Company other than the Holders (“Other Selling Stockholders”) other than in connection with a Company Offering or a
registration relating solely to the sale of securities to participants in a Company stock plan or a registration relating to a corporate reorganization, merger or other transaction



under Rule 145 of the Act (a “Secondary Offering”), the Company shall, at such time, promptly give each Holder written notice of such Company Offering or Secondary
Offering, as applicable.  Upon the written request of each Holder given within fifteen (15) days after mailing of such notice by the Company in accordance with Section 2.5,
the Company shall, subject to the provisions of Section 1.2(b) and other restrictions set forth herein, cause to be registered under the Act all of the Registrable Securities
that each such Holder has requested to be registered.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no obligation to notify the Holders, cause to be registered any
Registrable Securities, or undertake any other obligation in connection with this Agreement in connection with (i) any proposed Company Offering in which the proposed
maximum offering price to the public exceeds [80% of Purchase Price] (as adjusted for stock splits, combinations, dividends and the like occurring after the date hereof);
or (ii) any Secondary Offering made pursuant to that certain Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 7, 2002 by and between the Company and Enzon, Inc.

(b)   Underwriting Requirements.  In connection with any offering in which the Holder would otherwise be permitted to include
Registrable Securities pursuant to this Section 1.2 involving an underwriting of shares of the Company’s capital stock, the Company shall not be required under this
Section 1.2 to include any of the Holders’ securities in such underwriting unless they accept the terms of the underwriting as agreed upon between the Company and the
underwriters selected by it (or by other persons entitled to select the underwriters) and enter into an underwriting agreement in customary form with an underwriter or
underwriters selected by the Company, and then only in such quantity as the underwriters determine in their sole discretion will not jeopardize the success of the offering by
the Company.  If the total amount of securities, including Registrable Securities, requested by stockholders to be included in such offering exceeds the amount of securities
sold other than by the Company that the underwriters determine in their sole discretion is compatible with the success of the offering, then the Company shall be required to
include in the offering only that number of such securities, including Registrable Securities, that the underwriters determine in their sole discretion will not jeopardize the
success of the offering (the securities so included to be apportioned pro rata among the selling Holders according to the total amount of securities entitled to be included
therein owned by each selling Holder or in such other proportions as shall mutually be agreed to by such selling Holders), but in no event shall the amount of securities of
the selling Holders included in the offering be reduced below fifteen percent (15%) of the total amount of securities included in such offering. For purposes of the preceding
parenthetical concerning apportionment, for any selling stockholder that is a Holder of Registrable Securities and that is a partnership or corporation, the partners, retired
partners and stockholders of such Holder, or the estates and family members of any such partners and retired partners and any trusts for the benefit of any of the foregoing
persons shall be deemed to be a single “selling Holder,” and any pro rata reduction with respect to such “selling Holder” shall be based upon the aggregate amount of
Registrable Securities owned by all such related entities and individuals.

 
2

 

1.3   Obligations of the Company. Whenever required under this Section 1 to effect the registration of any Registrable Securities, the Company
shall, as expeditiously as reasonably possible:

(a)   prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement with respect to such Registrable Securities and use its best efforts to cause
such registration statement to become effective, and, upon the request of the Holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities registered thereunder, keep such registration
statement effective until, with respect to a Company Offering, the distribution of securities by the Company contemplated in the registration statement is completed, or, with
respect to a Secondary Offering, the earlier of (i) the completion of the distribution contemplated in the registration statement by the Other Selling Stockholders; (ii) the
termination of all Other Selling Stockholders’ rights to require registration pursuant to such registration statement or (iii) the date 120 days following the initial effective
date of such registrations statement.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Holders understand and acknowledge that there may be periods during
which the Company may determine, in good faith, based on the advice of counsel, that it is in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders to defer disclosure of
non-public information until such information has reached a more advanced stage and that during such periods sales of Registrable Securities and the effectiveness of any
registration statement covering Registrable Securities, may be suspended or delayed.  The Holders agree that upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the
development of any material non-public information, each Holder will forthwith discontinue its disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to any such registration
statement until such Holder’s receipt of copies of an appropriately supplemented or amended prospectus and, if so directed by the Company, each Holder will use
reasonable commercial efforts to deliver to the Company all copies, of the prospectus relating to such Registerable Shares current at the time of receipt of such notice;

(b)   prepare and file with the SEC such amendments and supplements to such registration statement and the prospectus used in
connection with such registration statement as may be necessary to comply with the provisions of the Act with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such
registration statement;

(c)   furnish to the Holders such numbers of copies of a prospectus, including a preliminary prospectus, in conformity with the
requirements of the Act, and such other documents as they may reasonably request in order to facilitate the disposition of Registrable Securities owned by them;

(d)   use reasonable commercial efforts to register and qualify the securities covered by such registration statement under such other
securities or Blue Sky laws of such jurisdictions as shall be reasonably requested by the Holders, provided that the Company shall not be required in connection therewith or
as a condition thereto to qualify to do business or to file a general consent to service of process in any such states or jurisdictions;

(e)   notify each Holder of Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is
required to be delivered under the Act or the happening of any event as a result of which the prospectus included in such registration statement, as then in effect, includes an
untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the
circumstances then existing;

(f)    cause all such Registrable Securities registered pursuant to this Section 1 to be listed on each securities exchange on which similar
securities issued by the Company are then listed;

(g)   provide a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities registered pursuant to this Section 1 and a CUSIP number for all
such Registrable Securities, in each case not later than the effective date of such registration; and
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(h)   use reasonable commercial efforts to furnish, at the request of any Holder requesting registration of Registrable Securities pursuant
to this Section 1, on the date that such Registrable Securities are delivered to the underwriters for sale in connection with a registration pursuant to this Section 1, if such
securities are being sold through underwriters, (i) an opinion, dated such date, of the counsel representing the Company for the purposes of such registration, in form and
substance as is customarily given to underwriters in an underwritten public offering, addressed to the underwriters, and (ii) a letter dated such date, from the independent
certified public accountants of the Company, in form and substance as is customarily given by independent certified public accountants to underwriters in an underwritten
public offering, addressed to the underwriters.

1.4   Information from Holder. It shall be a condition precedent to the obligations of the Company to take any action pursuant to this Section 1
with respect to the Registrable Securities of any selling Holder that such Holder shall furnish to the Company such information regarding itself, the Registrable Securities
held by it, and the intended method of disposition of such securities as shall be required to effect the registration of such Holder’s Registrable Securities.



1.5   Expenses of Registration. All expenses other than underwriting discounts, commissions and fees and disbursements of counsel for the
Selling Holders incurred in connection with registrations, filings or qualifications pursuant to Section 1.2, including (without limitation) all registration, filing and
qualification fees, printers’ and accounting fees, fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company shall be borne by the Company.

1.6   Delay of Registration. No Holder shall have any right to obtain or seek an injunction restraining or otherwise delaying any such registration
as the result of any controversy that might arise with respect to the interpretation or implementation of this Section 1.

1.7   Indemnification. In the event any Registrable Securities are included in a registration statement under this Section 1:

(a)   To the extent permitted by law, the Company will indemnify and hold harmless each Holder, the partners or officers, directors and
stockholders of each Holder, any underwriter (as defined in the Act) for such Holder and each person, if any, who controls such Holder or underwriter within the meaning of
the Act or the 1934 Act, against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities (joint or several) to which they may become subject under the Act, the 1934 Act or any state
securities laws, insofar as such losses, claims, damages, or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon any of the following statements, omissions
or violations (collectively, a “Violation”): (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in such registration statement, including any
preliminary prospectus or final prospectus contained therein or any amendments or supplements thereto, (ii) the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact
required to be stated therein, or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, or (iii) any violation or alleged violation by the Company of the Act, the 1934 Act,
any state securities laws or any rule or regulation promulgated under the Act, the 1934 Act or any state securities laws; and the Company will reimburse each such Holder,
underwriter or controlling person for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending any such loss, claim, damage,
liability or action; provided, however, that the indemnity agreement contained in this subsection l.7(a) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such loss, claim,
damage, liability or action if such settlement is effected without the consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), nor shall the Company be
liable in any such case for any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action to the extent that it arises out of or is based upon a Violation that occurs in reliance upon and in
conformity with written information furnished expressly for use in connection with such registration by any such Holder, underwriter or controlling person.
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(b)   To the extent permitted by law, each selling Holder will indemnify and hold harmless the Company, each of its directors, each of its
officers who has signed the registration statement, each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of the Act, any underwriter, any other Holder selling
securities in such registration statement and any controlling person of any such underwriter or other Holder, against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities (joint or
several) to which any of the foregoing persons may become subject, under the Act, the 1934 Act or any state securities laws, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or
liabilities (or actions in respect thereto) arise out of or are based upon any Violation, in each case to the extent (and only to the extent) that such Violation occurs in reliance
upon and in conformity with written information furnished by such Holder expressly for use in connection with such registration; and each such Holder will reimburse any
person intended to be indemnified pursuant to this subsection l.7(b), for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such person in connection with investigating or
defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action; provided, however, that the indemnity agreement contained in this subsection l.7(b) shall not apply to amounts
paid in settlement of any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action if such settlement is effected without the consent of the Holder (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld), provided that in no event shall any indemnity under this subsection l.7(b) exceed the gross proceeds from the offering received by such Holder.

(c)   Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under this Section 1.7 of notice of the commencement of any action (including any
governmental action), such indemnified party will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against any indemnifying party under this Section 1.7, deliver to the
indemnifying party a written notice of the commencement thereof and the indemnifying party shall have the right to participate in, and, to the extent the indemnifying party
so desires, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly noticed, to assume the defense thereof with counsel mutually satisfactory to the parties; provided, however,
that an indemnified party (together with all other indemnified parties that may be represented without conflict by one counsel) shall have the right to retain one separate
counsel, with the fees and expenses to be paid by the indemnifying party, if representation of such indemnified party by the counsel retained by the indemnifying party
would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing interests between such indemnified party and any other party represented by such counsel in such proceeding. 
The failure to deliver written notice to the indemnifying party within a reasonable time of the commencement of any such action, if prejudicial to its ability to defend such
action, shall relieve such indemnifying party of any liability to the indemnified party under this Section 1.7, but the omission so to deliver written notice to the indemnifying
party will not relieve it of any liability that it may have to any indemnified party otherwise than under this Section 1.7.

(d)   If the indemnification provided for in this Section 1.7 is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unavailable to an
indemnified party with respect to any loss, liability, claim, damage or expense referred to herein, then the indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying such indemnified
party hereunder, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result of such loss, liability, claim, damage or expense in such proportion as is
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party on the one hand and of the indemnified party on the other in connection with the statements or omissions
that resulted in such loss, liability, claim, damage or expense, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations.  The relative fault of the indemnifying party and of the
indemnified party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission to state a
material fact relates to information supplied by the indemnifying party or by the indemnified party and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information, and
opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

(e)   The obligations of the Company and Holders under this Section 1.7 shall survive the completion of any offering of Registrable
Securities in a registration statement under this Section 1, and otherwise.
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1.8   Rule 144 Reporting. With a view to making available to the Holders the benefits of Rule 144 promulgated under the Act and any other rule
or regulation of the SEC that may at any time permit a Holder to sell securities of the Company to the public without registration, the Company agrees to:

(a)   file with the SEC in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under the Act and the 1934 Act; and

(b)   furnish to any Holder, so long as the Holder owns any Registrable Securities, forthwith upon request (i) a written statement by the
Company that it has complied with the reporting requirements of SEC Rule 144 (at any time after ninety (90) days after the effective date of the first registration statement
filed by the Company for an offering of its securities to the general public), the Act and the 1934 Act (at any time after it has become subject to such reporting
requirements), (ii) a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company and such other reports and documents so filed by the Company, and (iii) such other
information as may be reasonably requested in availing any Holder of any rule or regulation of the SEC that permits the selling of any such securities without registration or
pursuant to such form.

1.9   Assignment of Registration Rights. The rights to cause the Company to register Registrable Securities pursuant to this Section 1 may be
assigned (but only with all related obligations) by a Holder only to an affiliate of the Investor or McKinsey (an “Affiliate”), provided: (a) the Company is, within a
reasonable time after such transfer, furnished with written notice of the name and address of such Affiliate and the securities with respect to which such registration rights
are being assigned; (b) such Affiliate agrees in writing to be bound by and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including without limitation the provisions



of Section 1.10 below; and (c) such assignment shall be effective only if immediately following such transfer the further disposition of such securities by the transferee or
assignee is restricted under the Act.

1.10  Termination of Registration Rights. The Company’s obligations under this Section 1 to effect the registration of any Registrable Securities
shall terminate as to any Holder at such time as all the Registrable Securities held by such Holder are eligible for sale under Rule 144.

2.     Miscellaneous.

2.1   Successors and Assigns. Except as otherwise provided herein, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be
binding upon the respective successors and assigns of the parties (including transferees of any shares of Registrable Securities).  Nothing in this Agreement, express or
implied, is intended to confer upon any party other than the parties hereto or their respective successors and assigns any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities under or
by reason of this Agreement, except as expressly provided in this Agreement.

2.2   Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of
California, without reference to conflicts of law provisions thereof.

2.3   Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by facsimile and in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original,
but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

2.4   Titles and Subtitles. The titles and subtitles used in this Agreement are used for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing
or interpreting this Agreement.
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2.5   Notices. Unless otherwise provided, any notice required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall be deemed
effectively given upon personal delivery to the party to be notified or upon delivery by confirmed facsimile transmission, nationally recognized overnight courier service, or
upon deposit with the United States Post Office, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid and addressed to the party to be notified at the address indicated for such
party on the signature page hereof, or at such other address as such party may designate by ten (10) days’ advance written notice to the other parties.

2.6   Expenses. If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce or interpret the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and necessary disbursements in addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled.

2.7   Entire Agreement: Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement, the Purchase Agreement, the Consulting Agreement and the agreements
referenced therein constitute the full and entire understanding and agreement among the parties with regard to the subjects hereof and thereof.  Any term of this Agreement
may be amended and the observance of any terms of this Agreement may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively),
only with the written consent of the Company and the holders of at least two-thirds of the Registrable Securities. Any amendment or waiver effected in accordance with this
paragraph shall be binding upon each holder of any Registrable Securities each future holder of all such Registrable Securities, and the Company.

2.8   Severability. If one or more provisions of this Agreement are held to be unenforceable under applicable law, such provision shall be
excluded from this Agreement and the balance of the Agreement shall be interpreted as if such provision were so excluded and shall be enforceable in accordance with its
terms.

2.9   Aggregation of Stock. All shares of Registrable Securities held or acquired by affiliated entities or persons shall be aggregated together for
the purpose of determining the availability of any rights under this Agreement.
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                IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 

 

THE COMPANY:
   
 

INHALE THERAPEUTIC SYSTEMS, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/  AJIT S. GILL
 

Name: Ajit S. Gill
 

Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
   
 

Address: 150 Industrial Road
  

San Carlos, CA 94070
   
   
 

THE INVESTOR:
   
 

AFAC EQUITY, L.P.
   
   
 

By: Paul Harris Management Inc.,
  

its General Partner
   
 

By: /s/  BRIAN M FEUER
 

Name: Brian M Feuer
 

Title: Attorney-In-Fact
   
 

Address: c/o McKinsey & Company
  

55 East 52nd Street, 27th Floor
  



New York, New York 10022
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Exhibit 10.45
 
29 December 2001
 
Dr. Arnold J. Repta
1639 W. Fort Rd.
Park City, UT 84098
 
Re:          Letter Agreement covering Change in Control
 
Dear Arnie,
 
This will formalize our understanding in the event of an entity “Change in Control,” defined as the circumstances whereby any third part entity acquires 50% or more of the
Common Stock in Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc.,
 
Upon any Change in Control you will be entitled to a Change in Control lump sum payment of two times your annual target compensation (fixed plus target variable
compensation) under either of the following conditions:
 

1.               In the event your employment with the acquiring entity is terminated without cause, or if you terminate your employment with the acquiring company on your
accord for “good reason,” defined as (1) substantive, material diminution of authority or responsibilities, (2) reduction in your aggregate compensation and
benefits, or (3) relocation without your consent of more than 35 miles from San Carlos, California following the Change in Control event, or
 

2.               Your employment terminates for any reason other than termination with cause within nine months following the Change in Control event.
 
Please indicate your acceptance of this agreement by countersigning below and returning one signed original to me.
 
Thank you for your attention to this matter.
 
Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc.,
 
 
By: /s/ Stephen L. Hurst

 

 

Stephen L. Hurst
V.P., Human Resources

 

   
AGREED AND ACCEPTED

 

   
/s/ Arnold J. Repta

 

Dr. Arnold J. Repta
 

 
 



Exhibit 10.46

NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS INHALE THERAPEUTIC SYSTEMS, INC.)

SEVERANCE BENEFIT PLAN

Section 1.      INTRODUCTION.

                The Nektar Therapeutics Severance Benefit Plan (the “Plan”) was established effective December 6, 2002.  The purpose of the Plan is to provide for the payment
of severance benefits to certain eligible employees of Nektar Therapeutics (the “Company”) or an affiliate of the Company whose employment with the Company or an
affiliate of the Company is involuntarily terminated.  This Plan shall supersede any severance benefit plan, policy or practice previously maintained by the Company or any
affiliate of the Company.  This Plan document also is the Summary Plan Description for the Plan.

Section 2.      ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS.

(a)          General Rules.  Subject to the requirements set forth in this Section, the Company will grant severance benefits under the Plan to Eligible Employees.

(1)         Definition of “Eligible Employee.”  For purposes of this Plan, an Eligible Employee is a full-time or a part-time regular hire employee of the Company or any affiliate
of the Company resident in the United States (i) whose employment is involuntarily terminated by the Company or an affiliate of the Company as a result of the
elimination of his or her job position and (ii) who is notified by the Company in writing that he or she is eligible for participation in the Plan.  The determination of
whether an employee is an Eligible Employee shall be made by the Company, in its sole discretion, and such determination shall be binding and conclusive on all
persons.  For purposes of this Plan, part-time employees are those regular hire employees who are regularly scheduled to work more than twenty (20) hours per week
but less than a full-time work schedule.  Regular hire employees working twenty (20) hours per week or less and temporary employees are not eligible for severance
benefits under the Plan.

(2)         In order to be eligible to receive benefits under the Plan, an Eligible Employee must remain on the job until his or her date of termination as scheduled by the Company.

(3)         In order to be eligible to receive benefits under the Plan, an Eligible Employee also must execute a general waiver and release in substantially the form attached hereto
as Exhibit A, Exhibit B or Exhibit C, as appropriate, and such release must become effective in accordance with its terms.  The Company, in its discretion, may modify
the form of the required release to comply with applicable law and shall determine the form of the required release, which may be incorporated into a termination
agreement or other agreement with the Eligible Employee.

(b)          Exceptions to Benefit Entitlement.  An employee, including an employee who otherwise is an Eligible Employee, will not receive benefits under the Plan (or will
receive reduced benefits under the Plan) in the following circumstances, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion:

(1)         The employee has executed an individually negotiated employment contract or agreement with the Company or an affiliate of the Company relating to severance
benefits that is in effect on his or her termination date, in which case such employee’s severance benefit, if any, shall be governed by the terms of such individually
negotiated employment contract or agreement and shall be governed by this Plan only to the extent that the reduction pursuant to Section 3(c) below does not entirely
eliminate benefits under this Plan.

 
(2)         The employee is involuntarily terminated for any reason other than the elimination of the employee’s job position.

(3)         The employee voluntarily terminates employment with the Company or an affiliate of the Company.  Voluntary terminations include, but are not limited to, resignation,
retirement or failure to return from a leave of absence on the scheduled date.

(4)         The employee voluntarily terminates employment with the Company or an affiliate of the Company in order to accept employment with another entity that is wholly or
partly owned (directly or indirectly) by the Company or an affiliate of the Company.

(5)         The employee is offered an identical or substantially equivalent or comparable position with the Company or an affiliate of the Company.  For purposes of the
foregoing, a “substantially equivalent or comparable position” is one that offers the employee substantially the same level of responsibility and compensation.

(6)         The employee is offered immediate reemployment by a successor to the Company or an affiliate of the Company or by a purchaser of its assets, as the case may be,
following a change in ownership of the Company or an affiliate of the Company or a sale of substantially all of the assets of a division or business unit of the Company
or an affiliate of the Company.  For purposes of the foregoing, “immediate reemployment” means that the employee’s employment with the successor to the Company
or an affiliate of the Company or the purchaser of its assets, as the case may be, results in uninterrupted employment such that the employee does not incur a lapse in
pay as a result of the change in ownership of the Company or an affiliate of the Company or the sale of its assets.

(7)         The employee is rehired by the Company or an affiliate of the Company prior to the date benefits under the Plan are scheduled to commence.

AMOUNT OF BENEFIT.

(c)          Severance Benefits.  Severance benefits under the Plan, if any, shall be provided to Eligible Employees described in Section 2 in the amount provided in Appendix A,
as such Appendix A may be revised by the Company, in its sole discretion, from time to time.

(d)          Additional Benefits.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may, in its sole discretion, provide benefits in addition to those pursuant to Section 3(a) to Eligible
Employees or employees who are not Eligible Employees (“Non-Eligible Employees”) chosen by the Company, in its sole discretion, and the provision of any such
benefits to an Eligible Employee or a Non-Eligible Employee shall in no way obligate the Company to provide such benefits to any other Eligible Employee or to any
other Non-Eligible Employee, even if similarly situated.  If benefits under the Plan are provided to a Non-Eligible Employee, references in the Plan to “Eligible
Employee” (with the exception of Section 3(a)) shall be deemed to refer to such Non-Eligible Employee.

(e)          Certain Reductions.  The Company, in its sole discretion, shall have the authority to reduce an Eligible Employee’s severance benefits, in whole or in part, by any
other severance benefits, pay in lieu of notice, or other similar benefits payable to the Eligible Employee by the Company that become payable in connection with the
Eligible Employee’s termination of employment pursuant to (i) any applicable legal requirement, including, without limitation, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act (the “WARN Act”), (ii) a written employment or severance agreement with the Company, or (iii) any Company policy or practice providing for the
Eligible Employee to remain on the payroll for a limited period of time after being given notice of the termination of the Eligible Employee’s employment.  The
benefits provided under this Plan are intended to satisfy, in whole or in part, any and all statutory obligations that may arise out of an Eligible Employee’s termination



of employment, and the Plan Administrator shall so construe and implement the terms of the Plan.  The Company’s decision to apply such reductions to the severance
benefits of one Eligible Employee and the amount of such reductions shall in no way obligate the Company to apply the same reductions in

 

the same amounts to the severance benefits of any other Eligible Employee, even if similarly situated.  In the Company’s sole discretion, such reductions may be
applied on a retroactive basis, with severance benefits previously paid being recharacterized as payments pursuant to the Company’s statutory obligation.

TIME OF PAYMENT AND FORM OF BENEFIT.

The Company reserves the right to determine whether severance benefits under the Plan, if any, shall be paid in a single sum, in installments, or in any
other form and to choose the timing of such payments.  All such payments under the Plan will be subject to applicable withholding for federal, state and local taxes.  If an
Eligible Employee is indebted to the Company at his or her termination date, the Company reserves the right to offset any severance payments under the Plan by the amount
of such indebtedness.  In no event shall payment of any Plan benefit be made prior to the Eligible Employee’s termination date or prior to the effective date of the release
described in Section 2(a)(3).

Section 3.      REEMPLOYMENT.

In the event of an Eligible Employee’s reemployment by the Company or an affiliate of the Company during the period of time in respect of which
severance benefits pursuant to Sections 3(a) and 3(b) have been paid, the Company, in its sole and absolute discretion, may require such Eligible Employee to repay to the
Company all or a portion of such severance benefits as a condition of reemployment.

RIGHT TO INTERPRET PLAN; AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION.

(a)          Exclusive Discretion.  The Plan Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion and authority to establish rules, forms, and procedures for the administration of the
Plan and to construe and interpret the Plan and to decide any and all questions of fact, interpretation, definition, computation or administration arising in connection
with the operation of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the eligibility to participate in the Plan and amount of benefits paid under the Plan.  The rules,
interpretations, computations and other actions of the Plan Administrator shall be binding and conclusive on all persons.

(b)          Amendment or Termination.  The Company reserves the right to amend or terminate this Plan (including Appendix A) or the benefits provided hereunder at any
time; provided, however, that no such amendment or termination shall affect the right to any unpaid benefit of any Eligible Employee whose termination date has
occurred prior to amendment or termination of the Plan.  Any action amending or terminating the Plan shall be in writing and executed by the Chief Executive Officer
or Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

NO IMPLIED EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT.

The Plan shall not be deemed (i) to give any employee or other person any right to be retained in the employ of the Company or an affiliate of the
Company or (ii) to interfere with the right of the Company or an affiliate of the Company to discharge any employee or other person at any time, with or without cause,
which right is hereby reserved.

LEGAL CONSTRUCTION.

This Plan is intended to be governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) and,
to the extent not preempted by ERISA, the laws of the State of California.

 

CLAIMS, INQUIRIES AND APPEALS.

(c)          Applications for Benefits and Inquiries.  Any application for benefits, inquiries about the Plan or inquiries about present or future rights under the Plan must be
submitted to the Plan Administrator in writing by an applicant (or his or her authorized representative).  The Plan Administrator is:

Nektar Therapeutics
150 Industrial Road

San Carlos, CA 94070
 

(d)          Denial of Claims.  In the event that any application for benefits is denied in whole or in part, the Plan Administrator must provide the applicant with written or
electronic notice of the denial of the application, and of the applicant’s right to review the denial.  Any electronic notice will comply with the regulations of the U.S.
Department of Labor.  The notice of denial will be set forth in a manner designed to be understood by the applicant and will include the following:

(1)         the specific reason or reasons for the denial;

(2)         references to the specific Plan provisions upon which the denial is based;

(3)         a description of any additional information or material that the Plan Administrator needs to complete the review and an explanation of why such information or
material is necessary; and

(4)         an explanation of the Plan’s review procedures and the time limits applicable to such procedures, including a statement of the applicant’s right to bring a civil action
under section 502(a) of ERISA following a denial on review of the claim, as described in Section 9(d) below.

This notice of denial will be given to the applicant within ninety (90) days after the Plan Administrator receives the application, unless special
circumstances require an extension of time, in which case, the Plan Administrator has up to an additional ninety (90) days for processing the application.  If an extension of
time for processing is required, written notice of the extension will be furnished to the applicant before the end of the initial ninety (90) day period.

This notice of extension will describe the special circumstances necessitating the additional time and the date by which the Plan Administrator is to render
its decision on the application.



(e)          Request for a Review. Any person (or that person’s authorized representative) for whom an application for benefits is denied, in whole or in part, may appeal the
denial by submitting a request for a review to the Plan Administrator within sixty (60) days after the application is denied.  A request for a review shall be in writing
and shall be addressed to:

Nektar Therapeutics
150 Industrial Road

San Carlos, CA 94070

A request for review must set forth all of the grounds on which it is based, all facts in support of the request and any other matters that the
applicant feels are pertinent.  The applicant (or his or her representative) shall have the opportunity to submit (or the Plan Administrator may require the applicant to
submit) written comments, documents, records, and other information relating to his or her claim.  The applicant (or his or her representative) shall be provided, upon
request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and other information relevant to his or her claim.  The review shall take into account
all comments, documents, records and other information submitted by the applicant (or his or her representative) relating to the claim, without regard to whether such
information was submitted or considered in the initial benefit determination.

 

(f)            Decision on Review.  The Plan Administrator will act on each request for review within sixty (60) days after receipt of the request, unless special circumstances require
an extension of time (not to exceed an additional sixty (60) days), for processing the request for a review.  If an extension for review is required, written notice of the
extension will be furnished to the applicant within the initial sixty (60) day period.  This notice of extension will describe the special circumstances necessitating the
additional time and the date by which the Plan Administrator is to render its decision on the review.  The Plan Administrator will give prompt, written or electronic
notice of its decision to the applicant. Any electronic notice will comply with the regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor.  In the event that the Plan Administrator
confirms the denial of the application for benefits in whole or in part, the notice will set forth, in a manner calculated to be understood by the applicant, the following:

(1)         the specific reason or reasons for the denial;

(2)         references to the specific Plan provisions upon which the denial is based;

(3)         a statement that the applicant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and other information
relevant to his or her claim; and

(4)         a statement of the applicant’s right to bring a civil action under section 502(a) of ERISA.

(g)         Rules and Procedures.  The Plan Administrator will establish rules and procedures, consistent with the Plan and with ERISA, as necessary and appropriate in carrying
out its responsibilities in reviewing benefit claims.  The Plan Administrator may require an applicant who wishes to submit additional information in connection with an
appeal from the denial of benefits to do so at the applicant’s own expense.

(h)         Exhaustion of Remedies.  No legal action for benefits under the Plan may be brought until the claimant (i) has submitted a written application for benefits in
accordance with the procedures described by Section 9(a) above, (ii) has been notified by the Plan Administrator that the application is denied, (iii) has filed a written
request for a review of the application in accordance with the appeal procedure described in Section 9(c) above, and (iv) has been notified that the Plan Administrator
has denied the appeal.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Plan Administrator does not respond to a Participant’s claim or appeal within the relevant time limits
specified in this Section 9, the Participant may bring legal action for benefits under the Plan pursuant to Section 502(a) of ERISA.

BASIS OF PAYMENTS TO AND FROM PLAN.

All benefits under the Plan shall be paid by the Company.  The Plan shall be unfunded, and benefits hereunder shall be paid only from the general assets
of the Company.

OTHER PLAN INFORMATION.

(i)            Employer and Plan Identification Numbers.  The Employer Identification Number assigned to the Company (which is the “Plan Sponsor” as that term is used in
ERISA) by the Internal Revenue Service is 94–3134940.  The Plan Number assigned to the Plan by the Plan Sponsor pursuant to the instructions of the Internal
Revenue Service is 510.

(j)            Ending Date for Plan’s Fiscal Year.  The date of the end of the fiscal year for the purpose of maintaining the Plan’s records is December 31.

(k)        Agent for the Service of Legal Process.  The agent for the service of legal process with respect to the Plan is:

Nektar Therapeutics
150 Industrial Road

San Carlos, CA 94070
 

 
 

(l)            Plan Sponsor and Administrator.  The “Plan Sponsor” and the “Plan Administrator” of the Plan is:

Nektar Therapeutics
150 Industrial Road

San Carlos, CA 94070
 

The Plan Sponsor’s and Plan Administrator’s telephone number is (650) 631-3100.  The Plan Administrator is the named fiduciary charged with
the responsibility for administering the Plan.

STATEMENT OF ERISA RIGHTS.

Participants in this Plan (which is a welfare benefit plan sponsored by Nektar Therapeutics) are entitled to certain rights and protections under ERISA.  If
you are an Eligible Employee, you are considered a participant in the Plan and, under ERISA, you are entitled to:

 
Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits



 
(a)           Examine, without charge, at the Plan Administrator’s office and at other specified locations, such as worksites, all documents governing the

Plan and a copy of the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series) filed by the Plan with the U.S. Department of Labor and available at the Public Disclosure Room of the
Pension and Welfare Benefit Administration;
 

(b)           Obtain, upon written request to the Plan Administrator, copies of documents governing the operation of the Plan and copies of the latest annual
report (Form 5500 Series) and updated Summary Plan Description.  The Administrator may make a reasonable charge for the copies; and

 
(c)           Receive a summary of the Plan’s annual financial report.  The Plan Administrator is required by law to furnish each participant with a copy of

this summary annual report.
 

Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries
 

In addition to creating rights for Plan participants, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the operation of the employee benefit
plan.  The people who operate the Plan, called “fiduciaries” of the Plan, have a duty to do so prudently and in the interest of you and other Plan participants and
beneficiaries.  No one, including your employer, your union or any other person, may fire you or otherwise discriminate against you in any way to prevent you from
obtaining a Plan benefit or exercising your rights under ERISA.

 
Enforce Your Rights

 
If your claim for a Plan benefit is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you have a right to know why this was done, to obtain copies of documents

relating to the decision without charge, and to appeal any denial, all within certain time schedules.
 
Under ERISA, there are steps you can take to enforce the above rights.  For instance, if you request a copy of Plan documents or the latest annual report

from the Plan and do not receive them within 30 days, you may file suit in a Federal court.  In such a case, the court may require the Plan Administrator to provide the
materials and pay you up to $110 a day until you receive the materials, unless the materials were not sent because of reasons beyond the control of the Administrator.
 

If you have a claim for benefits which is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you may file suit in a state or Federal court.  In addition, if you disagree
with the Plan’s decision or lack thereof concerning the qualified status of a domestic relations order or a medical child support order, you may file suit in Federal court.
 

 
If it should happen that Plan fiduciaries misuse the Plan’s money, or if you are discriminated against for asserting your rights, you may seek assistance

from the U.S. Department of Labor, or you may file suit in a Federal court.  The court will decide who should pay court costs and legal fees.  If you are successful, the court
may order the person you have sued to pay these costs and fees.  If you lose, the court may order you to pay these costs and fees, for example, if it finds your claim is
frivolous.
 

Assistance with Your Questions
 

If you have any questions about the Plan, you should contact the Plan Administrator.  If you have any questions about this statement or about your rights
under ERISA, or if you need assistance in obtaining documents from the Plan Administrator, you should contact the nearest office of the Pension and Welfare Benefits
Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, listed in your telephone directory or the Division of Technical Assistance and Inquiries, Pension and Welfare Benefits
Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, 200 Constitution Avenue N.W., Washington, D.C. 20210.  You may also obtain certain publications about your rights and
responsibilities under ERISA by calling the publications hotline of the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration.

 
EXECUTION.

To record the adoption of the Plan as set forth herein, effective as of December 6, 2002, Nektar Therapeutics has caused its duly authorized officer to
execute the same this 6th day of December 2002.

 
 

NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
   
   
 

By: /s/ BRIGID A. MAKES
   
 

Title: Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance and Administration
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

SUBSIDIARIES* 

Name

 

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
or Organization

Nektar Therapeutics AL, Corporation  Alabama

Nektar Therapeutics UK, Ltd.  United Kingdom

Inhale Therapeutic Systems Deutschland Gmbh  Germany

Inhale Therapeutic Systems, U.K. Limited  United Kingdom

* Includes subsidiaries that do not fall under definition of "Significant Subsidiary" as defined under Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.
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CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

        We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-79630, 333-07969, 333-59735, 333-65919, 333-74669, 333-32788, 333-
54078, 333-55032, 333-67342, 333-71936, 333-76638, 333-98321, and 333-103040) pertaining to the 1994 Equity Incentive Plan, the 1998 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan,
the 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan, the 401(k) Retirement Plan, the Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Nektar Therapeutics, the Bradford Particle Design plc Share
Option Schemes, the Shearwater Corporation 1996 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, as amended, and in the Registration Statements (Form S-3 Nos. 333-32576, 333-36152,
333-53678, 333-54080, and 333-67340) and in the related Prospectuses, respectively, of our report dated January 17, 2003, with respect to the consolidated financial statements
of Nektar Therapeutics (formerly Inhale Therapeutic Systems, Inc.) included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2002.

   

  /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 26, 2003
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT

TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002*
 
                Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C § 1350, as adopted), Ajit S. Gill, Chief Executive Officer and President of Nektar Therapeutics
(the “Company”), and Ajay Bansal, Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his
knowledge:
 
                1.             The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 99.1 (the “Annual
Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
                2.             The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of the period
covered by the Annual Report and results of operations of the Company for the year covered by the Annual Report.
 
Dated: March 28, 2003
 
 
/s/ Ajit S. Gill

 

/s/ Ajay Bansal
Ajit S. Gill

 

Ajay Bansal
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

 

Vice President, Finance and Administration and
Chief Financial Officer

 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Nektar Therapeutics and will be retained by Nektar Therapeutics and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or its staff upon request.
 
* This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the
Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K),
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
 
 


